

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/addr

Hyperthermia can alter tumor physiology and improve chemo- and radio-therapy efficacy



Michael Dunne *, Maximilian Regenold, Christine Allen

Leslie Dan Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario, Canada

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Article history: Received 23 April 2020 Received in revised form 7 July 2020 Accepted 10 July 2020 Available online 15 July 2020

Keywords: Hyperthermia Blood flow Vascular permeability Hypoxia Tumor pH Interstitial fluid pressure Chemotherapy Radiotherapy Thermosensitive liposome Hyperthermia has demonstrated clinical success in improving the efficacy of both chemo- and radio-therapy in solid tumors. Pre-clinical and clinical research studies have demonstrated that targeted hyperthermia can increase tumor blood flow and increase the perfused fraction of the tumor in a temperature and time dependent manner. Changes in tumor blood circulation can produce significant physiological changes including enhanced vascular permeability, increased oxygenation, decreased interstitial fluid pressure, and reestablishment of normal physiological pH conditions. These alterations in tumor physiology can positively impact both small molecule and nanomedicine chemotherapy accumulation and distribution within the tumor, as well as the fraction of the tumor susceptible to radiation therapy. Hyperthermia can trigger drug release from thermosensitive formulations and further improve the accumulation, distribution, and efficacy of chemotherapy.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier B.V.

Contents

1.	Introduction	99
2.	Blood Flow	100
	2.1. Effect of HT on tumor blood flow.	100
	2.2. Effect of RT on blood flow	102
	2.3. Effects of blood flow on RT and ChT	102
3.	Vascular Permeability	103
	3.1. Enhanced permeability and retention effect	103
	3.2. Effect of HT on vascular permeability	103
	3.3. Effect of RT on vascular permeability	104
4.	Tumor pO ₂	105
	4.1. Biological effects of hypoxia	105
	4.2. Hypoxia inhibits the efficacy of RT	105
	4.3. Treatment options for hypoxic tumors	105
	4.3.1. Direct treatment of hypoxic tissue	105
	4.3.2. Increasing tumor pO_2	106
5.	Tumor pH	107
	5.1. Altered glucose metabolism	107
	5.2. Biological impact of acidic tumor pH	108
	5.3. Acidic pH _e compromises therapeutic efficacy	108
	5.4. HT is preferentially cytotoxic to low pH _i cancer cells	108
	5.5. Raising tumor pH _e to increase ChT efficacy	108
6.	Tumor IFP	109

* Corresponding author: Michael Dunne Leslie Dan Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Toronto 144 College Street, Toronto, Ontario, M5S 3M2, Canada *E-mail addresses*: m.dunne@utoronto.ca, mrdunne@gmail.com (M. Dunne).

	6.1.	How turn	nor IFP affects cancer	. 109
	6.2.	IFP has a	an adverse effect on ChT and RT	. 109
		6.2.1.	Effect of IFP on drug delivery	. 109
		6.2.2.	Effect of IFP on RT	. 110
	6.3.	Treatmen	ent approaches for high IFP tumors	. 110
		6.3.1.	ChT-based approaches to treating high IFP tumors	. 110
		6.3.2.	RT-based approaches to treating high IFP tumors	. 111
		6.3.3.	HT-based approaches to treating high IFP tumors	. 111
7.	Trigge	red Releas	ise from Nanomedicines	. 111
	7.1.	HT-trigge	gered release	. 111
	7.2.	RT-trigge	ered release	. 112
	7.3.	pH-trigg	gered release	. 113
8.	Potent	ial Impact	t of HT on Drug Delivery	. 113
	8.1.	Impact o	of HT on drug accumulation	. 113
		8.1.1.	Impact of HT and TSLs on drug accumulation	. 114
	8.2.	Impact o	of HT on drug distribution	. 114
		8.2.1.	Impact of HT and TSLs on drug distribution.	. 115
9.	Conclu	ision		. 117
10.	Ackn	owledgen	ments	. 117
Refe	rences			. 117

1. Introduction

Over the course of evolution, humans have developed very effective temperature regulation mechanisms in order to maintain an environment that allows cells to prosper [1,2]. Hyperthermia (HT) treatment involves elevating in vivo tissue temperature above the normal, closely controlled physiological range. In contrast to other thermal therapies such as ablation [3] and cryotherapy [4] that exert direct cytotoxic effects by inducing large changes in temperature, HT mildly increases temperatures within the body to between ~39 - 45 °C. HT can be applied to the whole body [5] or target specific regions, often a single tissue [6]. Many different techniques are used in order to induce HT temperatures. In the clinical setting, local HT is delivered by external energy sources including ultrasound (US) [7], radiofrequency [8], and microwave [9]. These same techniques can be employed in the pre-clinical research environment, although the most common approach involves submerging the animal's limb in water [10]. Target tissue temperatures must be accurately monitored as innate thermoregulation mechanisms will dissipate energy and reduce temperature. Whole body HT is commonly achieved by elevating ambient temperature with lower temperatures (i.e. 39.5-40.5 °C) and longer durations (i.e. 6-12 h) compared to locally targeted HT [11].

This article focuses on the use of HT in oncology as an adjuvant to chemotherapy (ChT) and radiotherapy (RT). There is solid clinical evidence to support the addition of HT to ChT and RT treatment protocols in order to improve patient outcomes. In 2018, Issels et al. reported Phase III (NCT00003052) clinical trial results that represent the most comprehensive study demonstrating the enhancement of standard ChT by addition of HT [12]. Patients with localized, high-risk soft tissue sarcomas received four cycles of neoadjuvant ChT (doxorubicin, ifosfamide, and etoposide) or ChT and HT (42 °C, 1 h). Almost all patients then underwent surgical resection and the majority of patients in both treatment groups received post-surgical RT (50 - 60 Gy). The addition of HT into the treatment regimen significantly increased median survival time from 6.2 to 15.4 years. Ten-year survival rates were 52.6% for 162 patients treated with ChT and HT and 42.7% for 167 patients treated with ChT alone. In 2016, Datta et al. published two landmark systematic reviews establishing the therapeutic benefit of adding HT to RT in breast [13] and cervical [14] cancers. Eight studies of locoregional recurrent breast cancer involving 627 patients compared therapeutic outcomes of RT with HT to RT alone. A statistically significant difference was observed between treatment groups with complete response observed in 60.2% of patients receiving RT + HT compared to 38.1% for RT alone. Six previously reported clinical trials were analyzed in which patients with locally advanced cervical cancer received either RT + HT (n = 215) or RT alone (n = 212). Patients treated with RT and HT were more likely to demonstrate complete response compared to RT alone, but the 8.4% increase in survival observed in the RT + HT group was not significant. These promising results warrant further study on the benefits of combining HT with both ChT and RT. Selection of the right patient population is critical to the success of clinical trials. These trials included patients with locally advanced or recurrent tumors that are well suited to the potential therapeutic enhancement of HT. This article discusses how tumor physiology and microenvironment can further be used to stratify patients most appropriate for HT in order to increase the probability of clinical trial success.

The recent clinical advancement of HT is rooted in many years of research. In 1974. Robinson et al. published their observation that HT significantly increases the effect of RT on tumors and importantly, does so to a greater extent than sensitization of normal skin tissue [15]. Following this, a number of studies published in the latter half of the 1970s confirmed that HT was able to directly kill cancer cells as well as sensitize cells to the toxic effects of ChT and RT [16-20]. Fig. 1 depicts the logarithmic increase in published cancer research over the past sixty years (red) as well as the increasing fraction of these publications that involve HT (black). The shape of the curve is reminiscent of the Gartner hype cycle [21] with clear peaks of interest in the early 1980s and 1990s. The two most highly cited papers preceding the initial peak are Weinstein et al. "Liposomes and local hyperthermia: selective delivery of methotrexate to heated tumors" [22] and Overgaard's "Simultaneous and sequential hyperthermia and radiation treatment of an experimental tumor and its surrounding normal tissue in vivo" [23]. These events are referred to as technology triggers in the Gartner hype cycle and represent seminal in vivo papers demonstrating the ability of HT to increase liposome drug accumulation in the tumor [22] and the time and temperature dependent manner in which HT can improve RT efficacy [23]. Along with the second era of hype in the early 1990s that saw highly cited improvements in heating technology, clinical advancement, and a broadening of research efforts [24-28], these early discoveries laid the foundation for the current sustained 'plateau of productivity'.

In order to exert their intended effect, intravenously administered drugs must be transported from the vascular space through the vascular walls into the interstitial tumor space and ultimately to their specific target that often lies within the cancer cells. A variety of drug delivery strategies including advanced formulations and physiological modifications have been developed to increase the efficiency of this process [30]. HT can induce physiological changes and trigger drug release in order to impact the accumulation and distribution of drugs within the tumor.



Fig. 1. Frequency distribution of cancer research publications involving HT over a fifty-year period demonstrating the Gartner hype cycle. Data sourced from a Web of Science database search for articles published between 1960 – 2019 that include 'cancer', 'tumor', or 'tumour' within the title, abstract, and keywords. Represented in black are the percentage of those publications that contained 'hyperthermia' within the title, abstract, or keywords, normalized to 1 for the highest year (1992).

Convection and diffusion are the transport phenomena that govern delivery of drugs from the vasculature to the tumor as well as penetration into the tumor tissue [31]. Drug diffusion is a concentration-dependent process that follows Fick's first law. Diffusion is approximately inversely proportional to molecular weight, but is also dependent on numerous factors including molecular shape and solute-solvent interactions [32]. Diffusion-driven processes contribute to accumulation of small molecule drugs to a much greater extent than is the case for macromolecular or nanomedicine drugs [33]. Indeed, one analysis estimated that it would take 100 nm liposomes 84 d to diffuse through 100 µm of tumor tissue, whereas free doxorubicin would diffuse the same distance in 5 s [34]. Furthermore, the diffusivity of drugs is dependent on the bulk media. Drugs will more readily diffuse from blood into perivascular spaces compared to diffusion within the stroma-rich tumor microenvironment [35]. In the context of drug delivery, convection is the bulk movement of fluid that transports drugs and other molecules [36]. Fluid flows along pressure gradients and the heterogeneous distribution of fluid pressure within the tumor results in regions of high and low convection-mediated drug delivery [37]. In general, fluid pressures are lower at the tumor periphery, resulting in preferential accumulation of nanomedicines compared to the centre of the tumor [38]. However, even minimal transvascular pressure gradients can result in significant accumulation of nanomedicines [36,39]. Therefore, temporal fluctuations in either vascular or interstitial fluid pressure can strongly influence drug accumulation. The multifactorial impact of HT on the transport of chemotherapeutic agents from the vasculature into the tumor interstitium is discussed throughout this review.

This review specifically focuses on the physiological response to HT, in particular changes in blood flow and vascular permeability that impact the tumor microenvironment, in particular hydrogen ion concentration (pH), partial pressure of oxygen (pO_2) , and interstitial fluid pressure (IFP). The influence of these changes on the efficacy of ChT and RT are discussed in addition to the measurement of each parameter in the pre-clinical and clinical context. Specific attention is paid to the use of triggered release drug formulations, particularly thermosensitive liposomes (TSL) in combination with HT. As outlined in Fig. 2, the impact of HT on the efficacy of ChT and RT is a complex, multifactorial process that involves several different physiological pathways. Without clearly defined conditions, generalizations about whether or not a specific intervention exerts a certain effect are often of little value in scientific research. HT has the potential to exert the effects depicted in Fig. 2, but these outcomes are dependent on the manner in which HT is delivered (e.g. duration and temperature) and the underlying tumor biology. Furthermore, HT exerts several impacts that are outside the scope of this review, including its effects on the immune system and effects at the molecular biology level such as the heat shock protein response and the impact on DNA damage repair. These responses can also impact ChT and RT efficacy and are discussed thoroughly in other articles within this special issue. While much is known, there is still a great deal of research to be conducted in order to optimize the clinical integration of HT with ChT and RT. Personalized characterization of tumor physiology including blood flow parameters, pO₂, pH, and IFP could identify patients that are more likely to benefit from HT and further increase the success of future clinical trials.

2. Blood Flow

The most significant physiological response to HT is an increase in blood flow. All of the other physiological responses discussed in this review are a direct result of an increase in blood flow within the tumor volume. When heat is applied to many human and animal tissues, blood flow rapidly increases in order to dissipate heat [40]. This phenomenon is most prominent in tissues such as the skin, while the cooling effect is less effective in tissue such as the testes [41]. The Pennes bioheat Equation (1) was developed to model this heat dissipation in biological tissues [42].

$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{k} \nabla \mathbf{T} + \dot{\mathbf{q}}_m + \rho_b \mathbf{c}_b \boldsymbol{\omega}_b (\mathbf{T}_b - \mathbf{T}) = \rho \mathbf{c} \frac{\partial T}{\partial t} \tag{1}$$

The change in the temperature of the tissue as a function of time $(\partial T/\partial t)$ is dependent on the three main factors, which are included on the left hand side of Equation (1). With regards to HT applied to a tumor, the first term $(\nabla \cdot k \nabla T)$ describes heat dissipated out of the tumor and into the surrounding tissue by conduction, with k being the thermal conductivity of tissue. The second term (\dot{q}_m) denotes heat added to the tumor that is generated by cellular metabolism. The third term on the left describes the heating or cooling of the tissue resulting from blood flow (ω_b) and is proportional to density (ρ) and specific heat (c) of blood and tissue, the latter two terms remaining relatively unchanged. Under hyperthermic conditions, the tissue has been heated and its temperature (T) is greater than the temperature of blood flowing through it (T_b) . As a result, this term is negative, indicating a cooling effect resulting from blood flow. Blood flow (ω_b) is the most easily modulated parameter and increasing blood flow is therefore the most effective method for regulation of tumor temperature following the application of HT. Due to the unique biology of tumors, their physiological response to HT is not the same as most other normal tissues [43]. Much is known on this topic as many of the studies that established the modern discipline of HT research were focused on the impact of HT on blood flow, specifically tumor blood flow [44].

2.1. Effect of HT on tumor blood flow

Dr. Chang-won Song and colleagues were responsible for much of the pioneering work in determining the effects of HT on tumor blood flow. Prior to this, Dr. Song's work during the 1960s and 1970s focused on the impact of RT on tumor blood flow [45,46]. Many of the techniques employed were similar and the RT and HT fields continue to be closely aligned. In 1980, along with Drs. Rhee, Kang, and Levitt, Dr. Song published six research articles studying the relationship between HT and tumor blood flow [47–52]. One study used radiolabelled microspheres and radioscintigraphic quantification to determine the effect of 60 min of water bath heating at 43 °C on several vascular parameters in subcutaneously implanted mammary carcinomas [51]. Significant increases in vascular volume, vascular permeability, and blood flow were observed in skin and muscle tissue, but none of these parameters were significantly altered in heated compared to unheated tumors. It is important to note that both before and after heating, blood flow in



Fig. 2. Potential impacts of HT and the ensuing effects on the efficacy of ChT and RT. This flowchart has been adapted from [29].

normal skin and normal muscle was significantly lower than blood flow in tumors 300 – 700 mg in size. Therefore, even without the increase in blood flow, heat dissipation in these tumors would have been greater compared to normal tissues. Conversely, in many studies blood flow in tumors is less than that observed in normal tissues [53]. Follow-up work demonstrated that this HT regimen induced a marked decrease in vascular volume at 7 and 20 h post-heating suggesting that this HT protocol resulted in vascular damage in this tumor model [52]. In 1984, Jain and Ward-Hartley reviewed the literature to determine the effect of HT on blood flow [53]. Summarizing 28 studies, the authors provided prescient commentary on the heterogeneity associated with blood perfusion of tumors and identified the limitations associated with the macroscopic measurement techniques utilized in most studies. While they noted this further complicates comparison of studies that used a variety of techniques to assess blood flow, the general trend seemed to be that heating to lower temperatures (i.e. < 43 °C) resulted in an increase in tumor blood flow [54,55] while heating to higher temperatures resulted in unchanged or decreased blood flow [56–58]. However, there were also examples wherein heating for 1 h at 42 °C did not result in an increase in blood flow [59]. In a clinically relevant canine study, Vujaskovic et al. employed MW HT for 1 h and measured tumor perfusion by MR imaging before and 24 h following treatment [60]. They separated tumors into two groups: those for which a median temperature of <44 °C was reached during heating and tumors reaching a temperature of >44 °C. Tumor perfusion was significantly higher compared to baseline in the tumors heated to temperatures of <44 °C while perfusion was lower compared to baseline, but not significantly so, in the second treatment group. A recent estimate suggested that

elevating tumor temperatures to levels below ~42 °C is essential to increasing blood flow [61]. However, both time and temperature of HT exposure critically impacts physiological effects. Cumulative equivalent minutes at 43 °C (CEM43) is the standardized measure for quantifying thermal dose within the hyperthermic oncology field and is expertly discussed elsewhere in this issue [62]. Formally proposed by Sapareto and Dewey [63], CEM43 is based on the biphasic slope of the time and temperature dependent Arrhenius cytotoxicity plot [18,64,65]. As this approach is based on cell killing, specific applicability to modern studies focused on modifying tumor physiology and biology has been debated [66–69]. However, it remains clear that exposure time and temperature are critical factors that dictate the impact of HT and must be afforded consideration.

There are several mechanisms by which blood flow within a tissue can increase: an increase in vascular volume within the tissue (either by dilation of blood vessels, re-perfusion of non-flowing blood vessels, or formation of new vasculature) or an increase in the blood flow velocity. Dewhirst et al. were the first to utilize window chamber models and microscopy techniques to directly measure vasodilation during HT [70]. The authors noted varying degrees of blood vessel dilation with smaller vessels seeming to dilate more than larger vessels (e.g. 40 µm diameter vessel increasing to 95 µm upon heating to 42 °C). HT was also able to increase the velocity at which blood was flowing with red blood cell velocity increasing threefold in some vessels, presumably resulting from blood vessel dilation and an increase in blood volume within the tumor [71]. This work also noted the negative effect on blood flow of pre-cooling the tissue to 30 °C prior to administering HT. In vessels cooled to 30 °C prior to administering HT, blood flow was reduced to 5% of that measured in 38 °C control vessels. HT increased blood flow in both cooled and normothermic vessels, but flow in pre-cooled vessels never exceeded 5% of that recorded in non-cooled vessels. This observation is of critical importance given that in preclinical research, animal body temperatures may drop under anesthesia during experimental setup if care is not taken to ensure the animal is kept warm. Furthermore, differences in blood flow may arise from variations in tissue temperature associated with the location of the tumor. More superficial tumors (i.e. subcutaneous) are likely to have lower tissue temperatures compared to more deeply implanted tumors (i.e. intramuscular, some orthotopic sites) and will cool faster under anesthesia. The site of implantation of a tumor can have a profound effect on tumor development including its microenvironment composition, degree of invasiveness, and metastatic potential [72,73]. This is relevant to work in the HT field as many preclinical heating techniques (e.g. water bath) require superficial tumors. Dewhirst et al. also noted that vascular stasis occurred at lower temperatures in tumor arterioles compared to tumor venules and was dependent on the rate of heating, but generally occurred around 42 °C [70]. Rate of heating is seldom reported in research studies that measure the effect of HT on tumor blood flow. The authors hypothesized that HT-induced temporary vascular shunting may be responsible for vascular stasis in venules at lower temperatures [70,74]. Normal tissues produce nitric oxide (NO) in response to stimuli including low pH and low pO₂ [75]. As will be discussed later in this review, these are conditions that tend to occur in tissues lacking in blood flow. NO is known to regulate blood flow by stimulating vessel dilation by activation of soluble guanylate cyclase [76]. Griffin et al. demonstrated that application of HT (i.e. 41.5 - 42.5 °C, 30 - 60 min) was able to increase NO levels in tumors for up to 24 h following treatment [77].

It is apparent that it cannot be unequivocally stated that HT increases tumor blood flow. However, it is equally clear that HT has the potential to increase tumor blood flow. It is widely accepted that vascularity varies substantially between tumors (both of the same and different subtypes) as well as within individual tumors [78]. Heterogeneity of tumor vasculature plays a central role in complicating the prediction of the effect of HT on blood flow [79]. Kelleher et al. used laser Doppler flowmetry to characterize the variable effect of HT on tumor blood flow in DS-sarcomas implanted subcutaneously in rats [79,80]. Tumors were heated at a rate of 0.5 °C / min up to 44 °C. They noted that smaller tumors (i.e. ~700 mm³) had higher initial blood flow and were less susceptible to vascular stasis as heating commenced compared to larger tumors (i.e. ~2500 mm³). However, high variability in blood flow within individual tumors was observed in both large and small tumors. In some regions, blood flow increased 2.3-fold whereas in other regions blood flow decreased by 75%. Overall, it can be concluded that HT in the range of 40 – 42 °C has the general effect of increasing tumor blood flow [81]. However, given that tumor blood flow is so temporally and spatially heterogeneous, it is essential that accurate methods are used to measure tumor blood flow in order to determine the effects of HT.

2.2. Effect of RT on blood flow

Blood flow itself does not directly impact the efficacy of RT, but rather mediates treatment outcomes through downstream effects on pO_2 , pH, and IFP as will be discussed later. However, RT can directly affect blood flow. Similar to HT, RT affects blood flow in a dose dependent manner. Park et al. completed an exhaustive review of the literature regarding the vascular effects of RT and concluded that tumor blood flow is unchanged or slightly increased during the first several fractions of RT before decreasing following a greater number of treatments [82]. In a clinical study, a dose of 2 Gy/fraction administered five days per week was noted to have increased blood flow for the first two weeks and then subsequently resulted in decreased blood flow during the last 2 - 3 weeks of treatment [83]. A more recent analysis of preclinical studies from Arnold et al. confirms that higher doses of RT have anti-vascular effects while lower dose single fractions can promote vascular growth. They cite numerous studies in which single fractions > ~10 Gy reduce tumor blood flow [84–86] as well as other studies with single fractions within the range of ~2 - 5 Gy in which tumor blood flow was unchanged or increased [87–89]. The effect of RT on tumor blood flow is a dose dependent phenomenon and RT protocols should be selected carefully in order to synergize with other treatment modalities. Indeed, Hu et al. treated mice bearing FaDu tumors with weekly single fractions of 7.5, 9, or 13.5 Gy/d and measured tumor perfusion and oxygenation during and after RT [90]. Only the highest dose of 13.5 Gy increased tumor oxygenation, which was particularly significant given that they also noted that increases in tumor oxygenation following RT were associated with improved local control.

2.3. Effects of blood flow on RT and ChT

ChT remains a standard modality in the treatment of cancer. However, the efficacy of ChT is often limited by heterogeneous distribution of drug within the tumor. For anti-cancer drug therapies to be effective, they must access and kill almost all cancer cells within the tumor [33]. Transport of drugs in the extravascular space of tumors is extremely limited, so drug distribution profiles within tumors tend to be very similar to blood perfusion profiles [91]. This is particularly true for small molecule ChT (i.e. MW < 1 kDa) for which extravascular transport is governed by diffusion [33]. Provided that appropriate pressure gradients exist, fluid convection drives larger molecular weight drugs and nanomedicines into and through the tumor interstitium. Delivery efficiency of these therapies is dependent on perfusion, but also vascular permeability and IFP [92]. These effects will be discussed in greater detail later in this review. Similarly, the effect of blood flow on the efficacy of RT is indirect, being dictated largely by oxygenation levels and will be discussed in Section 2.

While they did not use medical imaging to monitor changes in blood flow in real time, Sun et al. employed immunohistochemical staining to ascertain that HT can increase perfusion in HT29 human colorectal adenocarcinomas in mice [93]. Tumors that had been heated had a higher fraction of perfused vessels compared to tumors that had not. The authors noted variable response to heat within different regions of the same tumor. However, they also noted that the increased accumulation of the small molecule perfusion marker in the tumor highlights the potential for HT to increase drug delivery. Ausmus et al. measured the effect of HT on blood flow and cisplatin accumulation in mammary adenocarcinomas implanted in rats and heated at 43 °C for 1 h using a Nd:YAG laser [94]. Blood flow was measured using radiolabelled microspheres and was highest following HT and quickly returned to baseline levels. Five separate treatment groups were compared with cisplatin being administered without HT, one hour prior to HT, at the start of HT, at the end of HT, and 1 h post-HT. The highest concentration of cisplatin in tumors was obtained when the drug was administered at the beginning of HT. Given the rapid systemic clearance of cisplatin $(t_{1/2\alpha})$ = 1.5 min; $t_{1/2\beta}$ = 14.5 min in rats) [95] and the short-lived effects of this HT treatment on blood flow it is not surprising that the optimal dosing schedule involves administration of drug concurrently with HT. Furthermore, Landon et al. have demonstrated that HT increases cisplatin uptake into cancer cells via the copper transporter Ctr1 [96].

At lower temperatures (e.g. < 43 °C), HT can increase tumor blood flow while higher temperatures often result in a reduction in blood flow.

3. Vascular Permeability

The presence of drug in blood (determined by the pharmacokinetics of the drug) and the presence of active blood vessels in tumors (i.e. perfusion) are the two most important factors governing drug delivery to tumors. Once drugs reach the blood pool within the tumor, vascular permeability is a critical factor determining transport into the tumor interstitium. Vascular permeability is subdivided into two distinct mechanisms by which compounds transit from the vasculature into the interstitium: transcellular and paracellular transport [97] (Fig. 3). Small molecules drugs (i.e. < ~1000 Da) are transported through endothelial cells via tubular vesicles, called vesicular-vacuolar organelles (VVO) in a process known as transcytosis [98]. Transcytosis is primarily mediated by histamine and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) [99], an important signalling protein regulating the growth of new blood vessels that was originally denoted vascular permeability factor (VPF) [100]. VEGF is known to be overexpressed in many cancers, particularly those low with low pO_2 [101]. Larger molecules are generally thought to travel between adjoining endothelial cells in a process termed paracellular transport. Endothelial cells lining the vasculature are connected by adherens junctions (AJ) and tight junctions (TJ) that maintain vessel integrity [102]. Pericytes regulate vascular permeability by controlling TJ formation and maintaining these junctions [103]. Pericyte abnormalities in tumors likely contribute to increased vascular permeability [104–106]. Pericyte activity is largely controlled by endothelial cell paracrine signaling and the family of angiopoietin signaling molecules that control vascular permeability and angiogenesis through the endothelial receptor tyrosine kinase Tie2 [107,108]. Vascular endothelial cadherin (VE-cadherin) is the most common AJ protein and is therefore critical in the regulation of vascular permeability [109,110]. VEGF is able to disrupt VE-cadherin [111] and thus increase gaps between endothelial cells. VEGF is therefore an important molecule controlling both major types of vascular permeability. As most tumors overexpress VEGF, tumor vasculature is commonly more permeable to both small molecule drugs and nanomedicines compared to normal tissue. Importantly, vascular permeability has been shown to play a central role in cancer metastasis [112]. HT-mediated changes in vascular permeability are dependent on tumor biology. Chen et al. demonstrated this by comparing the effect of a standardized HT protocol (i.e. 42 °C, 1 h) in two separate mouse dorsal skinfold chamber models [113]. In human pharyngeal FaDu tumors, HT resulted in a 9-fold increase in vascular permeability. However, in murine 4T07 breast tumors, no increase was observed. This study clearly demonstrates the importance of considering tumor biology when designing the study and highlights difficulties with comparing studies and generalizing results.

It has long been presumed that paracellular drug transport was responsible for nanomedicine accumulation within tumors, recent reports have suggested that larger drugs such as nanomedicines are also able to accumulate via transcytosis [98,114]. While further study in this area is sure to be done, well-controlled studies of nanomedicine accumulation are able to demonstrate preferential uptake in tumors as a result of functional vascular permeability that leads to therapeutic efficacy. It is important to note that increased accumulation of large molecules and nanomedicines is not a confirmation of increased paracellular vascular permeability. Other factors such as tumor blood supply (e.g. blood volume, blood flow, arteriovenous shunting) and tumor microenvironment factors (e.g. stromal content, IFP) must be controlled and measured in order to accurately attribute the correct contribution to each aspect [33]. In an extensive preclinical study by Wong et al. tumor accumulation of small molecule and nanomedicine contrast agents was used to study the relationship between vascular permeability and treatment efficacy [115]. This work highlights the potential impact of rigorously studying multimodal therapies (i.e. ChT, ablation, HT) in combination with assessing physiological response to treatment.

3.1. Enhanced permeability and retention effect

Vascular permeability is known to play a central role in tumor accumulation of nanomedicines. Since Matsumura and Maeda published their seminal work detailing the accumulation of large particles (i.e. MW 12,000 - 160,000) within solid tumors [116], the enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect has become a central tenant of nanomedicine drug delivery [117]. Vascular permeability is central to this effect whereby long-circulating nanomedicines slowly accumulate at the tumor site by passing through fenestrations in tumor vasculature (i.e. paracellular transport). Retention of nanomedicines at the tumor site is driven by impairment of the lymphatic drainage system. In preclinical models, the EPR effect often produces high levels of tumor accumulation of nanomedicines (i.e. ~0.7 % of injected dose) [118] compared to administration of free drug [119]. For example, in murine 4T1 breast tumors, Laginha et al. demonstrated that Doxil increases the maximum concentration of doxorubicin by 3.6-fold in comparison to free drug [120]. The liposomes greatly increased tumor residence time and increased tumor AUC0-7 days by 87-fold. The EPR effect is known to be quite variable in human subjects, even for the same subtype of cancer [121]. Therefore, it is desirable to increase the potency of the EPR effect by increasing vascular permeability.

3.2. Effect of HT on vascular permeability

Several groups have demonstrated that tumor blood vessel dilation increases paracellular vascular permeability and therefore accumulation of nanomedicines. Seki et al. increased tumor blood flow in mice by topically applying the vasodilator nitroglycerin [122]. Vasodilation doubled the accumulation of 180 nm macromolecular aggregates of polyethylene glycol (PEG)-protoporphyrin within the tumor and resulted in a significant improvement in efficacy. Chen et al. developed a nanomedicine vasodilator by loading the hypertension drug hydralazine into liposomes [123]. Daily injections of liposome encapsulated hydralazine for three days resulted in an increase in vessel diameter as measured by histology and an increase in vascular permeability as measured by injection of fluorescent liposomes. Wei et al. prepared polymeric micelles (100 nm in diameter) that contained both doxorubicin and Cu ions that stimulated endogenous production of NO and dilated tumor blood vessels [124]. Administration of the micelles resulted in threefold greater tumor drug concentrations at 24 h in comparison to equivalent systems that did not generate NO. A significant improvement in efficacy was observed in mice bearing murine 4T1 breast carcinomas. As previously discussed, HT is a safe and effective method to increase tumor blood flow by vasodilation. It is accepted that an important functional effect of HT-induced vasodilation is increased paracellular vascular permeability [125,126]. In



Fig. 3. Transport mechanisms for small molecule and macromolecular agents from the vasculature into the tumor interstitium. Small molecules are transported mainly via vesicularvacuolar organelles (VVO) whereas larger molecules and nanomedicines are generally thought to enter via paracellular transport. Extracellular matrix (ECM). Adapted under a Creative Commons license (CC BY 3.0) from Azzi et al. [97].

vitro work has shown an increase in gap size between endothelial cells following HT [127]. HT has been shown to result in increased levels of NO within tumors [77]. NO is known to increase vascular permeability [128,129] by controlling junctions connecting vascular endothelial cells (i.e. AJ, TJ) [130].

The potential for increased nanomedicine delivery to tumors mediated by HT-induced increases in vascular permeability has been well characterized. Kong et al. studied the nanomedicine size dependence of HTmediated vascular permeability [131]. Three different sizes of liposomes (i.e. 100, 200, 400 nm) were produced and accumulation in the tumor interstitium was measured using window chamber models of SKOV-3 human ovarian carcinoma in mice. Preheated tumors were additionally heated for 60 min at 34 or 42 °C following liposome administration. Significantly greater liposome extravasation was observed at 42 °C for all formulations with 100 nm liposomes reaching the highest concentration in the tumor interstitium. There was no measurable extravasation for any of the formulations at 34 °C. Kirui et al. employed plasmon-resonant gold nanorods and low photon flux laser photothermal therapy to induce local HT treatment (i.e. 42 °C, 20 min) [132]. A large, 11-fold increase in tumor blood flow during the course of HT was measured by laser Doppler flowmetry. Vascular permeability was measured by both an albuminbinding small molecule (Evans blue dye; 961 Da) and two separate fluorescent macromolecules (dextrans; 70 kDa and 2 MDa) administered following HT treatment. Tumor extravasation was determined by perfusing the blood volume with saline and measuring Evans blue or dextran concentration in resected tumor tissues. Evans blue dye concentrations in heated tumors were elevated by 2-fold at 1 h and 2.5-fold at 3 h following HT compared to unheated tumors. Concentrations of 70 kDa dextrans (~23 nm in diameter) were ~50% higher in heated tumors compared to unheated from 0 – 24 h following HT. The kinetics of the larger 2 MDa (~56 nm in diameter) dextrans was much different with no difference in accumulation in heated compared to unheated tumors at 1 h following HT. However, at 5, 12, and 24 h following HT the difference in accumulation in heated compared to unheated tumors continued to increase up to ~2.5-fold. The use of three different agents to characterize vascular permeability demonstrates the complex physiological response of tumors to HT and the need for advanced, functional determination of vascular permeability. Several studies have confirmed the ability of HT to increase tumor accumulation of monoclonal antibodies [133–135]. Hauck et al. demonstrated that HT (41.8 °C, 4 h) was able to increase the tumor accumulation of antibodies in human gliomas implanted subcutaneously in mice by 3.5-fold compared to unheated tumors [136]. Interestingly, they found that increased accumulation was not related to changes in tumor IFP and hypothesized that changes in tumor blood flow and vascular permeability are likely to be the main contributors [137].

3.3. Effect of RT on vascular permeability

Similar to blood flow, vascular permeability does not exert a direct effect on RT, but rather mediates therapeutic efficacy through pO₂, pH, and IFP. However, RT can exert important vascular effects. Song and Levitt measured vascular permeability in rats bearing subcutaneous Walker 256 breast carcinomas using radiolabeled albumin [138]. They observed increased vascular permeability in this tumor model following single fraction RT ranging from 2 – 20 Gy [45]. Single fractions of 2.5, 5, and 20 Gy all resulted in increased vascular permeability after 24 h [139]. This was interesting because 20 Gy resulted in decreased blood flow at this time point, whereas 2.5 Gy increased blood flow, 5 Gy had no impact. After 48 h the single 20 Gy fraction substantially reduced vascular permeability whereas it took 8 - 9 days to observe a drop in vascular permeability in the other treatment groups. A similar phenomenon was observed with regards to the impact of RT on the delivery of therapeutics. In intramuscular ovarian (OCa-1) tumors in mice, Li et al. reported that a 15 Gy RT treatment increased serum VEGF concentrations and increased vascular permeability as measured by albumin-bound Evans blue dye [140]. This resulted in increased tumor accumulation of a water-soluble polyglutamic acid-paclitaxel conjugate and increased therapeutic efficacy relative to either ChT or RT alone.

Davies et al. studied the effect of single dose and fractionated RT on Doxil® efficacy in human osteosarcoma xenografts [141]. They found that both single (8 Gy) and fractionated (3 x 3.6 Gy) RT decreased vascular permeability as measured by DCE-MRI using low molecular weight contrast agents. However, RT increased Doxil accumulation ~2- to 4-fold. The authors note the discrepancy in molecular weight and transport kinetics between their therapeutic and vascular permeability imaging agent. It is presumed that RT disrupts the vasculature, altering permeability, while at the same time affecting tumor IFP. Separating the contribution of these two impacts on the accumulation of nanomedicines is challenging and will be further discussed in Section 6.

HT can increase vascular permeability, increasing the accumulation of ChT.

4. Tumor pO₂

Tumor pO_2 plays an important role in dictating cancer biology and response to a range of therapies. While, tumor physiology (e.g. perfusion of blood within the tumor) plays a central role in dictating pO_2 . Hypoxia is defined as a reduction in pO₂ levels within tissues that results in impairment of normal biological function [142]. The related condition, hypoxemia, occurs when there is an O₂ deficit in arterial blood [143]. Several major factors contribute to the onset of hypoxia in tumors [144]. It is well understood that the rapid formation of the vascular network within tumors often results in distances between capillaries that are longer than the diffusion distance of O₂ (i.e. ~100 -200 µm) [145,146]. This is referred to as diffusion-limited or chronic hypoxia as the underlying biological conditions will continue to persist [147]. Conversely, intermittent vascular fluctuations can result in rapid onset hypoxia commonly referred to as perfusion-limited, cycling, or acute hypoxia [148]. Cycling hypoxia constantly occurs throughout the tumor volume and can be driven by several factors [149]. The most important driver of cycling hypoxia is red blood cell flux through microvessels [150]. Kimura et al. employed window chamber models of R3230Ac mammary adenocarcinoma in rats along with fluorescence microscopy and O₂ microneedles to measure perivascular pO₂ [151]. They demonstrated that red blood cell flux correlated with pO₂ and decreases in red blood cell flux were sufficient to induce cycling hypoxia (i.e. tissue $pO_2 < 3$ mmHg). pO_2 correlated more closely with red blood cell flux in regions of lower vascular density. O₂ consumption and vascular stasis can also induce acute hypoxia, although these phenomena are less common. O₂ consumption within the tumor can reach levels such that hypoxemia is induced within the arterial blood supply, causing hypoxic conditions in tumor tissue further downstream [144]. Vascular disrupting agents and RT can result in vascular shutdown leading to acute hypoxia and cancer cell necrosis [152]. The pO₂ in arterial blood is ~75 – 100 mmHg [153], whereas in normal tissue it is frequently between 10 - 80 mmHg, depending on the tissue type [154]. Tumor tissue pO₂ is frequently less than 5 – 10 mmHg and this threshold can be used to designate regions of hypoxia [155]. Dewhirst et al. measured arteriolar and periarteriolar pO₂ in tumor and normal tissue in rats bearing R3230Ac carcinomas implanted in window chambers [156]. Arteriolar pO₂ averaged 97 mmHg, while there was a statistically significant difference in peri-arteriolar pO2 in tumor (i.e. 32 mmHg) compared to normal tissue (i.e. 51 mmHg). For in vitro studies, moderate hypoxia is often induced by exposing cells to environments containing ~1% O₂ [154]. These states can be maintained in order to mimic chronic hypoxia. Acute hypoxia can be simulated in vitro by cycling exposure of cells to ~0.1% O₂ [154]. For preclinical studies, hypoxia is often induced in animals by supplying breathing gases containing lower concentrations of O_2 (e.g. $\sim 5 - 10\%$) compared to the 21% O_2 that is commonly found in air [157].

4.1. Biological effects of hypoxia

The effects of hypoxia on tumors have been studied extensively. Indeed, the 2019 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine was awarded to three scientists for their work in elucidating the role of hypoxia inducible factors (HIFs) [158]. HIFs are transcription factors that modulate genes in response to low pO₂ within tissues in order to allow cells to better survive in hypoxic conditions [159]. Many important studies have demonstrated HIFs exert control over: angiogenesis [160], metabolism [161], intravasation [162], metastasis [163], cancer stem cells [164], and immune evasion [165] in tumors [166]. Despite the mechanisms that allow tumor tissue to survive under hypoxic conditions, prolonged hypoxia is known to lead to cell death and areas of necrotic tissue within tumors [142]. Given that hypoxia is implicated in so many disease processes that increase the risk of cancer, it is not surprising that hypoxia is a major risk factor for patients with many types of cancers. Several current clinical trials involve detecting hypoxia for patient stratification and novel, hypoxia-activatable ChT are in development [167]. However, given the influence of pO_2 on the efficacy of a number of therapeutic strategies, measurements of hypoxia (i.e. baseline and post-treatment) should be incorporated into a wider range of clinical trials, particularly those purporting to alter pO_2 [168].

4.2. Hypoxia inhibits the efficacy of RT

Hypoxia research has been prioritized largely because of the impact of pO₂ on the efficacy of RT. Clinically, most RT is administered by ionizing radiation that consists of photons, a form of energy with relatively low linear energy transfer (LET) [169]. Proton and carbon beam RT are higher LET modalities, exert more direct damage to target DNA, and therapeutic effect is less dependent on pO₂ [170–172]. Conversely, most DNA damage caused by standard photon RT (referred to throughout this text as RT) is the result of energy absorption within tissue creating free electrons and subsequently free radicals that damage DNA [173]. The oxygen fixation hypothesis states that in the presence of O_2 , damage induced by free radicals is made permanent [174]. Many of the free radicals produced are highly reactive, oxygen containing molecules known as reactive oxygen species (ROS) [175]. In hypoxic environments, fewer ROS are produced when cells are irradiated [176]. Many studies have shown a dependence of RT efficacy on pO₂ both in vitro [177-179] and in vivo [180-182]. The O₂ enhancement ratio (i.e. the factor by which the presence of O_2 increases the cell killing of RT at an isoeffect) is generally reported to be $\sim 2 - 3$ [183]. Regions of acute hypoxia that contain less than 5 mmHg pO₂ tend to be highly radioresistant [183]. Given the detrimental effect of hypoxia on RT, there is great interest in identifying patients with hypoxic tumors and developing approaches to sensitize hypoxic tumor regions to RT.

4.3. Treatment options for hypoxic tumors

Traditional ChT and RT approaches are less effective in treating cancer cells within hypoxic environments compared to cells under normoxic conditions [184,185]. Limited efficacy of conventional approaches is of concern given the dangerous potential for invasive growth and metastatic spread [166]. The two main therapeutic approaches to treating hypoxic tumors involve: (1) novel classes of drugs that are active under hypoxic conditions and (2) changing the oxygenation conditions within the tumor.

4.3.1. Direct treatment of hypoxic tissue

The first challenge that needs to be overcome in ChT treatment of hypoxic cancer cells is delivering the drug to the affected area. Hypoxic tumor regions lack functional vasculature, preventing access for many traditional ChT drugs that are only able to diffuse short distances from blood vessels [186]. Diffusion is physically limited by stromal components of the tumor microenvironment, and also by consumption of ChT by cancer cells [186]. Lack of nearby functional vasculature is an even bigger impediment for nanomedicines because they rely on convection from blood vessels for access to cancer cells. Small molecule agents that are able to access hypoxic tumor regions are further hindered by the biological differences between hypoxic and normoxic cancer cells. Hypoxic cancer cells divide less rapidly, limiting a primary mechanism of action of many ChT [187,188]. In order to overcome these challenges, hypoxia-activated prodrugs that undergo chemical reduction in regions with low pO₂ have been designed [189]. However, to date clinical success has been lacking. Spiegelberg et al. attribute this to clinical trial designs that do not incorporate hypoxia biomarkers and lack corresponding patient stratification [190]. While RT is known to be less effective in treating hypoxic cancer cells, a number of radiosensitizers have been developed in order to overcome this issue [191]. Most radiosensitizers designed to act in hypoxic cells replace oxygen in forming reactive free radicals that can interact with and damage DNA following RT [192]. Clinical development of these agents has been stunted by an inability to balance the toxicity of the agents and the high doses required for radiosensitization [193]. Clinical progress has also been hampered by a failure to select patient populations with hypoxic regions within tumors [191].

Many researchers consider the treatment of hypoxic tumors to be the most compelling use of HT [61,184]. A great deal of research has been done on the ability of HT to treat hypoxic cells [194–196], but rather than directly affecting hypoxic cells, HT exerts several indirect effects that impact hypoxic tumors. HT is able to directly kill cells given sufficient time and temperature exposure, although the cytotoxic threshold varies depending on cell type [197]. The HT-induced cell killing process is not perfectly understood, but combines apoptosis, necrosis, and mitotic catastrophe [198,199]. It is believed that protein denaturation is the cause of these cytotoxic effects [61]. HT is able to exert a greater cell killing effect in hypoxic cell populations, but rather than being driven by pO_2 within the cells, the main factors seem to be pH and possibly nutrient deprivation [200,201]. The studies by Overgaard and Bichel as well as Gerweck et al. noted that the increased sensitivity to HT observed under hypoxic conditions can be reversed by returning the pH to physiological conditions. Furthermore, chronic hypoxia conferred much more sensitivity to HT compared to acute hypoxia, indicating that nutrient status and the health of cells was more of a determining factor than pO₂ levels. Section 5 describes the processes under which hypoxic tissue often becomes acidic. Cancer cells within hypoxic tumors are often nutrient deprived and exist within a lower pH environment [202,203]. Furthermore, many studies have shown that HT-induced cell killing is increased through combination therapy with agents that limit blood flow and thus decrease tumor pO₂ [204]. While ablative therapies have proven clinical benefit at elevated temperatures (i.e. $> 60 \,^{\circ}$ C) [205], clinical translation of direct killing of cancer cells by HT (i.e. ~45 °C) has proven less efficacious [69]. This is largely due to the fact that elevated temperature HT does not act synergistically with established treatment modalities such as RT and ChT. Elevated temperature HT is not as amenable to fractioned treatments suitable for combining with RT and ChT and does not induce the physiological responses discussed in this review that improve RT and ChT efficacy.

Increasing the sensitivity of hypoxic cells to RT is a more promising clinical approach and is important given the radioresistance normally associated with hypoxic cells. HT sensitizes hypoxic cells to RT both by inhibiting DNA damage repair induced by RT and by increasing tumor pO₂ therefore increasing DNA damage. HT sensitizes all cells to RT in a time dependent manner by degrading proteins related to DNA damage repair [206,207]. Repeated studies have shown this sensitization to have the biggest impact when RT and HT are delivered simultaneously with decreasing sensitization as HT is delivered at longer time intervals before or after RT [23,208]. This method of RT sensitization affects both hypoxic and normoxic cells equally because the mechanism of sensitization is not O₂-dependent, but related to DNA damage repair [209]. However, HT is able to preferentially sensitize hypoxic cells to RT *in vivo* by increasing tumor blood flow and therefore tumor pO₂. Iwata et al. demonstrated that several different HT protocols can increase

tumor pO₂ in both mice and rats [210]. HT (41.5 °C, 1 h) increased pO2 from 6.5 to 16.6 mmHg. This effect was persistent with increased pO₂ still measured 24h following HT. A similar effect was noted in rat tumors with pO₂ increasing from 3.7 to 12.2 mmHg following HT (42.5 °C, 30min). Many preclinical studies have demonstrated that adding HT to RT regimens improves the treatment of hypoxic tumors [211–213]. Sun et al. examined the effect of HT on hypoxia in HT29 human colorectal adenocarcinomas [93]. Tumors were heated for 45 min at 41 °C and hypoxia was assessed prior to HT using pimonidazole and during or after HT using EF5. Perfusion was assessed by intravenous Hoechst 33342 assessment prior to sacrifice and CD31 immunohistochemistry. This HT protocol increased perfusion and reduced overall hypoxia. However, the decrease in hypoxia was not sustained and did not persist 24 h following HT. Furthermore, in addition to a reduction in the overall hypoxic fraction of the tumor, new regions of hypoxia were also reported following HT. However, it is possible that these were normal temporal changes in tumor pO₂ unrelated to HT treatment. Griffin et al. employed water bath induced HT at 41.5 °C for 45 min to study the effect of radiosensitization in fibrosarcoma and mammary carcinoma models in mice [214]. They found that HT decreased the fraction of hypoxic cells in both tumor models by ~3.5-fold. In both tumor models, HT significantly improved the efficacy of a single 20 Gy RT fraction in terms of tumor growth delay and surviving cell fraction as determined by ex vivo clonogenic assay.

4.3.2. Increasing tumor pO_2

As discussed earlier in Section 2 of this review, HT can increase tumor blood flow. Sun et al. demonstrated that HT (41 °C, 45 min) -mediated increases in blood flow resulted in increased tumor pO_2 , but the impact was short-lived [93]. In canine tumors of up to 400 cm³ in volume, Thrall et al. studied the effect of two thermal doses of MW HT on tumor pO₂ [215]. Dogs received a total dose of either 10 or 40 CEM43T90 (isoeffective cumulative exposure that considers the 90th percentile temperature as opposed to the median temperature for CEM43). Both thermal doses were able to increase oxygenation in tumors exhibiting low pO₂ (0 – 4.1 mmHg) prior to treatment. However, the higher thermal dose reduced pO₂ in tumors with higher initial oxygenation values. Thermal dose of HT and baseline levels of pO₂ must be carefully considered in treatment planning. Thrall et al. built on this study by examining the effect of fractionating treatments with equivalent total thermal doses of ~30 CEM43T90 in 37 spontaneous canine tumors with dogs receiving 1 vs 3 – 4 fractions per week [216]. While there was no significant difference in oxygenation effect between the treatment groups, a significant increase in tumor pO₂ compared to baseline was recorded for both treatment groups. This study is significant in that it demonstrates the ability of repeated HT treatments to increase tumor pO_2 over a significant period of time (i.e. 5 weeks). To date, optimized fractionation of thermal dose has yet to be determined in large animal models and human subjects.

Other approaches to increase tumor pO₂ have focused on temporarily increasing blood pO₂ and include hyperbaric O₂ chambers [193,217], administration of 100% O₂ or carbogen (5% CO₂, 95% O₂) [183], artificial O₂ carriers based on either hemoglobin or perfluorocarbon emulsions [218] [191], and drugs such as efaproxiral that modulate O_2 haemoglobin binding affinity [219,220]. These interventions are transient whereas RT is frequently fractionated over many days and ChT can act over a longer timescale, making a more sustained increase in tumor pO₂ desirable. The excellent safety profile of HT makes it a more compelling candidate compared to some other interventions. However, the most efficient method to increase tumor pO_2 is to reduce O₂ consumption within tumors [221]. Zanella et al. demonstrated that metformin was able to decrease O₂ consumption of several cancer cell lines in vitro and that this translated to a decrease in hypoxia within tumors following intravenous administration (100 mg/kg) of metformin [222]. They further demonstrated that this decrease in pO₂ led to improved RT (15 Gy single dose) efficacy in tumor models in mice bearing

HCT116 human colorectal carcinomas. The promise of clinical translation was suggested by a retrospective study of 504 patients that had received RT. Patients receiving metformin exhibited a significant decrease in early biochemical relapse. In another study, Benej et al. employed a clinically approved drug in order to reduce O₂ consumption and increase tumor pO₂ [223]. Papaverine reduced hypoxia and significantly increased RT (5 Gy single fraction) efficacy in EO771 murine breast tumors and A549 human lung tumors in mice.

Tumor vascularization was identified by Judah Folkman as a critical aspect of tumor development [224]. Hanahan and Folkman termed the rapid onset of neovascularization and ensuing tumor growth the 'angiogenic switch' [225]. The signaling protein VEGF, specifically the type VEGF-A, is largely responsible for regulating this process [226-228]. Following this angiogenic switch, many tumors exhibit tortuous, heterogeneous vascular structures that deliver insufficient O₂ and nutrients, while also preventing sufficient delivery of ChT. Sustained angiogenesis was included as a hallmark of cancer by Hanahan and Weinberg in their seminal paper published in 2000 [229]. Rakesh Jain has proposed the concept of vascular normalization whereby the tumor vasculature is modified to more closely resemble the vascular networks of normal tissue [230]. This is achieved by correcting the imbalance between pro- and anti-angiogenic signaling via administration of a carefully determined regimen of antiangiogenic therapy [231]. However, clinical translation of this therapeutic intervention is difficult because the dose of anti-angiogenic drugs must fall within a narrow window such that the dose is sufficient to stem unchecked growth, but not so high as to shut down vasculature growth completely [232]. Patient heterogeneity and spatial and temporal variability in tumor vascularization and angiogenic signaling further complicate dose selection and treatment. While it may seem counterintuitive, low dose anti-angiogenic therapy has led to increased tumor pO_2 in multiple preclinical models [233–235].

HT has the potential to play a similar role in rebalancing pro- and antiangiogenic factors, resulting in more normal tumor vasculature. As previously discussed, application of HT (i.e. < 42 °C) can increase blood flow and pO₂ within tumors. An increase in pO₂ results in a reduction of HIFs and a corresponding decrease in pro-angiogenic signaling. Conversely, HT at higher temperatures (i.e. > 42 °C) can damage the vasculature and result in an increase in pro-angiogenic factors. Kanamori et al. applied water bath HT for 30 min at 44 °C to mice bearing squamous cell carcinomas (SCC VII) [236]. Under these conditions HT can have anti-vascular effects. Indeed, HT or intravenous administration of the anti-angiogenic drug TNP-470 both resulted in necrosis within the central regions of tumors and an increase in VEGF expression. However, Sawaji et al. found a significant decrease in serum levels of VEGF in patients 2 - 3 weeks following completion of whole body HT treatments (42 °C, 1 h) [237]. Timedependent HIF and VEGF expression may further complicate pursuing HT as a strategy for balancing angiogenic factors. Moon et al. determined that at temperatures between 41-44 °C, HT induced HIF activation in vitro in two human cancer cell lines [238]. They further measured increased HIF and VEGF expression in vivo up to 24 h and 48 h, respectively, following treatment. The temperatures employed in these studies are likely also critical in achieving the desired therapeutic outcomes. It is possible that a version of vascular normalization can be achieved through the application of HT rather than pro- and anti-angiogenic factors. Interestingly, Sen et al. reported that the use of low temperature, whole body HT (39.5 °C, 6 h) was able to increase blood flow and decrease the hypoxic fraction of the tumor as measured by intravenous administration of pimonidazole hydrochloride and immunohistochemistry analysis [239]. In addition to increasing blood flow and reducing hypoxia, HT reduced IFP and improved the efficacy of RT. It is presumed that ChT efficacy would also be enhanced.

HT can increase pO₂, improving RT efficacy.

5. Tumor pH

5.1. Altered glucose metabolism

The acidic or basic nature of the tumor microenvironment is of interest from a therapeutic standpoint and it is inextricably linked to tumor pO₂. The tumor microenvironment tends to be more acidic compared to normal tissues and this is largely caused by altered glucose metabolism. Cells within the body derive energy from cellular respiration, whereby glucose and oxygen are converted to carbon dioxide and water via an intermediary pathway involving the breakdown of pyruvate via the citric acid cycle and oxidative phosphorylation [240]. However, the tumor microenvironment is often deficient in oxygen as previously discussed in Section 4. The Nobel laureate Otto Warburg hypothesized that in the absence of oxygen, cancer cells produce energy via anaerobic respiration [241]. The anaerobic respiration pathway begins in the same manner as aerobic respiration, but ends with the conversion of pyruvate to lactate, a process that produces far less energy. Adenosine triphosphate (ATP) molecules are the standard energy units of molecular biology and only two are produced when converting glucose to lactate. Conversely, full aerobic respiration can result in production of far more ATP molecules (i.e. ~30 – 38 total) [240]. However, the rate at which anaerobic glycolysis occurs is much faster, allowing the two forms of metabolism to produce similar amounts of ATP over the same timeframe [242]. Therefore, cells producing ATP via conversion of glucose to lactate consume far greater amounts of glucose compared to normal cells under standard aerobic respiration. It has been observed that even in the presence of oxygen, many cancer cells metabolize glucose to lactate rather than the oxidative phosphorylation pathway that produces more ATP. In the 2011 update to their Hallmarks of Cancer, Hanahan and Weinburg added 'Reprogramming Energy Metabolism' as an emerging hallmark, specifically recognizing the work of Warburg from 80 years prior [243]. This approach results in tumors consuming far more glucose than normal tissue. Indeed, this increased glucose consumption is the basis on which fluorodeoxyglucose-PET imaging differentiates between cancerous and normal tissue [244]. While there are similarities between tumor regions with low pO_2 and low pH, it is important to note that these regions do not necessarily co-localize [245]. Variability in intravascular blood pO₂ and blood flow can cause spatial variations in both pO₂ and pH distribution within the tumor, contributing to this disparity.

While there is ongoing debate as to the advantage gained by cancer cells through this metabolic reprogramming, the effect on the pH of the tumor microenvironment is clear [242]. Intracellular conversion of glucose to lactate (i.e. the conjugate base of lactic acid) produces hydrogen ions within the cytosol [246]. While lactate can be used as a nutrient by cancer cells [247,248], the hydrogen ions are a less desirable product. The intracellular pH (pH_i) of cancer cells is generally slightly more alkaline (i.e. ~7.3-7.6) than that of normal cells (i.e. ~7.2) [249-251]. In order to maintain these pH_i conditions, cancer cells shuttle hydrogen ions across the cell membrane primarily via the sodium/hydrogen ion exchanger NHE1 and the hydrogen/lactate transporter [252], resulting in acidification of the surrounding tumor microenvironment. Gillies et al. surveyed the literature and found that extracellular pH (pHe) was generally more acidic than pH_i in a wide range of preclinical cancer models [253]. Prescott et al. first demonstrated that this was also the case in spontaneous tumors in a study of 31 dogs with soft tissue sarcomas [254]. Despite this overall trend holding, they observed wide variability in both pH values and cases where $pH_e > pH_i$. Overall, altered glucose metabolism results in pHe of the tumor microenvironment (i.e. ~6.8-7.0) being more acidic compared to pHe of many normal tissues (i.e. ~7.4) [251].

5.2. Biological impact of acidic tumor pH

The pH of the tumor microenvironment is particularly important because multiple studies have correlated acidic conditions within the tumor with more aggressive disease phenotypes. A large body of research generated by Drs. Gillies and Gatenby has demonstrated that acidic metabolites cleared from tumor tissue can accumulate in surrounding normal tissue, acidifying the tissue microenvironment [255–258]. Normal cells in the surrounding tissue do not effectively maintain transmembrane pH gradients in acidic environments, resulting in lower pH_i and finally cell death. The resulting lack of viable cells and lower pH in the tissue margins bordering the tumor create an ideal environment for the neighboring cancer cells to invade. Metastatic spread is thought to depend on cancers cells undergoing the process of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) [259]. New research suggests that cells in lower pH environments are more prone to undergoing EMT [260]. Acidic tumor microenvironments are therefore more likely to produce metastatic disease. Low pH tumor microenvironments have also been associated with impairment of immune cell function [261]. Immunosuppression, often mediated by release of immunoregulatory cytokines, allows tumors to grow unchecked by the body's natural defenses [262]. It is therefore of primary concern to effectively treat cancer cells that reside within acidic tumor regions as they are likely to be of a more aggressive phenotype.

5.3. Acidic pH_e compromises therapeutic efficacy

The acidity of the tumor microenvironment has a direct impact on the efficacy of conventional anti-cancer treatments. Many commonly used anti-cancer drugs (e.g. paclitaxel, doxorubicin, mitoxantrone) are less effective when the pH_e is 6.5 rather than 7.4 [263,264]. A major contributing factor to this effect is that many ChT agents are weak bases that are charged in acidic environments, which prevents them from readily crossing the cell membrane [265]. A strategy to avoid this pitfall is to develop ChT drugs that are weak acids that are uncharged in the slightly acidic tumor microenvironment, but charged at more alkaline pH_i. Drugs with these chemical properties would readily cross the cell membrane at tumor pH_e and subsequently become entrapped in cancer cells at pH_i. Gerweck et al. used intravenous glucose administration to slightly acidify the tumor microenvironment and observed an improvement in the anti-tumor efficacy of the weak acid chlorambucil [266]. Conversely, glucose-mediated acidification of the tumor microenvironment had a negative effect on the efficacy of the weak base doxorubicin. This study is an interesting application of leveraging the altered glucose metabolism of cancer cells to tailor the tumor microenvironment and optimize the efficacy of specific drugs. Other work suggests that acidic pH_e can increase the intracellular activity of P-glycoprotein (P-gp) in some cancer cells, resulting in a decrease in ChT cytotoxicity that can be reversed by co-administration of a P-gp inhibitor [267]. P-gp is also known as multidrug resistance protein 1 and plays an integral role in efflux of many traditional ChT from cancer cells, rendering drugs less effective [268]. This effect further hinders the efficacy of many anti-cancer drugs being used to treat cancer cells in acidic microenvironments. The efficacy of several other therapeutic interventions is also compromised at pHe acidic. While not a dominant effect, particularly compared to the radioresistance of hypoxic cells, studies have also shown that cancer cells exhibit a limited amount of additional radioresistance at lower pH [269,270]. Even newer immunotherapies have been shown to be less effective in treating tumors with acidic microenvironments because of the previously described immune suppression [271]. Thus, it is incumbent to develop alternative treatment strategies that are either efficacious in killing cancer cells at acidic pH or that alter the pH of the tumor microenvironment, making cancer cells more susceptible to traditional ChT.

5.4. HT is preferentially cytotoxic to low pH_i cancer cells

Many studies have demonstrated that HT is much more toxic to cells in acidic environments compared to those at physiological pH [272]. This fact led to the exciting premise that HT could be used to selectively target cancers cells as they often reside in a more acidic milieu compared to normal cells. However, in vitro studies blocking the Na+/H+ exchange demonstrated that acidic intracellular, rather than extracellular, pH dictates the sensitivity of cancer cells to HT [273]. It was later demonstrated that blocking the heat shock protein response at acidic intracellular conditions confers heat sensitivity [274]. The dependence of hyperthermic cell killing on acidic pH_i is crucial as it has also been shown that cells chronically exposed to lower pH environments are able to maintain pH_i much closer to physiological conditions [275]. Thus, it would seem that the selective toxicity of HT to cancer cells compared to normal cells is largely limited by the ability of cancer cells to adapt to their microenvironment. However, under conditions of acute hypoxia, cancer cells at low pHe become unable to maintain a transmembrane pH gradient, resulting in a drop in pH_i [276] that makes these cells sensitive to HT treatment. Spees et al. have completed a thorough study inducing acutely lower pH_i in murine tumors by either glycolytic or non-glycolytic methods [277]. Using ³¹P-MR spectroscopy (MRS), they determined that both approaches decreased pH_i within the tumor and that for both methods of altering pH_i, there was a linear relationship between pH_i and sensitivity to HT (i.e. lower pHi, more sensitive to HT) (43 °C, 30 min). HT may therefore be an effective method of treating cancer cells under conditions of acidic pHe and acute hypoxia that would otherwise be RT- and ChT-resistant.

5.5. Raising tumor pH_e to increase ChT efficacy

One treatment approach for acidic tumors is to use therapies that are effective at lower pH. The other approach is to increase the pH_e of the tumor in order to make conventional therapies more effective. One promising approach is being explored by Dr. Gillies group involves oral administration of bicarbonate provided to mice ad libitum in their drinking water [278]. Robey et al. demonstrated that this approach increased pH_e, but not pH_i within tumors and observed a corresponding decrease in metastatic spread of MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer cells [279]. Subsequent work by Pilon-Thomas et al. further demonstrated that oral administration of bicarbonate improved tumor response to several immunotherapies including PD-1, CTLA-4, and adoptive cell therapy [271]. Low pHe is caused by hydrogen ions produced during glycolysis that are not cleared due to inadequate blood flow and lymphatic drainage in some tumor regions. Therefore, interventions such as HT that increase tumor blood flow could also be effective in raising tumor pHe. However, most literature does not support the ability of HT to raise the pH of acidic tumor microenvironment. Wike-Hooley et al. summarized a substantial quantity of literature describing the relationship between HT and tumor pH [269]. Citing a number of studies, they concluded that when HT was administered at temperatures above 42 °C, a decrease in the pH of the tumor microenvironment was observed [54,280,281]. They speculate that this may be caused by a reduction in blood flow, in general agreement with current literature indicating that higher HT temperatures (i.e. > ~42 °C) can reduce blood flow in many tumor models. However, the observed reduction in pH could also be the result of a switch towards more anaerobic metabolism. It has been noted that HT can upregulate HIFs [216,238] and that respiration is more sensitive to HT compared to glycolysis [282]. This suggests that an increase in blood flow may be able to raise the pH_e of the tumor closer to physiological levels, albeit in a transient manner, depending on the duration of HT-induced increased in blood flow. Indeed, Jayasundar et al. measured pH_i and pH_e using ³¹P-MRS and a fiberoptic pH meter during and after 30 min HT treatments at 42 or 45 °C [283]. Treatment at 45 °C resulted in statistically significant decreases in both pHe and pHi, whereas 42 °C HT increased pHe. It is hypothesized

that these pH differences are driven by modulation of blood and could be therapeutically relevant. It is presumed that in many cases lower HT temperatures (i.e. $< \sim 42$ °C) are able to increase pH_e within the tumor and improve the efficacy of ChT. In a clinically relevant study examining the effect of tumor pH on the efficacy of RT + HT in spontaneous canine tumors, Lora-Michiels et al. determined that pretreatment pHe is a strong prognostic factor for metastasis-free survival [284]. Of the 30 animals studied, those with tumor pHe >7 had a hazard ratio of 0.29 compared to tumors with a more acidic pH_e. Interestingly, tumors for which pHe reduced following HT had a better prognosis compared to tumors for which pH_e became more alkaline. The preceding discussion on the impact of HT on pHe indicates a complex relationship with outcomes very susceptible to differences in exposure. While more work is required in this area, it is hoped that the development of MRS capable of non-invasively determining intratumoral pHe and pHi will enable elucidation of the relationship between HT and tumor pH.

HT can increase extracellular pH, improving RT efficacy.

6. Tumor IFP

The interstitium is the fluid filled compartment of extracellular matrix that fills the volume between the vascular and lymphatic systems and the parenchymal cells of tissues [285]. The tumor interstitium generally consists of stromal cells such as fibroblasts and immune cells and the interstitial fluid that surrounds them [286]. The tumor interstitium is an important consideration in drug delivery because densely packed stromal cells represent a transport barrier that can be difficult to overcome [287]. This topic has been expertly reviewed elsewhere [35], and largely falls outside the scope of this review, as there have been few studies on the effect of HT on tumor stroma [288]. The exception to this would be the large body of literature studying the impact of elevated temperatures on the immune response. This important topic has been reviewed extensively [2,289-291] and is discussed in the context of drug delivery elsewhere in this special issue. The fluid pressure within the interstitial space impacts drug delivery and can be modulated by various interventions including HT. In normal tissues both the vascular and lymphatic networks regulate fluid pressure within interstitial space [292]. However, in the tumor interstitium, fluid accumulates in a process related to the EPR effect. Fluid collects in the tumor interstitium due to the leakiness of the vasculature and is not adequately removed due to impaired lymphatic drainage [293]. Hydrostatic pressure in capillaries is generally about 10 - 30 mmHg, with pressure dropping along the length of the capillary, resulting in fluid extravasation at the arteriolar end and reabsorption of fluid at the veniolar end [286]. In normal tissue, pressure gradients between the vasculature and interstitium are typically 10 – 40 mmHg [36], resulting in IFP that is often atmospheric (i.e. 0 mmHg) or slightly negative. Leaky vasculature and impaired lymphatic conditions in the tumor interstitium described above can result in the tumor IFP equilibrating with the vascular hydrostatic pressure (i.e. ~10 - 30 mmHg). Tortuous blood vessels can result in higher intravascular pressure [294], further increasing tumor IFP [295]. Boucher and Jain demonstrated in preclinical models that elevated microcapillary pressure correlated with increased IFP [296]. Tumor IFP has typically been measured at 10 – 40 mmHg [295,297–299], with values as high as 100 mmHg having been recorded [300]. Tumor IFP has been thoroughly reviewed elsewhere [36,286]. This section focuses on the implications of altered IFP on the efficacy of ChT and RT as well as the potential role of HT in overcoming these challenges.

6.1. How tumor IFP affects cancer

The effects of pressure on cancer progression are not as well understood as other factors such as pO_2 and pH. While tumors have compromised lymphatic networks, they are not lymphatic naïve. It is well understood that cancer cells can be transported out of the tumor via the sentinel lymph node, often as a first step in metastatic spread [301]. In high IFP tumors, more fluid will be drained through the lymph nodes, increasing the chances for spread of the disease via the lymphatic network [302,303]. Furthermore, the Swartz group have demonstrated the autologous chemotaxis phenomenon wherein cells secrete the chemokine CCL21 that convects along fluid pressure gradients towards draining lymph nodes [304]. Similarly, high IFP in the centre of the tumor causes fluid to flow towards the periphery and into surrounding tissue [305,306]. This can drive invasion of cancers cells as well as signalling molecules that prime the surrounding microenvironment for tumor infiltration [307]. High IFP tumors show greater expression of the proliferation marker Ki-67 compared to low IFP tumors [308], indicating a more aggressive phenotype [309,310].

High IFP can also reduce blood flow, leading to regions of low pO₂ and low pH in tumors and ultimately resulting in necrosis [311]. While it has been suggested that high IFP can also directly occlude tumor vessels [311], it is likely that occlusion requires a significant pressure contribution from growth-induced solid stress [312]. Nathan et al. used real-time PCR to demonstrate another mechanism by which IFP affects tumor vascularization [313]. Osteosarcoma cells cultured *in vitro* under elevated pressures (i.e. 20 mmHg) expressed less VEGF-A (i.e. angiogenic factor) and more VEGF-C (i.e. lymphatic factor) compared to cells cultured at atmospheric pressure. These results mirrored immuno-histochemistry data from a patient population in which higher IFP tumors correlated with decreased VEGF-A and increased VEGF-C. There are therefore multiple ways in which tumor IFP affects cancer biology.

6.2. IFP has an adverse effect on ChT and RT

6.2.1. Effect of IFP on drug delivery

IFP exerts a strong influence on the efficacy of ChT as it is a major factor affecting delivery of therapeutics to the tumor site as well as drug distribution within the tumor. The pressure gradient between tumor vessels and tumor tissue dictates the amount of fluid convection into the tumor interstitium. While smaller molecules such as traditional ChT drugs (e.g. doxorubicin, paclitaxel, cisplatin) rely on both diffusive and convective transport, larger molecules such as nanomedicines and antibodies are almost solely dependent on convection for transport [33]. When pressure in the interstitial space is high, convection can be completely eliminated, reducing transport of smaller molecules and preventing transport of large molecules. The impact of elevated IFP on drug transport is becoming a more important issue as many new therapeutic agents for oncology have higher molecular weights than those developed in the past.

Many preclinical studies have demonstrated that elevated tumor IFP is a barrier to macromolecular drug delivery. Eikenes et al. evaluated the effect of IFP on the distribution and accumulation of antibodies in mice bearing human osteosarcomas by measuring both microvascular and interstitial pressures using micropipette and wick-in-needle techniques, respectively [314]. The murine monoclonal antibody TP-3 binds to a specific osteosarcoma-associated cell surface antigen [315] and was administered intravenously to mice. Collagenase administration was found to increase transvascular pressure gradients and decrease IFP, leading to both an increase in antibody accumulation within the tumor and an increase in antibody penetration away from tumor blood vessels. This study underscores the challenge in isolating the individual contribution that each physiological factor exerts on drug delivery. It is likely that degradation of collagen within the extracellular matrix reduces physical barriers to transport and further contributes to interstitial antibody transport. Indeed, it is known that collagen content is inversely related to the apparent diffusion coefficient [316] and thus collagenase administration would increase both convection and diffusion. Netti et al. took the opposite approach and raised vascular blood pressure in order to increase the intratumoral transvascular pressure gradient and thereby increase antibody accumulation within tumors [317]. The effect of both continuous and periodic administration

of angiotensin II were compared in mice subcutaneously implanted with the human colon adenocarcinoma LS174T. The minretumomab antibody binds the TAG-72 antigen present on the cancer cells used in this study. Following radiolabeled minretumomab administration, blood pressure was altered and antibody accumulation in the tumor was measured by gamma camera imaging. Both continuous and periodic administration of angiotensin II were able to increase antibody accumulation in the tumor by approximately 40%. Fan et al. employed a liposome formulation of imatinib in order to reduce tumor IFP in murine B16 melanoma tumors implanted in mice [318]. The response was sustained with statistically significant reductions in tumor IFP at 2.5, 26, and 50 h following liposome administration. Interestingly, the administration of free imatinib did not result in a decrease in tumor IFP. In vivo fluorescent imaging demonstrated that tumor priming with imatinib liposomes significantly increased the delivery efficiency of doxorubicin liposomes to tumors. They determined the decrease in tumor IFP resulted from fibroblast inhibition, inhibition of platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta, and the anti-angiogenic effects often associated with imatinib. However, pretreatment with imatinib liposomes increased the efficacy of both doxorubicin liposomes and free doxorubicin to the same degree, indicating that the improvements in efficacy are more complex than solely an increase in drug transport due to convection.

The group led by Rubin at Uppsala University has published extensively on the effect of tumor IFP on drug delivery. The majority of this work has focused on modulating tumor IFP and ChT efficacy through the targeting of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) receptor and VEGF receptor. PDGF is known to play a role in blood vessel formation as well as autocrine signalling in epithelial cancers [319]. In 2000 they demonstrated that imatinib, an inhibitor of PDGFR reduced tumor IFP in subcutaneously implanted colon cancers in rats [320]. This resulted in a significant increase in accumulation of ⁵¹Cr-EDTA (MW 339 Da) in the interstitial space. Further work showed that imatinib was able to increase the accumulation and efficacy of Taxol® as well [321]. In the studies from the Rubin group Taxol (paclitaxel formulated in 65% buffered saline, 25% ethanol, and 10% Cremophor EL) was administered subcutaneously. Paclitaxel readily binds to protein [322,323]. Therefore, administration via this route presumably results in macromolecular, protein-bound drug reaching the site. Later work administered the VEGF inhibitor bevacizumab to mice bearing subcutaneous human KAT-4 thyroid carcinomas that are known to express high amounts of VEGF [324]. Once again, anti-angiogenic treatment resulted in a sustained decrease in tumor IFP. The combination of imatinib with vatalanib, another VEGF inhibitor, demonstrated that combining PDGF and VEGF inhibition is able to lower tumor IFP to more than either single agent [325]. Despite reducing vascular density in the tumor, while not having an effect on tumor growth, the combination therapy enhanced the efficacy of Taxol more than either imatinib or vatalanib alone. However, the authors found that the sequencing and timing of inhibitor administration was crucial. Conversely, Tailor et al. demonstrated that while the VEGF and PDGF inhibitor pazopanib is able to decrease tumor IFP, there was also an increase in hypoxia, and no significant impact on Doxil accumulation [326]. They speculate that the same vascular normalization that reduced tumor IFP is also responsible for decreasing vascular permeability and nanomedicine accumulation within the tumor. Reducing perfusion in order to reduce tumor IFP and enhance ChT is a delicate proposition that must be closely monitored.

6.2.2. Effect of IFP on RT

There is mounting evidence that tumors with elevated IFP are less responsive to RT [327]. Landmark clinical trial results published by Milosevic, Fyles, and Hill in 2001 revealed that cervical cancer patients with higher IFP had a poorer prognosis following RT treatment [297]. A modified wick-in-needle technique was used to make IFP measurements at multiple positions within each tumor for 77 individual patients. An additional prospective study at the same institution determined that IFP is an independent prognostic factor in cervical cancer patients [328]. Despite once again confirming that high IFP was correlated with poor survival outcomes following RT, there was no correlation between IFP and tumor oxygenation. Furthermore, there was no link between IFP levels and other clinical prognostic factors for cervical cancer (i.e. tumor size and lymph node involvement). Later work confirmed that IFP prior to RT is a prognostic factor for survival of cervical cancer patients [329]. The same correlation between high IFP and radioresistance has also been observed in preclinical models. Rofstad et al. measured IFP using a wick-in-needle technique for intradermal tumors and a Millar SPC 320 cathether for window chamber model xenografts [330]. Using cutoffs of \leq 7 mmHg and \geq 9 mmHg, they determined that lower IFP tumors exhibited better tumor control for all treatment doses ranging from 25 - 45 Gy. Importantly, this study also measured a positive correlation between IFP and vessel tortuosity. The mechanism by which high IFP induces radioresistance is not known, but Rofstad et al. speculate that it may result from increased VEGF-A signaling and/or increased tumor cell clonogenicity [331]. Milosevic et al. also speculated that high IFP results in increased angiogenesis, partially negating the anti-vascular effect of RT [330]. Notably, high tumor IFP has been shown to hinder RT treatment efficacy, regardless of pO₂ [331].

6.3. Treatment approaches for high IFP tumors

High tumor IFP is a barrier to effective RT and macromolecular ChT. As a result, there is interest in interventions that can reduce tumor IFP and enhance the efficacy of existing treatments. The following sections review ChT, RT, and HT interventions that have been evaluated to reduce high tumor IFP in order to improve treatment potential.

6.3.1. ChT-based approaches to treating high IFP tumors

Drug-based strategies are not generally developed with the explicit goal of reducing tumor IFP, however several clinical studies have demonstrated that small molecule ChT has the potential to do so. Curti et al. characterized tumor IFP in melanoma lesions in patients receiving ChT [300]. There was a strong correlation between patients who responded to treatment and those who experienced a drop in tumor IFP. Mean tumor IFP doubled to 54 mmHg in non-responders, but dropped to 0 mmHg for patients who responded to treatment. Therefore, ChT can potentially reduce tumor IFP, but this approach leaves non-responding patients with more aggressive, difficult to treat, high IFP tumors. Work by Taghian et al. measured IFP in breast cancer patients receiving sequential treatments of paclitaxel (nine cycles of 80 mg/m^2 qw) and doxorubicin (four cycles of 60 mg/m² q2w) [332]. The order of treatment was varied for the two patient groups. Tumor IFP was reduced by 36% in patients receiving an initial paclitaxel treatment, while doxorubicin treatment did not affect IFP. By the end of both treatments, tumor volume was not significantly different in the two treatment groups. Perhaps if the doxorubicin had been encapsulated in a nanomedicine, the treatment order would matter as the decrease in IFP resulting from paclitaxel therapy would likely yield an increase in doxorubicin accumulation. Griffon-Etienne et al. have demonstrated the mechanism whereby conventional ChT reduces IFP in two mouse models [333]. Taxanes caused apoptosis of neoplastic cells within the tumor, reducing solid tissue pressure and decompressing blood vessels. An increase in tumor blood vessel diameter was measured along with a drop in tumor IFP.

Several preclinical, drug-based approaches to reduce tumor IFP have focused on modifying the tumor vasculature. Several studies that employed agents including angiotensin II [317], imatinib [318,320,325], bevacizumab [324], and vatalanib [325] have already been discussed in the context of their utility in increasing the accumulation of macromolecular drugs (Section 6.2.1). Skliarenko et al. examined the ability of the anti-vascular agent ZD6126 to lower tumor IFP in murine fibrosarcoma (KHT-C) and human cervical cancer (CaSki) tumors growing intramuscularly in mice [334]. The intention of this therapy was to disrupt the tumor vasculature and prevent further fluid accumulation in the interstitial space. Indeed, this was effective with IFP being reduced after 72 h to 25% of the pretreatment values in KHT-C tumors and 30% of the original IFP in CaSki tumors. This intervention would not be appropriate for combination with ChT as vascular transport would be compromised, reducing overall drug delivery. However, there are possible synergies with RT. Indeed, other anti-vascular agents such as combreastatin A4 are known radiosensitizers. It is possible that reduction of IFP is one mechanism of action. Podobnik et al. administered the vasodilating agent hydralazine to mice bearing subcutaneous anaplastic sarcoma F (SaF) tumors [335]. IFP was measured by the wick-in-needle technique and found to drop by a mean amount of 33% at 30 min following hydrazine injection. There are therefore several different means by which drugs can be employed to decrease tumor IFP.

6.3.2. RT-based approaches to treating high IFP tumors

Znati et al. employed the wick-in-needle technique to measure the effect of RT on tumor IFP [336]. Fractionated RT at total doses of 10 and 15, but not 5 Gy reduced tumor IFP 24 h following treatment. Single fractions of 10, 20, and 30 Gy also resulted in a significant, prolonged decrease in IFP. Of note, a single 30 Gy treatment reduced IFP by 35% after 5 d and preceded a significant arrest of tumor growth. Our research team studied the effect of RT on IFP in mice implanted with MDA-MB-231 human breast cancer tumors [337]. Similar to Znati et al. we found that higher doses of RT were required to cause a sustained decrease in IFP. Single fraction RT of 5 and 10 Gy did not result in statistically significant reductions in IFP, while 15 Gy resulted in lower IFP in tumors at 1 and 24 h post-RT. The effect of RT on tumor IFP is multifactorial and includes vascular damage, which reduces fluid flow to the tumor, as well as direct cancer cell killing, which reduces cell density. Clinically, there has been little study of the effect of RT on tumor IFP. Roh et al. measured IFP in seven cervical cancer patients during fractionated RT [338]. RT doses ranged from 39.6 to 60.0 Gy and decreased tumor IFP was observed in four patients while an increase was measured in the other three patients. It is therefore difficult to conclude that RT was able to reduce IFP. However, a reduction in IFP correlated with better clinical outcomes and the authors suggest that IFP response to RT could be a prognostic indicator of response to RT.

6.3.3. HT-based approaches to treating high IFP tumors

There have been several reports that HT is able to reduce tumor IFP, although the mechanism of action has not yet been demonstrated. The first evidence of the ability of HT to reduce tumor IFP came from Leunig et al. in 1992 [339]. This study employed an allograft implantation of hamster melanoma into the dorsal skin and water bath HT was administered at 43 °C for 30 or 60 min. HT treatment under these conditions may reduce blood flow, but blood flow was not measured in this study. At 48 h following HT, tumor IFP was significantly lower in animals that had received HT for 30 min compared to control animals and significantly lower in the 60 min HT group compared to 30 min. Tumor growth delay was also recorded in animals receiving HT compared to control animals, suggesting that thermal effects were not just physiological, but induced vascular damage and/or direct tumor cell killing. Sen et al. employed a temperature controlled chamber to deliver mild, whole body HT for 6 h at 39.5 °C (CEM43 = 2.8 min) to immune competent mice bearing either murine colon tumor 26 (CT26), murine mammary 4T1, or murine melanoma B16.F10 tumors [239]. A wickin-needle setup with a Millar MikroTip catheter transducer was used to measure tumor IFP. A significant reduction in tumor IFP was measured for all three tumor models following HT and IFP continued to decrease for up to 24 h. Indeed, a sustained response was observed in colon and melanoma tumors with IFP remaining at a reduced pressure 24 h post HT (data was not reported for breast tumors). HT did not affect tumor growth for the colon or melanoma tumor models (data was not reported for breast tumors). Sen et al. also reported an increase in blood flow and blood vessel perfusion in the tumor following HT. It therefore presumed that this lower temperature HT protocol would be beneficial to both small and large molecule ChT and RT. The reported sustained reduction in IFP is particularly important in ensuring sufficient time for macromolecular drugs to accumulate. Our group measured a significant reduction in tumor IFP in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer tumors that were heated for 20 min at 42 °C (CEM43 = 5 min) [337]. Tumor IFP was reduced from 18 to 7 mmHg during the application of HT. This treatment also resulted in a significant increase in both the accumulation and distribution of a nanomedicine contrast agent as well as improving the efficacy of Doxil. While higher temperature HT treatments are able to decrease IFP by disrupting tumor vasculature, lower temperature HT treatments that increase blood flow as well as decrease tumor IFP are a more promising strategy in combination with ChT.

HT can reduce IFP, improving ChT efficacy.

7. Triggered Release from Nanomedicines

Nanomedicine formulations have been designed to release their drug cargo as a result of exposure to many external stimuli including heat, pH, irradiation, specific wavelengths of light, US and several other externally applied and endogenous factors [340–343]. Most of these topics fall outside the scope of this review, but the subject at hand necessitates a brief discussion of heat-triggered drug release, specifically thermosensitive liposome technology. This subject has been thoroughly reviewed elsewhere [344–346], but any discussion of combining HT and drug delivery would be incomplete without discussing recent advancements in thermosensitive drug delivery. Also briefly discussed are RT-triggered and pH-triggered nanomedicines.

7.1. HT-triggered release

The most clinically advanced HT-triggered nanomedicine is Celsion's ThermoDox®, which is currently undergoing Phase III clinical testing in primary liver cancer (NCT02161562). Thermosensitive ChT have been studied extensively and are discussed in other reviews in this issue [347,348]. Advances in the thermosensitive drug delivery platforms have been enabled by engineering developments in the technology used to heat tissue [349,350]. Scientific advances in both HT-application and drug delivery technologies combine to allow for spatially focused, well-controlled drug release within target tissues. Targeted, heattriggered release is of particular interest in oncology where toxic ChT agents can have debilitating off-target effects in normal tissue. TSL development has been built on decades of research characterizing the temperature-dependent permeability of lipid bilayers [351,352] and liposomal drug carriers [353,354]. Lipid bilayers have a characteristic temperature known as the melting temperature (T_m) , above which the lipids exhibit fluidity of movement and below which the bilayer is referred to as solid with comparatively little displacement of the lipids. Liposomes are nanometer- or micrometer-sized vesicles with an outer lamellae consisting of a lipid bilayer. Thermosensitive liposomes exploit this T_m in order to quickly release drug in response to HT.

While the majority of clinically approved nanomedicines are liposomes [355], their primary clinical benefit has been a reduction in ChT induced toxicity. This directly results in improved quality of life for patients, but there is still an unmet need to develop more efficacious nanomedicines. Dr. Gregoriadis led the pioneering development of liposomes as drug delivery carriers in the mid-1970s [356,357]. It was not long after in 1978 that Yatvin et al. reported on the first use of heating liposomes above their T_m in order to trigger release of encapsulated cargo [358]. These liposomes were composed primarily of DPPC, with DSPC added to raise the T_m . A 7:3 DPPC:DSPC liposome formulation combined with microwave heating of tumors to 41.5 – 42.5 °C increased tumor accumulation in mice 3-fold compared to free drug or liposomes administered without HT [22]. However, advancement of this research was limited by existing clinical heating technologies as well as insufficient stability of the liposomes through a lack of steric stabilization which, as the authors concluded, resulted in aggregation and formation of multilamellar structures. The field of liposome research was greatly advanced in the early 1990s with the discovery that conjugation of PEG polymer chains onto the surface of liposomes enhanced liposome stability and prolonged in vivo circulation [359,360]. Work in the laboratories of Drs. Dewhirst and Needham at Duke University led to the development of low-temperature sensitive liposomes (LTSL) that would later become ThermoDox [361]. This formulation incorporated PEG for steric stabilization and increased circulation. However, the revolutionary change to the formulation design was the incorporation of 10% (mol) lysolipid in order to sharpen the T_m and provide a rapid on-set of membrane permeability, resulting in burst release upon heating [362]. Since this time, many other groups have advanced the field of thermosensitive drug delivery by altering the lipid composition [363,364], loading new drugs into the liposomes [365-367], or by optimizing the heating protocol [368,369]. All of these approaches take advantage of heat-triggered burst release of drugs from thermosensitive carriers, but they also benefit from HT-induced physiological changes such as increased blood flow and increased vascular permeability that increase drug accumulation in tumor (Fig. 4). Current TSL, including ThermoDox, exhibit very fast drug release when heated to temperatures close to the T_m. Recent work from Motamarry et al. demonstrated in vitro that at temperatures above 40 °C complete release of doxorubicin occurred within 2 s [370], although a significant portion of drug remains entrapped within the liposomes and is never released. Fast release is important given that mean blood pool residence times within tumors are generally on the order of seconds (i.e. 2 - 10 s) [371]. The ability to trigger significant release within this short period of time allows for significant drug release as soon as the nanomedicines reach the preheated tumor. Drug is thus released in the tumor vasculature and this leads to substantial amounts of extravasation of free drug into the tumor interstitium [372]. Many groups have demonstrated that TSL are able to significantly increase total drug delivery to tumors [372,373] and result in improved efficacy [374,375]. Specific examples are discussed in Section 8.

The power of HT to alter tumor physiology and increase sensitivity to RT has been described in this review. Researchers have actively explored the ability of nanomedicine-based approaches to deliver radiosensitizers to tumors [376,377]. However, traditional nanomedicines are often limited by an inability to deliver radiosensitizers to the most radioresistant cells within the hypoxic core of the tumor. A recent report from Sadeghi et al. examined the *in vitro* feasibility of loading the radiosensitizer pimonidazole into TSL [378]. The same group has also explored the *in vitro* radiosensitizing effects of ThermoDox on human fibrosarcoma (i.e. HT-1080) cells [379]. Given the ability of TSL to increase tumor accumulation of drugs, these formulations incorporating radiosensitizers represent promising approaches to further increase the radiosensitizing effects of HT.

7.2. RT-triggered release

RT-triggered nanomedicines are a relatively immature field of research with few publications [343], but some recent advances indicate potential future applications. Wu et al. prepared 134 nm cysteinemodified G4.5 dendrimers loaded with doxorubicin [380]. Acidic pH (i.e. pH = 5.0) and RT (i.e. 5 Gy) were used to trigger drug release with release being mediated by RT-induced generation of ROS and an alteration in the dendrimer structure as well as disulfide bond cleavage. Release was not rapid compared to many other triggered release systems (i.e. 18% release at 8 h, 48% at 70 h). This is not an intravascular release system, but would be administered at a suitable time prior to RT (e.g. 24 – 72 h). Deng et al. designed doxorubicin-containing liposomes co-loaded with verteporfin and/or gold nanoparticles in order to actively trigger release by RT [381]. Release was triggered by 1, 2, or 4 Gy RT causing verteporfin to generate singlet oxygen, likely causing oxidation of unsaturated lipids and bilayer disruption. This formulation is promising as dramatic improvements in efficacy in mice bearing human HCT 1116 colorectal tumors were observed for RT combined with intratumoral (IT) injection of RT-triggered doxorubicin liposomes compared to either RT or IT administration of traditional doxorubicin liposomes alone. However, the lack of a control group combining RT with either free doxorubicin or traditional doxorubicin liposomes makes it difficult to assess the benefit of triggered drug release at this point. Most recently, Misra et al. developed calcium tungstate (CaWO₄) particles coated in PEG_{5k}-b-PLA_{5k} that encapsulate paclitaxel [382]. Inclusion of the calcium tungstate core resulted in dose dependent in vitro drug release from the nanoparticles at clinically relevant single RT fractions of 2 and 7 Gy compared to particles not exposed to RT. IT administration



Fig. 4. Heat-triggered intravascular drug release from thermosensitive liposomes. Following the application of HT, drug is quickly and efficiently released from the thermosensitive liposomes within the tumor vasculature. Free drug penetrates from the vasculature into the surrounding tumor interstitium along a concentration gradient.

of the particles with RT resulted in a statistically significant improvement in tumor control and survival compared to RT or the particles alone. This study also lacked a control combining RT with a traditional drug formulation in order to assess the effect of targeting. While the penetration depth and conformal targeting of RT make it an appealing drug triggering strategy, the use of IT administration of these agents suggests a need for development of more stable formulations suitable for intravenous administration.

7.3. pH-triggered release

Many macromolecular drugs have been designed to take advantage of differing pH environments, primarily with the aim of releasing their cargo in response to acidic pH conditions [383]. However, carriers that are designed to release their drug cargo in response to the acidic extracellular conditions of the tumor microenvironment can face difficulties given that more acidic regions of the tumor are also likely to be the least perfused regions. It is more challenging for drug formulations comprised of larger particles to reach these more acidic tumor regions, potentially preventing pH-responsive drug release at the desired location. One of the approaches deemed most promising for development of pH responsive advanced drug delivery systems involves those that provide endosomal escape within tumors [384]. In particular, drug carriers containing genetic material (e.g. siRNA, mRNA) must escape endosomes before being degraded inside lysosomes [385]. Formulations incorporating fusogenic molecules, often lipids, have successfully been developed to accomplish this aim and are now having a clinical impact [386,387]. However, this approach is not related to the acidic tumor microenvironment arising from altered physiological processes and is outside the scope of this review.

HT can trigger release of ChT from TSL, increasing tumor drug accumulation.

8. Potential Impact of HT on Drug Delivery

This review has described the physiological impact HT exerts on tumors. Many of these effects significantly alter the accumulation and distribution of both small molecule and nanomedicine ChT within tumors. Table 1 summarizes these effects and the impact on drug delivery. Specifically, HT is able to increase blood flow, perfusion, and vascular permeability while decreasing IFP, resulting in an increased accumulation of small molecule and/or macromolecular drugs. Additionally, HT can increase the extracellular pH within tumors to values that are closer to the conditions measured in normal tissues. This has a positive impact on the efficacy of many weak base ChT. Finally, HT can trigger release of drug from thermosensitive nanomedicines and further impact drug distribution and accumulation. Each physiological change affects individual drugs in a distinct manner that is dependent on the physicochemical properties of the drug. In addition to molecular weight, factors affecting drug accumulation and distribution include logP, pKa, and water solubility as these parameters influence circulation times, protein binding, vascular permeability, and cellular uptake. Specific

Table 1

Physiologica	l consequences of H	T and the	e effect	on small	molecu	ile and	l macromo	lecula	a
drug deliver	у.								

Physio	logical Effect	Predor Accum	Predominant Impact on Accumulation		
↑	Blood flow	↑	Small/macro		
1	Perfused fraction	1	Small/macro		
1	Transcytosis vascular permeability	Ť	Small molecules		
†	Paracellular vascular permeability	1	Macromolecules		
\downarrow	Interstitial fluid pressure	1	Macromolecules		

examples of HT altering drug accumulation and distribution profiles within tumors are discussed below.

Moving from preclinical animal models to clinical treatment has proven to be a particularly difficult transition in the cancer research field. Comparative oncology seeks to bridge this gap by studying spontaneous cancers in companion animals to generate complementary information when combined with traditional preclinical studies [388]. Companion animals represent a diverse population with intact immune systems and complex tumor biology, more comparable to that of humans [389]. The HT field has been advanced by many comparative oncology studies that suggest clinical potential. Furthermore, canine tumour volumes are generally more comparable to those in humans relative to those in mouse, rat, and other commonly used preclinical cancer models. Indeed, in a previously discussed study, Thrall et al. applied MW HT to canine tumors of up to 400 cm³ in volume [215]. This is particularly important in HT studies, as treatment protocols must be adapted for tumor volume. As a result, canine tumor heating protocols more closely resemble clinical practice. Hauck et al. completed important early stage safety and toxicity studies of ThermoDox in spontaneous canine tumors [390]. ThermoDox was administered intravenously at a dose of 0.7 - 1.0 mg/kg in a dose escalation study. MW HT was applied for 30 min during drug administration and for 1 h afterwards with a maximum median temperature of 44 °C in an effort not to reduce tumor blood perfusion. A maximum tolerated dose of 0.93 mg/kg was identified and an average tumor accumulation of 9.12 \pm 6.17 ng/mg tissue was recorded (for 1 mg/kg dose). Matteucci et al. measured the effect of HT on nanomedicine accumulation in spontaneous feline sarcomas [391]. 99mTc -labeled liposomes, (similar in lipid composition to Doxil) were administered to cats and tumor accumulation was measured by planar scintigraphy. Cats received intravenous liposome injections at normothermic temperatures and then again 48 h later in combination with MW HT (60 min with a median temperature of 44.6 °C). HT increased liposome accumulation in all 14 animals for which measurements could be made. As this was a comparative oncology study, there was tremendous variability in tumor volume (1.2 to 236.2 cm³). However, there was no correlation between tumor volume and the magnitude of increased liposome accumulation, suggesting broad applicability of this HT regimen to increase nanomedicine accumulation.

8.1. Impact of HT on drug accumulation

Many preclinical studies have demonstrated that HT is able to increase tumor accumulation of a number of different ChT [392]. Medical imaging and/or ex vivo tumor resection and drug extraction are the most common measurement techniques used to assess drug accumulation. To accurately determine tumor accumulation, drug within the tumor interstitium can be distinguished from drug in blood by subtracting the blood pool contribution or by removing it entirely by perfusing the vasculature with another fluid (e.g. saline). Microdialysis techniques can also be used to measure drug concentrations directly in tumor extracellular fluid [393]. Several recent preclinical studies have confirmed the viability of these approaches with both small molecules and higher molecular weight constructs. Farr et al. administered free doxorubicin intravenously to mice and the Sonalleve MR-guided high-intensity focused US (MR-HIFU) system was used to heat tumors for 15 min with a mean tumor temperature of 41.2 \pm 1.3 °C. 10 min after treatment, the vasculature was flushed with saline and a 2-fold increase in doxorubicin concentration was measured in resected tumors [394]. Jenkins et al recently reported that 60 min of water bath HT at 42.5 °C increased tumor accumulation of the FDA-approved photodynamic therapy (PDT) agent, porfimer sodium, by 3-fold at 24 h following administration [395]. Interestingly, HT treatment did not result in an increase in porfimer concentration in the tumor immediately following heating, indicating that HT altered tumor physiology over a longer timescale. Importantly, in addition to increasing PDT agent accumulation, the addition of HT resulted in a statistically significant improvement in anti-tumor efficacy of the PDT agent and laser stimulation. Matteucci et al. intravenously administered 99mTc-labeled liposomes and employed gamma scintigraphy imaging to assess the impact of HT on nanomedicine accumulation in domestic felines [391]. Microwave application of local HT was applied to spontaneous tumors for 60 min and in all 14 cats liposome accumulation was greater in tumors post-HT compared to unheated tumors. This enhanced accumulation persisted without diminishing until the end of the study at 18 h post-administration. Similarly, Kleiter et al. combined administration of Doxil and a tracer quantity of Doxil-like radiolabeled liposomes to determine the effect of HT on liposome accumulation in fibrosarcoma (MCA-R) tumors in rats [396]. The entire tumor volume was maintained between 39 - 44 °C for 45 min and tumor accumulation was assessed by in vivo gamma camera imaging, ex vivo gamma scintillation counting, and ex vivo doxorubicin quantification. HT resulted in a 3- to 4-fold increase in tumor accumulation at both 5 and 18 h. Our recent work demonstrated that HT can increase tumor accumulation of both free drug and nanomedicines. Tumor accumulation of the free anti-cancer agents cisplatin [365], doxorubicin, and alvespimycin [373] increased by 2- to 3-fold following external laser-based application of HT for 25 min at 42.5 °C. The impact of the same HT protocol on nanomedicine application was assessed by computed tomography (CT)-based quantification of iodine-containing liposomes in breast cancer models implanted orthotopically in mice [337]. After subtracting vascular contributions, it was determined that HT significantly increased accumulation by ~2fold in human MDA-MB-231 tumors, but did not increase tumor accumulation in murine 4T1 tumors. As previously described for this study in Section 6.3.3, the employed HT protocol was able to reduce tumor IFP in MDA-MB-231 tumors, but not 4T1 tumors. This is presumably a significant contributing factor in the impact of HT on nanomedicine accumulation in both tumor models. There is also data that suggests that HT-mediated damage to cells within the tumor microenvironment may increase the extravascular volume fraction available to nanomedicines [397,398]. Furthermore, the timing of HT and ChT administration is an important consideration. Kong et al. have elegantly ascertained that HT (42 °C, 1 h) increased liposome accumulation within tumors for 4 h following HT, but accumulation had returned to baseline after 6 h [399]. Importantly, reheating after 8 h (42 °C, 1 h) did not recapitulate the increased accumulation profile, indicating development of vascular thermotolerance. Frazier et al. measured the effect of MR-HIFU heating (43 °C, 10 min) on the tumor accumulation of both Evans blue dye and 51 kDa Gd-chelated *N*-(2-hydroxypropyl) methacrylamide (HPMA) copolymers in mice bearing S-180 murine tumors derived from a soft tissue sarcoma [400]. HT resulted in a ~2-fold increase in Evans blue dye accumulation in the tumor at 5 h following treatment. MR-imaging was performed every 15 min for 5 h following injection of Gd-HPMA copolymers and HT treatment in order to accurately determine the temporal effect of HT on accumulation. HPMA copolymers are an important drug delivery platform [401,402] and HT was demonstrated to significantly increase their tumor accumulation over a period of at least 5 h. Interestingly, the Ghandehari laboratory that conducted this research concluded that under these HT conditions (43 °C, 10 min), HIFU increased tumor accumulation to a greater extent compared to plasmonic photothermal therapy HT, which they had previously measured [403]. However, differences in animal and tumor model necessitate further evaluation.

8.1.1. Impact of HT and TSLs on drug accumulation

Delivery of drugs via TSLs combined with HT significantly alters drug accumulation profiles with intravascular release of relatively high concentrations of drug generally resulting in increased tumor accumulation. In 1979, Weinstein et al. were the first to demonstrate the increased tumor accumulation resulting from TSLs and HT [22]. TSLs contained methotrexate and were administered to mice bearing murine Lewis lung carcinomas and HT was applied for 1 h at 42 °C. TSLs and HT resulted in a 4-fold increase in tumor accumulation compared to TSLs without HT and a 3-fold increase compared to free drug and HT. Subsequent studies demonstrated the suitability of using TSLs to increase tumor accumulation of other drugs including cisplatin [404] and doxorubicin [405]. Kong and Dewhirst have summarized the tumor accumulation values for many TSL formulations that preceded the development of ThermoDox. More recently, Hijnen et al. reviewed tumor accumulation literature for studies involving the use of MR-HIFU HT protocols [406]. The majority of the studies summarized by Hijnen et al. used ThermoDox or a similar formulation and most of these studies reported that the addition of HT increased tumor accumulation by 2.5- to 5-fold. Chen et al. demonstrated that ThermoDox has anti-vascular effects [407]. A dose of 5 mg/kg was administered in combination with HT (42 °C, 1 h) to mice bearing human xenograft FaDu tumors. Red blood cell velocity and microvascular density was significantly decreased 24 h following treatment compared to baseline and relevant controls. This is not surprising given the large intravascular concentrations of doxorubicin produced by ThermoDox plus HT and the anti-vascular effects of free doxorubicin [408]. However, these alterations in hemodynamics may have implications for repeat dosing and combinations with other therapies and warrant further investigation.

8.2. Impact of HT on drug distribution

The preceding sections of this review detail the mechanisms through which HT is able to improve the efficacy of RT by decreasing the radioresistance of cells within the tumor that are otherwise difficult to treat. In doing so, HT is able to increase the proportion of the tumor volume for which RT is an effective form of treatment. This paradigm is similar to the manner in which HT improves the efficacy of ChT by increasing the proportion of the tumor that drugs are able to access and treat. This is of importance given that the efficacy of ChT is often limited by heterogeneous distribution throughout the tumor. The distribution issue is of particular importance for antibodies and nanomedicines that have been demonstrated to preferentially accumulate in the periphery of the tumor [409,410] (Fig. 5). Drug distribution of small molecule drugs is also of importance. Trédan et al. reviewed functional impediments to small molecule drug delivery including lack of vascularization and stromal cell barriers [293] that prevent complete eradication of tumors and therefore limit the utility of ChT. Previous work from the same group has observed that the majority of drug that accumulates in tumors is located within several cell diameters of blood vessels [411]. Increasing tumor drug accumulation is only beneficial if more cells within the tumor are exposed to drug and eradicated.

HT is able to improve the drug distribution profile within tumors by delivering ChT to crucial regions that would otherwise not be treated. By increasing the perfused fraction of the tumor and vascular permeability, as well as decreasing interstitial fluid pressure, HT is able to increase tumor accumulation and distribution of intravenously administered ChT. In most tumors, the periphery is the most highly vascularized region and is generally accessible to most forms of ChT. Therefore, most increases in blood flow and vascular permeability will deliver even more ChT to the tumor periphery. While the benefits of this are probably limited, increased drug concentrations of diffusion-mediated small molecule ChT will increase penetration distances of drugs into tumor tissue, providing improvements in drug distribution. HT has also been shown to transiently increase perfusion in the centre of the tumor [93]. This is not surprising, given that HT improves RT efficacy in part by increasing pO₂ in hypoxic regions of the tumor. It is likely that increased delivery of O₂ to these regions would coincide with greater delivery of small molecule ChT.

The principles discussed above, combined with an increase in vascular permeability and a decrease in high tumor IFP, enable HT to improve the distribution of macromolecular ChT. Therapeutic efficacy of longcirculating, traditional nanomedicines is often improved by the addition



Fig. 5. High IFP prevents macromolecular drugs from accumulating within tumors. Image illustrating the limited distribution of nanomedicines and large MW drugs in tumor tissue with preferential accumulation at the tumor periphery and high IFP precluding homogenous distribution throughout the entire tumor volume.

of HT into the treatment regimen [337,412]. Computational modeling suggests that the biggest impact HT exerts on nanomedicine accumulation within tumors is the result of decreased tumor IFP [337,413,414]. High IFP is a major factor preventing convection-mediated transport of nanomedicines into the tumor interstitium. IFP is commonly higher in the centre of the tumor compared to the periphery [296]. Therefore, by decreasing tumor IFP, HT should be able to preferentially increase nanomedicine accumulation in the centre of the tumor. Our group previously employed CT imaging to demonstrate that HT was capable of lowering tumor IFP and increasing the fraction of the tumor accessible to a Doxil-like imaging agent [337]. Fractions of the tumor were considered to contain significant concentrations of contrast agents when the signal intensity at that time was greater than the mean signal plus two standard deviations for the tumor volume data prior to the administration of contrast [415]. This approach is limited by both the sensitivity of contrast agent detection (i.e. limit of quantification) and the resolution of the medical imaging scanner, but allows for spatial and temporal assessment of contrast agent accumulation in single animals. Despite HT increasing accumulation 2-fold in MDA-MB-231 tumors at the time of maximum tumor accumulation (i.e. 72 h), HT only increased the enhanced tumor fraction at this point by 1.3-fold. However, the kinetics of accumulation were interesting as at early (i.e. 24 h) and late (i.e. 168 h) time points the enhanced volume fraction was higher at 1.7- and 2.2-fold respectively.

8.2.1. Impact of HT and TSLs on drug distribution

The majority of studies examining the effect of HT on the intratumoral distribution of ChT have employed TSL. Several studies have qualitatively demonstrated that HT-triggered release of drug from TSLs is better able to deliver drug to the centre of the tumor compared to conventional ChT approaches. In human squamous cell carcinoma xenograft tumors (i.e. FaDu), Kong et al. qualitatively assessed the distribution of doxorubicin delivered as free molecules, Doxil-like

nanomedicines, or TSLs and administered with or without HT (42 °C, 1 h) [374]. Quantitatively, HT increase the tumor accumulation of both traditional and TSLs. Qualitatively, TSLs and HT improved drug distribution such that more drug was observed in the centre of the tumor compared to both free drug and traditional liposomes administered with or without HT. Ranjan et al. employed MR-HIFU HT at 40.5 °C for 30 min in combination with thermosensitive doxorubicin liposomes [416]. In rabbits bearing intramuscular VX2 tumors, they measured a 7.6-fold increase in doxorubicin accumulation for TSLs and HT compared to free drug. They did not quantitatively assess intratumoral distribution profiles, but did note that TSLs combined with HT increased drug accumulation in the centre of the tumor, whereas free doxorubicin administered without HT accumulated solely in the rim. Similar work in a rabbit VX2 tumor model was completed by Staruch et al. [417]. They noted an impressive 27-fold increase in doxorubicin tumor accumulation for heated compared to non-heated tumors 2 h after ThermoDox administration. Greater drug concentrations closer to vessels were noted, but not quantified. In 2013, de Smet et al. measured doxorubicin distribution in ex vivo tumor sections by fluorescence microscopy [418]. Doxorubicin delivered via TSLs and HT (42°C, 30 min) was able to enter cells ~50 µm away from tumor vasculature. This was farther than observed for TSLs without HT, and this effect was observed up to 48 h following HT.

Similar to small molecule ChT, TSL-mediated drug delivery is enhanced by HT through increased perfusion. Additionally, intravascular release creates high drug concentrations in blood vessels, potentially increasing drug diffusion distances into the tumor interstitium. Manzoor et al. completed what is probably the most thorough analysis to date of the effect of HT on drug distribution in the tumor [372]. They employed both window chamber models (B16-BL6 murine melanoma tumors) and fluorescence microscopy analysis of histological sections (human FaDu hypopharyngeal carcinoma implanted subcutaneously) and compared the distribution of doxorubicin administered free or encapsulated within traditional or TSLs. Tumors were preheated and then HT was applied for 20 min following intravenous drug administration at average temperatures of ~41.5 °C for both models. Fig. 6 is a striking visual portrayal of the accumulation kinetics of free doxorubicin and TSLs both with and without HT in the melanoma window chamber model with blood vessels visualized in green. For free drug, rapid accumulation and clearance within 5 min can be observed, with greater accumulation under HT. Very little drug leaves the vasculature for the TSL treatment without HT, whereas drug concentration in the tumor interstitium increases over the course of 20 min when HT is applied to mice receiving TSLs. These results were quantitatively validated in 4 -6 mice per treatment group. Histologic assessment of doxorubicin penetration into the tumor interstitium was performed in the subcutaneous hypopharyngeal model. The addition of HT was found to significantly increase the median penetration distance of free doxorubicin from 29 to 55 µm. Doxil penetration was only measured with HT and was determined to be 34 µm, whereas TSLs combined with HT increased drug penetration distance to 78 µm. It is worth noting that intravascular release generates sustained diffusion of free drug into the tumor interstitium over the course of the HT treatment (Fig. 6), assuming the pharmacokinetic half-life of the nanomedicine is sufficiently long. This constant concentration gradient increases penetration of drug into the tumor interstitium, resulting in increased penetration distances.

Increases in penetration distances from vessels are significant because the drug extravasates radially away from the blood vessel accessing a large volume. For example, the volume fraction accessible to drug extravasating from a 10 µm diameter capillary [419] increases more than 3-fold when HT increases the penetration distance of free doxorubicin from 29 to 55 µm (Fig. 7). The use of TSLs with HT represents a 2-fold increase in the accessible volume fraction compared to free drug with HT.

The tumor accumulation and clearance kinetics of ChT delivered as free drug or TSLs are relatively similar and differ greatly from traditional



Fig. 6. Confocal microscopy images demonstrating doxorubicin accumulation in tumors. Free doxorubicin or doxorubicin-containing TSLs were administered with and without HT (40.7 – 41.8 °C with 10 min heating prior to and 20 min following drug administration). Mice were implanted with dorsal skin-fold window chamber models of FaDu human squamous cell carcinoma. Blood vessels containing fluorescein-labeled dextran (green), doxorubicin (red), and co-localization (yellow) indicate drug accumulation and clearance over 20 min. Scale bar = 100 µm. Reprinted with permission from [372].

nanomedicine drugs. Most free drugs are rapidly cleared from circulation and maximum tumor accumulation occurs within 0 – 2 h following intravenous administration [372,420,421]. Drugs delivered via thermosensitive carriers are released and accumulate within the tumor primarily within the period of HT treatment that generally lasts for 30 – 60 min [29]. Conversely, traditional long circulating nanomedicines gradually accumulate within the tumor and are retained longer. Maximum drug concentrations usually result around 24 - 72 h following intravenous administration, depending on the half-life and stability of the carrier and retention within the tumor [125]. It is therefore possible to envision the potential benefits of combining both thermosensitive and non-thermosensitive nanomedicines in one treatment regimen that incorporates HT. However, the authors are not aware of any studies that have combined thermosensitive and traditional nanomedicines. It is hypothesized that the different temporal and spatial drug distribution profiles resulting from delivery via traditional and thermosensitive nanomedicines would provide complementary therapeutic benefit to patients. Furthermore, HT should further increase the fraction of the tumor to which both types of formulation are able to deliver ChT. TSLs have a shorter half-life compared to non-TSLs. However, a treatment plan involving co-administration is feasible. TSL-mediated drug delivery is optimally achieved by heating the tumor as quickly as possible following liposome administration (or pre-



Fig. 7. Increased tumor region accessible to ChT as a result of HT. Schematic representation of the tumor region accessed by drug when penetration distance from blood vessel (diameter = 10 μ m) increases from 29 μ m (dark purple) to 55 μ m (red) with the application of HT (as reported for doxorubicin in Manzoor et al. [372]).

heating of the tumor). The reduction in tumor IFP and vascular changes can benefit traditional nanomedicines after HT has ceased. Given the known synergy between HT and RT as well as some ChT drugs and RT, it is easy to see the benefit of incorporating RT into complex treatment plans in order to provide further benefit to the patient.

HT can increase drug accumulation and distribution, improving ChT efficacy.

9. Conclusion

There is still much research to be conducted in order to provide patients with optimized treatment plans that incorporate HT. While combining HT with ChT or RT has been shown to improve patient outcomes in some studies [12,13], other trials have been less conclusive [422]. The tumor microenvironment exerts numerous negative influences on the therapeutic efficacy of ChT and RT. Several factors that can be affected by HT are discussed in this review. In low pH tumor microenvironments, the cytotoxicity of ChT is often reduced. Low tumor pO₂ significantly reduces the efficacy of RT and many forms of ChT. Elevated tumor IFP is a major impediment to the effective delivery of nanomedicine ChT and also reduces the efficacy of RT. HT treatment of tumors at temperatures ~39 - 42 °C can increase tumor blood flow and perfusion and can also be used to trigger drug release from thermosensitive carriers. Increases in HT-mediated blood flow can increase vascular permeability and reduce IFP in tumors in which it is elevated. The combined effect of increases in tumor blood flow, perfusion, and vascular permeability, along with decreased IFP can significantly increase drug accumulation and distribution within the tumor. The potential combination with HT-triggered drug delivery systems can further enhance drug accumulation and distribution. These improvements are critical as ChT efficacy is primarily governed by the temporal and spatial intratumoral drug distribution with successful treatment dependent on treatment of all cancer cells within the tumor. Furthermore, increased blood flow can remove acidic metabolites and balance extracellular pH to more normal physiological levels, potentially improving the efficacy of ChT that does reach the tumor. RT efficacy can be significantly enhanced by the ability of HT to increase tumor pO₂ and decrease tumor IFP. Through increased delivery of radiosensitizing molecules, HT can provide further benefit to RT.

HT can improve the overall efficacy of both ChT and RT in patients with tumors that have low vascular permeability, low pO2, low extracellular pH, and/or high IFP. However, due to the difficulty involved in assessing these tumor microenvironment parameters, they are not used as inclusion criteria when enrolling patients in clinical trials involving HT. These trials are therefore not designed to optimize potential clinical success. Inter-patient variability necessitates the inclusion of personalized physiological information about the patient's tumor (e.g. perfusion characteristics, vascular permeability, IFP, pO₂, and both pH_i and pH_e) and their response to HT. Medical imaging is best able to provide a spatial map of these characteristics within the tumor volume, allowing for patient stratification and assessing response to therapy. The future of advanced drug delivery for cancer therapy is personalized medicine that considers the genetic characteristics of the tumor when selecting the most appropriate therapeutic agent. However, personalized medicine must also entail understanding the biophysical characteristics of the tumor. Imaging of these characteristics allows for the rational integration of HT into treatment protocols in order to modulate these biophysical characteristics to enhance ChT and RT and provide individual patients with optimal treatment regimens.

10. Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) project grants to CA. MR holds a Centre for Pharmaceutical Oncology scholarship. The authors thank Dr. Mark Dewhirst for his insightful comments regarding this article. Figure 3 was adapted under a Creative Commons license (CC BY 3.0) from doi: 10.3389/ fonc.2013.00211.

References

- M.J. Angilletta Jr., B.S. Cooper, M.S. Schuler, J.G. Boyles, The evolution of thermal physiology in endotherms, Front Biosci (Elite Ed) 2 (2010) 861–881.
- [2] S.S. Evans, E.A. Repasky, D.T. Fisher, Fever and the thermal regulation of immunity: the immune system feels the heat, Nat Rev Immunol 15 (2015) 335–349.
- [3] S. Nahum Goldberg, D.E. Dupuy, Image-guided radiofrequency tumor ablation: challenges and opportunities-part I, J Vasc Interv Radiol 12 (2001) 1021–1032.
- [4] P.R. Morrison, S.G. Silverman, K. Tuncali, S. Tatli, MRI-guided cryotherapy, J Magn Reson Imaging 27 (2008) 410–420.
- [5] W.G. Kraybill, T. Olenki, S.S. Evans, J.R. Ostberg, K.A. O'Leary, J.F. Gibbs, E.A. Repasky, A phase I study of fever-range whole body hyperthermia (FR-WBH) in patients with advanced solid tumours: correlation with mouse models, Int J Hyperthermia 18 (2002) 253–266.
- [6] A. Partanen, P.S. Yarmolenko, A. Viitala, S. Appanaboyina, D. Haemmerich, A. Ranjan, G. Jacobs, D. Woods, J. Enholm, B.J. Wood, M.R. Dreher, Mild hyperthermia with magnetic resonance-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound for applications in drug delivery, Int J Hyperthermia 28 (2012) 320–336.
- [7] K. Hynynen, D. Shimm, D. Anhalt, B. Stea, H. Sykes, J.R. Cassady, R.B. Roemer, Temperature distributions during clinical scanned, focused ultrasound hyperthermia treatments, Int J Hyperthermia 6 (1990) 891–908.
- [8] P. Wust, H. Stahl, J. Loffel, M. Seebass, H. Riess, R. Felix, Clinical, physiological and anatomical determinants for radiofrequency hyperthermia, Int J Hyperthermia 11 (1995) 151–167.
- [9] R. Colombo, L.F. Da Pozzo, A. Salonia, P. Rigatti, Z. Leib, J. Baniel, E. Caldarera, M. Pavone-Macaluso, Multicentric study comparing intravesical chemotherapy alone and with local microwave hyperthermia for prophylaxis of recurrence of superficial transitional cell carcinoma, J Clin Oncol 21 (2003) 4270–4276.
- [10] A.L. Oei, C.M. van Leeuwen, V.R. Ahire, H.M. Rodermond, R. Ten Cate, A.M. Westermann, L.J.A. Stalpers, J. Crezee, H.P. Kok, P.M. Krawczyk, R. Kanaar, N.A.P. Franken, Enhancing synthetic lethality of PARP-inhibitor and cisplatin in BRCAproficient tumour cells with hyperthermia, Oncotarget 8 (2017) 28116–28124.
- [11] J.R. Ostberg, E.A. Repasky, Comparison of the effects of two different whole body hyperthermia protocols on the distribution of murine leukocyte populations, Int J Hyperthermia 16 (2000) 29–43.
- [12] R.D. Issels, L.H. Lindner, J. Verweij, R. Wessalowski, P. Reichardt, P. Wust, P. Ghadjar, P. Hohenberger, M. Angele, C. Salat, Z. Vujaskovic, S. Daugaard, O. Mella, U. Mansmann, H.R. Durr, T. Knosel, S. Abdel-Rahman, M. Schmidt, W. Hiddemann, K.W. Jauch, C. Belka, A. Gronchi, R. European Organization for the, T. Treatment of Cancer-Soft, G. Bone Sarcoma, O. the European Society for Hyperthermic, Effect of Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy Plus Regional Hyperthermia on Long-term Outcomes Among Patients With Localized High-Risk Soft Tissue Sarcoma: The EORTC 62961-ESHO 95 Randomized Clinical Trial, JAMA Oncol, 4 (2018) 483-492.
- [13] N.R. Datta, E. Puric, D. Klingbiel, S. Gomez, S. Bodis, Hyperthermia and Radiation Therapy in Locoregional Recurrent Breast Cancers: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 94 (2016) 1073–1087.
- [14] N.R. Datta, S. Rogers, D. Klingbiel, S. Gomez, E. Puric, S. Bodis, Hyperthermia and radiotherapy with or without chemotherapy in locally advanced cervical cancer: a systematic review with conventional and network meta-analyses, Int J Hyperthermia 32 (2016) 809–821.
- [15] J.E. Robinson, M.J. Wizenberg, W.A. McCready, Radiation and hyperthermal response of normal tissue in situ, Radiology 113 (1974) 195–198.
- [16] N.M. Bleehen, D.J. Honess, J.E. Morgan, Interaction of hyperthermia and the hypoxic cell sensitizer Ro-07-0582 on the EMT6 mouse tumour, Br J Cancer 35 (1977) 299–306.
- [17] G.M. Hahn, J. Braun, I. Har-Kedar, Thermochemotherapy: synergism between hyperthermia (42-43 degrees) and adriamycin (of bleomycin) in mammalian cell inactivation, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 72 (1975) 937–940.
- [18] W.C. Dewey, L.E. Hopwood, S.A. Sapareto, L.E. Gerweck, Cellular responses to combinations of hyperthermia and radiation, Radiology 123 (1977) 463–474.
- [19] J.B. Marmor, N. Hahn, G.M. Hahn, Tumor cure and cell survival after localized radiofrequency heating, Cancer Res 37 (1977) 879–883.
- [20] D.E. Thrall, E.L. Gillette, W.C. Dewey, Effect of heat and ionizing radiation on normal and neoplastic tissue of the C3H mouse, Radiat Res 63 (1975) 363–377.
- [21] J. Fenn, M. Raskino, Mastering the hype cycle : how to choose the right innovation at the right time, Harvard Business Press, Boston, Mass., 2008
- [22] J.N. Weinstein, R.L. Magin, M.B. Yatvin, D.S. Zaharko, Liposomes and local hyperthermia: selective delivery of methotrexate to heated tumors, Science 204 (1979) 188–191.
- [23] J. Overgaard, Simultaneous and sequential hyperthermia and radiation treatment of an experimental tumor and its surrounding normal tissue in vivo, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 6 (1980) 1507–1517.
- [24] D.R. Ciocca, S.A. Fuqua, S. Lock-Lim, D.O. Toft, W.J. Welch, W.L. McGuire, Response of human breast cancer cells to heat shock and chemotherapeutic drugs, Cancer Res 52 (1992) 3648–3654.
- [25] A. Jordan, P. Wust, H. Fahling, W. John, A. Hinz, R. Felix, Inductive heating of ferrimagnetic particles and magnetic fluids: physical evaluation of their potential for hyperthermia, Int J Hyperthermia 9 (1993) 51–68.
- [26] K.A. Leopold, M. Dewhirst, T. Samulski, J. Harrelson, J.A. Tucker, S.L. George, R.K. Dodge, W. Grant, S. Clegg, L.R. Prosnitz, et al., Relationships among tumor temperature, treatment time, and histopathological outcome using preoperative

hyperthermia with radiation in soft tissue sarcomas, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 22 (1992) 989–998.

- [27] J.R. Oleson, T.V. Samulski, K.A. Leopold, S.T. Clegg, M.W. Dewhirst, R.K. Dodge, S.L. George, Sensitivity of hyperthermia trial outcomes to temperature and time: implications for thermal goals of treatment, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 25 (1993) 289–297.
- [28] A.C. Steger, W.R. Lees, K. Walmsley, S.G. Bown, Interstitial laser hyperthermia: a new approach to local destruction of tumours, BMJ 299 (1989) 362–365.
- [29] G. Kong, M.W. Dewhirst, Hyperthermia and liposomes, Int J Hyperthermia 15 (1999) 345–370.
- [30] G. Baronzio, G. Parmar, M. Baronzio, Overview of Methods for Overcoming Hindrance to Drug Delivery to Tumors, with Special Attention to Tumor Interstitial Fluid, Front Oncol 5 (2015) 165.
- [31] A.R. Tzafriri, E.R. Edelman, Convective and Diffusive Transport in Drug Delivery, in: Y.H. Bae, R.J. Mrsny, K. Park (Eds.), Cancer Targeted Drug Delivery: An Elusive Dream, Springer New York, New York, NY 2013, pp. 573–606.
- [32] R. Evans, G. Dal Poggetto, M. Nilsson, G.A. Morris, Improving the Interpretation of Small Molecule Diffusion Coefficients, Anal Chem 90 (2018) 3987–3994.
- [33] M.W. Dewhirst, T.W. Secomb, Transport of drugs from blood vessels to tumour tissue, Nat Rev Cancer 17 (2017) 738–750.
- [34] A.W. El-Kareh, T.W. Secomb, Theoretical models for drug delivery to solid tumors, Crit Rev Biomed Eng, 25 (1997) 503-571.
- [35] L. Miao, C.M. Lin, L. Huang, Stromal barriers and strategies for the delivery of nanomedicine to desmoplastic tumors, J Control Release 219 (2015) 192–204.
- [36] S. Stapleton, M.F. Milosevic, Pressure Gradients in Solid Tumors, in: Y.H. Bae, R.J. Mrsny, K. Park (Eds.), Cancer Targeted Drug Delivery: An Elusive Dream, Springer New York, New York, NY 2013, pp. 241–272.
- [37] M. Welter, H. Rieger, Interstitial fluid flow and drug delivery in vascularized tumors: a computational model, PLoS One 8 (2013), e70395.
- [38] Y. Boucher, L.T. Baxter, R.K. Jain, Interstitial pressure gradients in tissue-isolated and subcutaneous tumors: implications for therapy, Cancer Res 50 (1990) 4478–4484.
- [39] B. Rippe, B. Haraldsson, Transport of macromolecules across microvascular walls: the two-pore theory, Physiol Rev 74 (1994) 163–219.
- [40] E.A. Tansey, C.D. Johnson, Recent advances in thermoregulation, Adv Physiol Educ 39 (2015) 139–148.
- [41] N. Charkoudian, Skin blood flow in adult human thermoregulation: how it works, when it does not, and why, Mayo Clin Proc 78 (2003) 603–612.
- [42] H.H. Pennes, Analysis of tissue and arterial blood temperatures in the resting human forearm. 1948, J Appl Physiol (1985), 85 (1998) 5-34.
- [43] G. Hegyi, G.P. Szigeti, A. Szasz, Hyperthermia versus Oncothermia: Cellular Effects in Complementary Cancer Therapy, Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2013 (2013) 672873.
- [44] J. Patterson, R. Strang, The role of blood flow in hyperthermia, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 5 (1979) 235–241.
- [45] C.W. Song, S.H. Levitt, Vascular changes in Walker 256 carcinoma of rats following X irradiation, Radiology 100 (1971) 397–407.
- [46] C.W. Song, R.S. Anderson, J. Tabachnick, Early effects of beta irradiation on dermal vascular permeability to plasma proteins, Radiat Res 27 (1966) 604–615.
- [47] M.S. Kang, C.W. Song, The effect of hyperthermia on cell survival in a mouse tumour without bloodflow, Br J Radiol 53 (1980) 606–607.
- [48] M.S. Kang, C.W. Song, S.H. Levitt, Role of vascular function in response of tumors in vivo to hyperthermia, Cancer Res 40 (1980) 1130–1135.
- [49] C.W. Song, J.G. Rhee, S.H. Levitt, Blood flow in normal tissues and tumors during hyperthermia, J Natl Cancer Inst 64 (1980) 119–124.
- [50] C.W. Song, M.S. Kang, J.G. Rhee, S.H. Levitt, The effect of hyperthermia on vascular function, pH, and cell survival, Radiology 137 (1980) 795–803.
- [51] C.W. Song, M.S. Kang, J.G. Rhee, S.H. Levitt, Effect of hyperthermia on vascular function in normal and neoplastic tissues, Ann N Y Acad Sci 335 (1980) 35–47.
- [52] C.W. Song, M.S. Kang, J.C. Rhee, S.H. Levitt, Vascular damage and delayed cell death in tumours after hyperthermia, Br J Cancer 41 (1980) 309–312.
- [53] R.K. Jain, K. Ward-Hartley, Tumor Blood Flow-Characterization, Modifications, and Role in Hyperthermia, IEEE Transactions on Sonics and Ultrasonics 31 (1984) 504–525.
- [54] H.I. Bicher, F.W. Hetzel, T.S. Sandhu, S. Frinak, P. Vaupel, M.D. O'Hara, T. O'Brien, Effects of hyperthermia on normal and tumor microenvironment, Radiology 137 (1980) 523–530.
- [55] C.G. Crandall, J. Gonzalez-Alonso, Cardiovascular function in the heat-stressed human, Acta Physiol (Oxf) 199 (2010) 407–423.
- [56] M. von Ardenne, P.G. Reitnauer, Selective inhibition of microcirculation in tumor tissue, Naturwissenschaften 67 (1980) 154.
- [57] P.M. Gullino, Influence of blood supply on thermal properties and metabolism of mammary carcinomas, Ann N Y Acad Sci 335 (1980) 1–21.
- [58] D.S. Rappaport, C.W. Song, Blood flow and intravascular volume of mammary adenocarcinoma 13726A and normal tissues of rat during and following hyperthermia, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 9 (1983) 539–547.
- [59] J.A. Dickson, S.K. Calderwood, Temperature range and selective sensitivity of tumors to hyperthermia: a critical review, Ann N Y Acad Sci 335 (1980) 180–205.
- [60] Z. Vujaskovic, J.M. Poulson, A.A. Gaskin, D.E. Thrall, R.L. Page, H.C. Charles, J.R. MacFall, D.M. Brizel, R.E. Meyer, D.M. Prescott, T.V. Samulski, M.W. Dewhirst, Temperature-dependent changes in physiologic parameters of spontaneous canine soft tissue sarcomas after combined radiotherapy and hyperthermia treatment, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 46 (2000) 179–185.
- [61] P.B. Elming, B.S. Sorensen, A.L. Oei, N.A.P. Franken, J. Crezee, J. Overgaard, M.R. Horsman, Hyperthermia: The Optimal Treatment to Overcome Radiation Resistant Hypoxia, Cancers (Basel), 11, 2019.

- [62] G.C. van Rhoon, M. Franckena, T.L.M. Ten Hagen, A moderate thermal dose is sufficient for effective free and TSL based thermochemotherapy, Adv Drug Deliv Rev (2020)(In press).
- [63] S.A. Sapareto, W.C. Dewey, Thermal dose determination in cancer therapy, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 10 (1984) 787–800.
- [64] S.B. Field, N.M. Bleehen, Hyperthermia in the treatment of cancer, Cancer Treat Rev 6 (1979) 63–94.
- [65] S.B. Field, C.C. Morris, The relationship between heating time and temperature: its relevance to clinical hyperthermia, Radiother Oncol 1 (1983) 179–186.
- [66] G.C. van Rhoon, T. Samaras, P.S. Yarmolenko, M.W. Dewhirst, E. Neufeld, N. Kuster, CEM43 degrees C thermal dose thresholds: a potential guide for magnetic resonance radiofrequency exposure levels? Eur Radiol 23 (2013) 2215–2227.
- [67] G.C. van Rhoon, Is CEM43 still a relevant thermal dose parameter for hyperthermia treatment monitoring? Int J Hyperthermia 32 (2016) 50–62.
- [68] P.S. Yarmolenko, E.J. Moon, C. Landon, A. Manzoor, D.W. Hochman, B.L. Viglianti, M.W. Dewhirst, Thresholds for thermal damage to normal tissues: an update, Int J Hyperthermia 27 (2011) 320–343.
- [69] M.W. Dewhirst, Z. Vujaskovic, E. Jones, D. Thrall, Re-setting the biologic rationale for thermal therapy, Int J Hyperthermia 21 (2005) 779–790.
- [70] M. Dewhirst, J.F. Gross, D. Sim, P. Arnold, D. Boyer, The effect of rate of heating or cooling prior to heating on tumor and normal tissue microcirculatory blood flow, Biorheology 21 (1984) 539–558.
- [71] T.W. Secomb, Hemodynamics, Compr Physiol 6 (2016) 975–1003.
- [72] C. Manzotti, R.A. Audisio, G. Pratesi, Importance of orthotopic implantation for human tumors as model systems: relevance to metastasis and invasion, Clin Exp Metastasis 11 (1993) 5–14.
- [73] K. Nakano, T. Nishizawa, D. Komura, E. Fujii, M. Monnai, A. Kato, S.I. Funahashi, S. Ishikawa, M. Suzuki, Difference in morphology and interactome profiles between orthotopic and subcutaneous gastric cancer xenograft models, J Toxicol Pathol 31 (2018) 293–300.
- [74] A.R. Pries, M. Hopfner, F. le Noble, M.W. Dewhirst, T.W. Secomb, The shunt problem: control of functional shunting in normal and tumour vasculature, Nat Rev Cancer 10 (2010) 587–593.
- [75] H. Li, H. Cui, T.K. Kundu, W. Alzawahra, J.L. Zweier, Nitric oxide production from nitrite occurs primarily in tissues not in the blood: critical role of xanthine oxidase and aldehyde oxidase, J Biol Chem 283 (2008) 17855–17863.
- [76] K. Chen, R.N. Pittman, A.S. Popel, Nitric oxide in the vasculature: where does it come from and where does it go? A quantitative perspective, Antioxid Redox Signal 10 (2008) 1185–1198.
- [77] R.J. Griffin, A. Ogawa, B.W. Williams, C.W. Song, Hyperthermic enhancement of tumor radiosensitization strategies, Immunol Invest 34 (2005) 343–359.
- [78] J.A. Nagy, S.H. Chang, S.C. Shih, A.M. Dvorak, H.F. Dvorak, Heterogeneity of the tumor vasculature, Semin Thromb Hemost 36 (2010) 321–331.
- [79] P.W. Vaupel, D.K. Kelleher, Pathophysiological and vascular characteristics of tumours and their importance for hyperthermia: heterogeneity is the key issue, Int J Hyperthermia 26 (2010) 211–223.
- [80] D.K. Kelleher, T. Engel, P.W. Vaupel, Changes in microregional perfusion, oxygenation, ATP and lactate distribution in subcutaneous rat tumours upon water-filtered IR-A hyperthermia, Int J Hyperthermia 11 (1995) 241–255.
- [81] C.W. Song, H.J. Park, C.K. Lee, R. Griffin, Implications of increased tumor blood flow and oxygenation caused by mild temperature hyperthermia in tumor treatment, Int J Hyperthermia 21 (2005) 761–767.
- [82] H.J. Park, R.J. Griffin, S. Hui, S.H. Levitt, C.W. Song, Radiation-induced vascular damage in tumors: implications of vascular damage in ablative hypofractionated radiotherapy (SBRT and SRS), Radiat Res 177 (2012) 311–327.
- [83] N.A. Mayr, W.T. Yuh, V.A. Magnotta, J.C. Ehrhardt, J.A. Wheeler, J.I. Sorosky, C.S. Davis, B.C. Wen, D.D. Martin, R.E. Pelsang, R.E. Buller, L.W. Oberley, D.E. Mellenberg, D.H. Hussey, Tumor perfusion studies using fast magnetic resonance imaging technique in advanced cervical cancer: a new noninvasive predictive assay, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 36 (1996) 623–633.
- [84] O.V. Solesvik, E.K. Rofstad, T. Brustad, Vascular changes in a human malignant melanoma xenograft following single-dose irradiation, Radiat Res 98 (1984) 115–128.
- [85] A. Maeda, Y. Chen, J. Bu, H. Mujcic, B.G. Wouters, R.S. DaCosta, In Vivo Imaging Reveals Significant Tumor Vascular Dysfunction and Increased Tumor Hypoxia-Inducible Factor-1alpha Expression Induced by High Single-Dose Irradiation in a Pancreatic Tumor Model, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 97 (2017) 184–194.
- [86] R.P. Dings, B.W. Williams, C.W. Song, A.W. Griffioen, K.H. Mayo, R.J. Griffin, Anginex synergizes with radiation therapy to inhibit tumor growth by radiosensitizing endothelial cells, Int J Cancer 115 (2005) 312–319.
- [87] Y. Kuwahara, M. Mori, S. Kitahara, M. Fukumoto, T. Ezaki, S. Mori, S. Echigo, Y. Ohkubo, M. Fukumoto, Targeting of tumor endothelial cells combining 2 Gy/day of X-ray with Everolimus is the effective modality for overcoming clinically relevant radioresistant tumors, Cancer Med 3 (2014) 310–321.
- [88] M.W. Dewhirst, R. Oliver, C.Y. Tso, C. Gustafson, T. Secomb, J.F. Gross, Heterogeneity in tumor microvascular response to radiation, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 18 (1990) 559–568.
- [89] P. Sonveaux, C. Dessy, A. Brouet, B.F. Jordan, V. Gregoire, B. Gallez, J.L. Balligand, O. Feron, Modulation of the tumor vasculature functionality by ionizing radiation accounts for tumor radiosensitization and promotes gene delivery, FASEB J 16 (2002) 1979–1981.
- [90] F. Hu, K. Vishwanath, J.K. Salama, A. Erkanli, B. Peterson, J.R. Oleson, W.T. Lee, D.M. Brizel, N. Ramanujam, M.W. Dewhirst, Oxygen and Perfusion Kinetics in Response to Fractionated Radiation Therapy in FaDu Head and Neck Cancer Xenografts Are Related to Treatment Outcome, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 96 (2016) 462–469.

- [91] I.F. Tannock, C.M. Lee, J.K. Tunggal, D.S. Cowan, M.J. Egorin, Limited penetration of anticancer drugs through tumor tissue: a potential cause of resistance of solid tumors to chemotherapy, Clin Cancer Res 8 (2002) 878–884.
- [92] M.R. Dreher, W. Liu, C.R. Michelich, M.W. Dewhirst, F. Yuan, A. Chilkoti, Tumor vascular permeability, accumulation, and penetration of macromolecular drug carriers, J Natl Cancer Inst 98 (2006) 335–344.
- [93] X. Sun, X.F. Li, J. Russell, L. Xing, M. Urano, G.C. Li, J.L. Humm, C.C. Ling, Changes in tumor hypoxia induced by mild temperature hyperthermia as assessed by dualtracer immunohistochemistry, Radiother Oncol 88 (2008) 269–276.
- [94] P.L. Ausmus, A.V. Wilke, D.L. Frazier, Effects of hyperthermia on blood flow and cisdiamminedichloroplatinum(II) pharmacokinetics in murine mammary adenocarcinomas, Cancer Res 52 (1992) 4965–4968.
- [95] Z.H. Siddik, D.R. Newell, F.E. Boxall, K.R. Harrap, The comparative pharmacokinetics of carboplatin and cisplatin in mice and rats, Biochem Pharmacol 36 (1987) 1925–1932.
- [96] C.D. Landon, S.E. Benjamin, K.A. Ashcraft, M.W. Dewhirst, A role for the copper transporter Ctr1 in the synergistic interaction between hyperthermia and cisplatin treatment, Int J Hyperthermia 29 (2013) 528–538.
- [97] S. Azzi, J.K. Hebda, J. Gavard, Vascular permeability and drug delivery in cancers, Front Oncol 3 (2013) 211.
- [98] X. Liu, J. Jiang, H. Meng, Transcytosis An effective targeting strategy that is complementary to "EPR effect" for pancreatic cancer nano drug delivery, Theranostics 9 (2019) 8018–8025.
- [99] D. Feng, J.A. Nagy, J. Hipp, H.F. Dvorak, A.M. Dvorak, Vesiculo-vacuolar organelles and the regulation of venule permeability to macromolecules by vascular permeability factor, histamine, and serotonin, J Exp Med 183 (1996) 1981–1986.
- [100] D.R. Senger, S.J. Galli, A.M. Dvorak, C.A. Perruzzi, V.S. Harvey, H.F. Dvorak, Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid, Science 219 (1983) 983–985.
- [101] F. Morfoisse, E. Renaud, F. Hantelys, A.C. Prats, B. Garmy-Susini, Role of hypoxia and vascular endothelial growth factors in lymphangiogenesis, Mol Cell Oncol 2 (2015), e1024821.
- [102] E. Dejana, E. Tournier-Lasserve, B.M. Weinstein, The control of vascular integrity by endothelial cell junctions: molecular basis and pathological implications, Dev Cell 16 (2009) 209–221.
- [103] T. Dalkara, L. Alarcon-Martinez, Cerebral microvascular pericytes and neurogliovascular signaling in health and disease, Brain Res 1623 (2015) 3–17.
- [104] S. Morikawa, P. Baluk, T. Kaidoh, A. Haskell, R.K. Jain, D.M. McDonald, Abnormalities in pericytes on blood vessels and endothelial sprouts in tumors, Am J Pathol 160 (2002) 985–1000.
- [105] M.G. Ozawa, V.J. Yao, Y.H. Chanthery, P. Troncoso, A. Uemura, A.S. Varner, I.M. Kasman, R. Pasqualini, W. Arap, D.M. McDonald, Angiogenesis with pericyte abnormalities in a transgenic model of prostate carcinoma, Cancer 104 (2005) 2104–2115.
- [106] K.D. Barlow, A.M. Sanders, S. Soker, S. Ergun, L.J. Metheny-Barlow, Pericytes on the tumor vasculature: jekyll or hyde? Cancer Microenviron 6 (2013) 1–17.
- [107] H. Singh, T.A. Tahir, D.O. Alawo, E. Issa, N.P. Brindle, Molecular control of angiopoietin signalling, Biochem Soc Trans 39 (2011) 1592–1596.
- [108] R.G. Akwii, M.S. Sajib, F.T. Zahra, C.M. Mikelis, Role of Angiopoietin-2 in Vascular Physiology and Pathophysiology, Cells, 8, 2019.
- [109] M.G. Lampugnani, M. Resnati, M. Raiteri, R. Pigott, A. Pisacane, G. Houen, L.P. Ruco, E. Dejana, A novel endothelial-specific membrane protein is a marker of cell-cell contacts, J Cell Biol 118 (1992) 1511–1522.
- [110] S.S. Rho, K. Ando, S. Fukuhara, Dynamic Regulation of Vascular Permeability by Vascular Endothelial Cadherin-Mediated Endothelial Cell-Cell Junctions, J Nippon Med Sch 84 (2017) 148–159.
- [111] J. Gavard, J.S. Gutkind, VEGF controls endothelial-cell permeability by promoting the beta-arrestin-dependent endocytosis of VE-cadherin, Nat Cell Biol 8 (2006) 1223–1234.
- [112] J. Garcia-Roman, A. Zentella-Dehesa, Vascular permeability changes involved in tumor metastasis, Cancer Lett 335 (2013) 259–269.
- [113] Q. Chen, A. Krol, A. Wright, D. Needham, M.W. Dewhirst, F. Yuan, Tumor microvascular permeability is a key determinant for antivascular effects of doxorubicin encapsulated in a temperature sensitive liposome, Int J Hyperthermia 24 (2008) 475–482.
- [114] S. Sindhwani, A.M. Syed, J. Ngai, B.R. Kingston, L. Maiorino, J. Rothschild, P. MacMillan, Y. Zhang, N.U. Rajesh, T. Hoang, J.L.Y. Wu, S. Wilhelm, A. Zilman, S. Gadde, A. Sulaiman, B. Ouyang, Z. Lin, L. Wang, M. Egeblad, W.C.W. Chan, The entry of nanoparticles into solid tumours, Nat Mater 19 (2020) 566–575, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41563-019-0566-2.
- [115] A.W. Wong, B.Z. Fite, Y. Liu, A. Kheirolomoom, J.W. Seo, K.D. Watson, L.M. Mahakian, S.M. Tam, H. Zhang, J. Foiret, A.D. Borowsky, K.W. Ferrara, Ultrasound ablation enhances drug accumulation and survival in mammary carcinoma models, J Clin Invest 126 (2016) 99–111.
- [116] Y. Matsumura, H. Maeda, A new concept for macromolecular therapeutics in cancer chemotherapy: mechanism of tumoritropic accumulation of proteins and the antitumor agent smancs, Cancer Res 46 (1986) 6387–6392.
- [117] H. Maeda, Toward a full understanding of the EPR effect in primary and metastatic tumors as well as issues related to its heterogeneity, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 91 (2015) 3–6.
- [118] S. Wilhelm, A.J. Tavares, Q. Dai, S. Ohta, J. Audet, H.F. Dvorak, W.C.W. Chan, Analysis of nanoparticle delivery to tumours, Nature Reviews Materials 1 (2016) 16014.
- [119] D. Rosenblum, N. Joshi, W. Tao, J.M. Karp, D. Peer, Progress and challenges towards targeted delivery of cancer therapeutics, Nat Commun 9 (2018) 1410.

- [120] K.M. Laginha, S. Verwoert, G.J. Charrois, T.M. Allen, Determination of doxorubicin levels in whole tumor and tumor nuclei in murine breast cancer tumors, Clin Cancer Res 11 (2005) 6944–6949.
- [121] K.J. Harrington, S. Mohammadtaghi, P.S. Uster, D. Glass, A.M. Peters, R.G. Vile, J.S. Stewart, Effective targeting of solid tumors in patients with locally advanced cancers by radiolabeled pegylated liposomes, Clin Cancer Res 7 (2001) 243–254.
- [122] A.L. Kleschyov, M. Oelze, A. Daiber, Y. Huang, H. Mollnau, E. Schulz, K. Sydow, B. Fichtlscherer, A. Mulsch, T. Munzel, Does nitric oxide mediate the vasodilator activity of nitroglycerin? Circ Res 93 (2003) e104–e112.
- [123] Y. Chen, W. Song, L. Shen, N. Qiu, M. Hu, Y. Liu, Q. Liu, L. Huang, Vasodilator Hydralazine Promotes Nanoparticle Penetration in Advanced Desmoplastic Tumors, ACS Nano 13 (2019) 1751–1763.
- [124] G. Wei, Y. Wang, X. Huang, G. Yang, J. Zhao, S. Zhou, Enhancing the Accumulation of Polymer Micelles by Selectively Dilating Tumor Blood Vessels with NO for Highly Effective Cancer Treatment, Adv Healthc Mater 7 (2018), e1801094.
- [125] A. Dhaliwal, G. Zheng, Improving accessibility of EPR-insensitive tumor phenotypes using EPR-adaptive strategies: Designing a new perspective in nanomedicine delivery, Theranostics 9 (2019) 8091–8108.
- [126] T. Ojha, V. Pathak, Y. Shi, W.E. Hennink, C.T.W. Moonen, G. Storm, F. Kiessling, T. Lammers, Pharmacological and physical vessel modulation strategies to improve EPR-mediated drug targeting to tumors, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 119 (2017) 44–60.
- [127] B. Chen, M. Zhou, L.X. Xu, Study of vascular endothelial cell morphology during hyperthermia, Journal of Thermal Biology 30 (2005) 111–117.
- [128] D. Fukumura, T. Gohongi, A. Kadambi, Y. Izumi, J. Ang, C.O. Yun, D.G. Buerk, P.L. Huang, R.K. Jain, Predominant role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in vascular endothelial growth factor-induced angiogenesis and vascular permeability, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98 (2001) 2604–2609.
- [129] T. Hatakeyama, P.J. Pappas, R.W. Hobson 2nd, M.P. Boric, W.C. Sessa, W.N. Duran, Endothelial nitric oxide synthase regulates microvascular hyperpermeability in vivo, J Physiol 574 (2006) 275–281.
- [130] D. Predescu, S. Predescu, J. Shimizu, K. Miyawaki-Shimizu, A.B. Malik, Constitutive eNOS-derived nitric oxide is a determinant of endothelial junctional integrity, Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 289 (2005) L371–L381.
- [131] G. Kong, R.D. Braun, M.W. Dewhirst, Hyperthermia enables tumor-specific nanoparticle delivery: effect of particle size, Cancer Res 60 (2000) 4440–4445.
- [132] D.K. Kirui, E.J. Koay, X. Guo, V. Cristini, H. Shen, M. Ferrari, Tumor vascular permeabilization using localized mild hyperthermia to improve macromolecule transport, Nanomedicine 10 (2014) 1487–1496.
- [133] M.N. Hosono, M. Hosono, K. Endo, R. Ueda, Y. Onoyama, Effect of hyperthermia on tumor uptake of radiolabeled anti-neural cell adhesion molecule antibody in small-cell lung cancer xenografts, J Nucl Med 35 (1994) 504–509.
- [134] D.A. Cope, M.W. Dewhirst, H.S. Friedman, D.D. Bigner, M.R. Zalutsky, Enhanced delivery of a monoclonal antibody F(ab')2 fragment to subcutaneous human glioma xenografts using local hyperthermia, Cancer Res 50 (1990) 1803–1809.
- [135] J.M. Schuster, M.R. Zalutsky, M.A. Noska, R. Dodge, H.S. Friedman, D.D. Bigner, M.W. Dewhirst, Hyperthermic modulation of radiolabelled antibody uptake in a human glioma xenograft and normal tissues, Int J Hyperthermia 11 (1995) 59–72.
- [136] M.L. Hauck, M.W. Dewhirst, D.D. Bigner, M.R. Zalutsky, Local hyperthermia improves uptake of a chimeric monoclonal antibody in a subcutaneous xenograft model, Clin Cancer Res 3 (1997) 63–70.
- [137] M.L. Hauck, D.O. Coffin, R.K. Dodge, M.W. Dewhirst, J.B. Mitchell, M.R. Zalutsky, A local hyperthermia treatment which enhances antibody uptake in a glioma xenograft model does not affect tumour interstitial fluid pressure, Int J Hyperthermia 13 (1997) 307–316.
- [138] C.W. Song, S.H. Levitt, Quantitative study of vascularity in Walker carcinoma 256, Cancer Res 31 (1971) 587–589.
- [139] C. Song, H.J. Park, N. Tanaka, H.J. Kwak, M.J. Park, S.H. Levitt, Implication of Vascular Damage in the Response of Tumors to Ablative High-dose Radiotherapy, International Journal of Radiation Oncology • Biology • Physics 75 (2009) S567.
- [140] C. Li, S. Ke, Q.P. Wu, W. Tansey, N. Hunter, L.M. Buchmiller, L. Milas, C. Charnsangavej, S. Wallace, Tumor irradiation enhances the tumor-specific distribution of poly(L-glutamic acid)-conjugated paclitaxel and its antitumor efficacy, Clin Cancer Res 6 (2000) 2829–2834.
- [141] L. Davies Cde, L.M. Lundstrom, J. Frengen, L. Eikenes, S.O. Bruland, O. Kaalhus, M.H. Hjelstuen, C. Brekken, Radiation improves the distribution and uptake of liposomal doxorubicin (caelyx) in human osteosarcoma xenografts, Cancer Res 64 (2004) 547–553.
- [142] M. Hockel, P. Vaupel, Tumor hypoxia: definitions and current clinical, biologic, and molecular aspects, J Natl Cancer Inst 93 (2001) 266–276.
- [143] M. Sarkar, N. Niranjan, P.K. Banyal, Mechanisms of hypoxemia, Lung India 34 (2017) 47-60.
- [144] LI. Cardenas-Navia, R.A. Richardson, M.W. Dewhirst, Targeting the molecular effects of a hypoxic tumor microenvironment, Front Biosci 12 (2007) 4061–4078.
- [145] P. Vaupel, F. Kallinowski, P. Okunieff, Blood flow, oxygen and nutrient supply, and metabolic microenvironment of human tumors: a review, Cancer Res 49 (1989) 6449–6465
- [146] D.M. Gilkes, G.L. Semenza, D. Wirtz, Hypoxia and the extracellular matrix: drivers of tumour metastasis, Nat Rev Cancer 14 (2014) 430–439.
- [147] N. Chaudary, R.P. Hill, Hypoxia and metastasis, Clin Cancer Res 13 (2007) 1947–1949.
- [148] M.W. Dewhirst, Mechanisms underlying hypoxia development in tumors, Adv Exp Med Biol 510 (2003) 51–56.
- [149] M. Koritzinsky, B.G. Wouters, The roles of reactive oxygen species and autophagy in mediating the tolerance of tumor cells to cycling hypoxia, Semin Radiat Oncol 23 (2013) 252–261.

- [150] M.W. Dewhirst, Y. Cao, B. Moeller, Cycling hypoxia and free radicals regulate angiogenesis and radiotherapy response, Nat Rev Cancer 8 (2008) 425–437.
- [151] H. Kimura, R.D. Braun, E.T. Ong, R. Hsu, T.W. Secomb, D. Papahadjopoulos, K. Hong, M.W. Dewhirst, Fluctuations in red cell flux in tumor microvessels can lead to transient hypoxia and reoxygenation in tumor parenchyma, Cancer Res 56 (1996) 5522–5528.
- [152] G.M. Tozer, C. Kanthou, B.C. Baguley, Disrupting tumour blood vessels, Nat Rev Cancer 5 (2005) 423–435.
- [153] E. Ortiz-Prado, J.F. Dunn, J. Vasconez, D. Castillo, G. Viscor, Partial pressure of oxygen in the human body: a general review, Am J Blood Res 9 (2019) 1–14.
- [154] A. Wouters, B. Pauwels, F. Lardon, J.B. Vermorken, Review: implications of in vitro research on the effect of radiotherapy and chemotherapy under hypoxic conditions, Oncologist 12 (2007) 690–712.
- [155] A. Fyles, M. Milosevic, D. Hedley, M. Pintilie, W. Levin, L. Manchul, R.P. Hill, Tumor hypoxia has independent predictor impact only in patients with node-negative cervix cancer, J Clin Oncol 20 (2002) 680–687.
- [156] M.W. Dewhirst, E.T. Ong, G.L. Rosner, S.W. Rehmus, S. Shan, R.D. Braun, D.M. Brizel, T.W. Secomb, Arteriolar oxygenation in tumour and subcutaneous arterioles: effects of inspired air oxygen content, Br J Cancer Suppl 27 (1996) S241–S246.
- [157] S. De Bruycker, C. Vangestel, S. Staelens, T. Van den Wyngaert, S. Stroobants, How to Modulate Tumor Hypoxia for Preclinical In Vivo Imaging Research, Contrast Media Mol Imaging 2018 (2018) 4608186.
- [158] The Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine 2019., in, Nobel Media AB, NobelPrize. org, 2020.
- [159] T.G. Smith, P.A. Robbins, P.J. Ratcliffe, The human side of hypoxia-inducible factor, Br J Haematol 141 (2008) 325–334.
- [160] S. Rey, G.L. Semenza, Hypoxia-inducible factor-1-dependent mechanisms of vascularization and vascular remodelling, Cardiovasc Res 86 (2010) 236–242.
- [161] G.L. Semenza, HIF-1 mediates metabolic responses to intratumoral hypoxia and oncogenic mutations, J Clin Invest 123 (2013) 3664–3671.
- [162] F. Jin, U. Brockmeier, F. Otterbach, E. Metzen, New insight into the SDF-1/CXCR4 axis in a breast carcinoma model: hypoxia-induced endothelial SDF-1 and tumor cell CXCR4 are required for tumor cell intravasation, Mol Cancer Res 10 (2012) 1021–1031.
- [163] E.B. Rankin, A.J. Giaccia, Hypoxic control of metastasis, Science 352 (2016) 175–180.
- [164] J. Mathieu, Z. Zhang, W. Zhou, A.J. Wang, J.M. Heddleston, C.M. Pinna, A. Hubaud, B. Stadler, M. Choi, M. Bar, M. Tewari, A. Liu, R. Vessella, R. Rostomily, D. Born, M. Horwitz, C. Ware, C.A. Blau, M.A. Cleary, J.N. Rich, H. Ruohola-Baker, HIF induces human embryonic stem cell markers in cancer cells, Cancer Res 71 (2011) 4640–4652.
- [165] A.L. Doedens, C. Stockmann, M.P. Rubinstein, D. Liao, N. Zhang, D.G. DeNardo, L.M. Coussens, M. Karin, A.W. Goldrath, R.S. Johnson, Macrophage expression of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha suppresses T-cell function and promotes tumor progression, Cancer Res 70 (2010) 7465–7475.
- [166] L. Schito, G.L. Semenza, Hypoxia-Inducible Factors: Master Regulators of Cancer Progression, Trends Cancer 2 (2016) 758–770.
- [167] H. Tharmalingham, P. Hoskin, Clinical trials targeting hypoxia, Br J Radiol 20170966 (2018).
- [168] M.W. Dewhirst, Y.M. Mowery, J.B. Mitchell, M.K. Cherukuri, T.W. Secomb, Rationale for hypoxia assessment and amelioration for precision therapy and immunotherapy studies, J Clin Invest 129 (2019) 489–491.
- [169] D.A. Jaffray, M.K. Gospodarowicz, Radiation Therapy for Cancer, in: H. Gelband, P. Jha, R. Sankaranarayanan, S. Horton (Eds.) Cancer: Disease Control Priorities, Third Edition (Volume 3), Washington (DC), 2015.
- [170] O. Mohamad, B.J. Sishc, J. Saha, A. Pompos, A. Rahimi, M.D. Story, A.J. Davis, D.W.N. Kim, Carbon Ion Radiotherapy: A Review of Clinical Experiences and Preclinical Research, with an Emphasis on DNA Damage/Repair, Cancers (Basel), 9, 2017.
- [171] W.P. Levin, H. Kooy, J.S. Loeffler, T.F. DeLaney, Proton beam therapy, Br J Cancer 93 (2005) 849–854.
- [172] H. Iwata, H. Ogino, S. Hashimoto, M. Iwana, H. Shibata, Y. Keisuke, T. Toshito, C. Omachi, K. Tatekawa, Y. Manabe, J. Mizoe, Y. Shibamoto, Oxygen Enhancement Ratio of Proton Beams: The Precise Report of the Same Institution's Experiments Using the Clinical Equipments, International Journal of Radiation Oncology*Biology*Physics 90 (2014) S779.
- [173] M.D. Sevilla, D. Becker, A. Kumar, A. Adhikary, Gamma and Ion-Beam Irradiation of DNA: Free Radical Mechanisms, Electron Effects, and Radiation Chemical Track Structure, Radiat Phys Chem Oxf Engl 1993 (128) (2016) 60–74.
- [174] E.J. Hall, A.J. Giaccia, Radiobiology for the radiologist, Eighth edition. ed, Wolters Kluwer, Philadelphia, 2019.
- [175] P. Ebbesen, E.O. Pettersen, T.A. Gorr, G. Jobst, K. Williams, J. Kieninger, R.H. Wenger, S. Pastorekova, L. Dubois, P. Lambin, B.G. Wouters, T. Van Den Beucken, C.T. Supuran, L. Poellinger, P. Ratcliffe, A. Kanopka, A. Gorlach, M. Gasmann, A.L. Harris, P. Maxwell, A. Scozzafava, Taking advantage of tumor cell adaptations to hypoxia for developing new tumor markers and treatment strategies, J Enzyme Inhib Med Chem 24 (Suppl. 1) (2009) 1–39.
- [176] C. Peitzsch, R. Perrin, R.P. Hill, A. Dubrovska, I. Kurth, Hypoxia as a biomarker for radioresistant cancer stem cells, Int J Radiat Biol 90 (2014) 636–652.
- [177] J. Kruuv, W.K. Sinclair, X-ray sensitivity of synchronized Chinese hamster cells irradiated during hypoxia, Radiat Res 36 (1968) 45–54.
- [178] M.A. Shenoy, J.C. Asquith, G.E. Adams, B.D. Micheal, M.E. Watts, Time-resolved oxygen effects in irradiated bacteria and mammalian cells: a rapid-mix study, Radiat Res 62 (1975) 498–512.
- [179] T. Wenzl, J.J. Wilkens, Modelling of the oxygen enhancement ratio for ion beam radiation therapy, Phys Med Biol 56 (2011) 3251–3268.

- [180] D.R. Collingridge, S. Rockwell, Pentoxifylline improves the oxygenation and radiation response of BA1112 rat rhabdomyosarcomas and EMT6 mouse mammary carcinomas, Int J Cancer 90 (2000) 256–264.
- [181] D.W. Siemann, R.P. Hill, R.S. Bush, The importance of the pre-irradiation breathing times of oxygen and carbogen (5% CO2: 95% O2) on the in vivo radiation response of a murine sarcoma, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2 (1977) 903–911.
- [182] D.J. Chaplin, M.R. Horsman, D.W. Siemann, Further evaluation of nicotinamide and carbogen as a strategy to reoxygenate hypoxic cells in vivo: importance of nicotinamide dose and pre-irradiation breathing time, Br J Cancer 68 (1993) 269–273.
- [183] J. Overgaard, Hypoxic radiosensitization: adored and ignored, J Clin Oncol 25 (2007) 4066–4074.
- [184] M.R. Horsman, J. Overgaard, The impact of hypoxia and its modification of the outcome of radiotherapy, J Radiat Res 57 (Suppl. 1) (2016) i90–i98.
- [185] L. Milane, Z. Duan, M. Amiji, Role of hypoxia and glycolysis in the development of multi-drug resistance in human tumor cells and the establishment of an orthotopic multi-drug resistant tumor model in nude mice using hypoxic pre-conditioning, Cancer Cell Int 11 (2011) 3.
- [186] A.I. Minchinton, I.F. Tannock, Drug penetration in solid tumours, Nat Rev Cancer 6 (2006) 583–592.
- [187] R.E. Durand, J.A. Raleigh, Identification of nonproliferating but viable hypoxic tumor cells in vivo, Cancer Res 58 (1998) 3547–3550.
- [188] J.M. Brown, A.J. Giaccia, The unique physiology of solid tumors: opportunities (and problems) for cancer therapy, Cancer Res 58 (1998) 1408–1416.
- [189] G.J. Weiss, J.R. Infante, E.G. Chiorean, M.J. Borad, J.C. Bendell, J.R. Molina, R. Tibes, R.K. Ramanathan, K. Lewandowski, S.F. Jones, M.E. Lacouture, V.K. Langmuir, H. Lee, S. Kroll, H.A. Burris 3rd, Phase 1 study of the safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of TH-302, a hypoxia-activated prodrug, in patients with advanced solid malignancies, Clin Cancer Res 17 (2011) 2997–3004.
- [190] L. Spiegelberg, R. Houben, R. Niemans, D. de Ruysscher, A. Yaromina, J. Theys, C.P. Guise, J.B. Smaill, A.V. Patterson, P. Lambin, L.J. Dubois, Hypoxia-activated prodrugs and (lack of) clinical progress: The need for hypoxia-based biomarker patient selection in phase III clinical trials, Clin Transl Radiat Oncol 15 (2019) 62–69.
- [191] S. Rockwell, I.T. Dobrucki, E.Y. Kim, S.T. Marrison, V.T. Vu, Hypoxia and radiation therapy: past history, ongoing research, and future promise, Curr Mol Med 9 (2009) 442–458.
- [192] P. Wardman, Nitroimidazoles as hypoxic cell radiosensitizers and hypoxia probes: misonidazole, myths and mistakes, Br J Radiol 20170915 (2018).
- [193] J. Overgaard, M.R. Horsman, Modification of Hypoxia-Induced Radioresistance in Tumors by the Use of Oxygen and Sensitizers, Semin Radiat Oncol 6 (1996) 10–21.
- [194] S.H. Kim, J.H. Kim, E.Q. Hahn, Letter: Enhanced killing of hypoxic tumour cells by hyperthemia, Br J Radiol 48 (1975) 872–874.
- [195] L.E. Gerweck, E.L. Gillette, W.C. Dewey, Killing of Chinese hamster cells in vitro by heating under hypoxic or aerobic conditions, Eur J Cancer 10 (1974) 691–693.
- [196] J. Overgaard, C. Grau, J.C. Lindegaard, M.R. Horsman, The potential of using hyperthermia to eliminate radioresistant hypoxic cells, Radiother Oncol 20 (Suppl. 1) (1991) 113–116.
- [197] W.C. Dewey, Arrhenius relationships from the molecule and cell to the clinic, Int J Hyperthermia 25 (2009) 3–20.
- [198] J.L. Roti Roti, H.H. Kampinga, R.S. Malyapa, W.D. Wright, R.P. VanderWaal, M. Xu, Nuclear matrix as a target for hyperthermic killing of cancer cells, Cell Stress Chaperones, 3 (1998) 245-255.
- [199] B.V. Harmon, A.M. Corder, R.J. Collins, G.C. Gobe, J. Allen, D.J. Allan, J.F. Kerr, Cell death induced in a murine mastocytoma by 42-47 degrees C heating in vitro: evidence that the form of death changes from apoptosis to necrosis above a critical heat load, Int J Radiat Biol 58 (1990) 845–858.
- [200] L.E. Gerweck, T.G. Nygaard, M. Burlett, Response of cells to hyperthermia under acute and chronic hypoxic conditions, Cancer Res 39 (1979) 966–972.
- [201] J. Overgaard, P. Bichel, The influence of hypoxia and acidity on the hyperthermic response of malignant cells in vitro, Radiology 123 (1977) 511–514.
- [202] K. Izuishi, K. Kato, T. Ogura, T. Kinoshita, H. Esumi, Remarkable tolerance of tumor cells to nutrient deprivation: possible new biochemical target for cancer therapy, Cancer Res 60 (2000) 6201–6207.
- [203] R.J. Gillies, Causes and consequences of hypoxia and acidity in tumors-Novartis Foundation symposium, Trends Mol Med 7 (2001) 47-49.
- [204] M.R. Horsman, Tissue physiology and the response to heat, Int J Hyperthermia 22 (2006) 197–203.
- [205] B.V. Kliucharev, V.G. Kuz'min, I.S. Osipov, I. Chupin, Radioisotope scanning in the diagnosis of kidney tumors, Vopr Onkol 15 (1969) 21–26.
- [206] H.H. Kampinga, E. Dikomey, Hyperthermic radiosensitization: mode of action and clinical relevance, Int J Radiat Biol 77 (2001) 399–408.
- [207] J.L. Roti Roti, Introduction: radiosensitization by hyperthermia, Int J Hyperthermia 20 (2004) 109–114.
- [208] G.C. Li, H.B. Kal, Effect of hyperthermia on the radiation response of two mammalian cell lines, Eur J Cancer 13 (1977) 65–69.
- [209] A.L. Oei, L.E. Vriend, J. Crezee, N.A. Franken, P.M. Krawczyk, Effects of hyperthermia on DNA repair pathways: one treatment to inhibit them all, Radiat Oncol 10 (2015) 165.
- [210] K. Iwata, A. Shakil, W.J. Hur, C.M. Makepeace, R.J. Griffin, C.W. Song, Tumour pO2 can be increased markedly by mild hyperthermia, Br J Cancer Suppl 27 (1996) S217–S221.
- [211] W.C. Dewey, D.E. Thrall, E.L. Gillette, Hyperthermia and radiation–a selective thermal effect on chronically hypoxic tumor cells in vivo, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2 (1977) 99–103.
- [212] M.R. Horsman, D.J. Chaplin, J. Overgaard, Combination of nicotinamide and hyperthermia to eliminate radioresistant chronically and acutely hypoxic tumor cells, Cancer Res 50 (1990) 7430–7436.

- [213] M.R. Horsman, J. Overgaard, Hyperthermia: a potent enhancer of radiotherapy, Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 19 (2007) 418–426.
- [214] R.J. Griffin, K. Okajima, A. Ogawa, C.W. Song, Radiosensitization of two murine tumours with mild temperature hyperthermia and carbogen breathing, Int J Radiat Biol 75 (1999) 1299–1306.
- [215] D.E. Thrall, S.M. Larue, A.F. Pruitt, B. Case, M.W. Dewhirst, Changes in tumour oxygenation during fractionated hyperthermia and radiation therapy in spontaneous canine sarcomas, Int J Hyperthermia 22 (2006) 365–373.
- [216] D.E. Thrall, P. Maccarini, P. Stauffer, J. Macfall, M. Hauck, S. Snyder, B. Case, K. Linder, L. Lan, L. McCall, M.W. Dewhirst, Thermal dose fractionation affects tumour physiological response, Int J Hyperthermia 28 (2012) 431–440.
- [217] J.J. Fischer, S. Rockwell, D.F. Martin, Perfluorochemicals and hyperbaric oxygen in radiation therapy, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 12 (1986) 95–102.
- [218] D.R. Spahn, R. Kocian, Artificial O2 carriers: status in 2005, Curr Pharm Des 11 (2005) 4099-4114.
- [219] S. Rockwell, M. Kelley, RSR13, a synthetic allosteric modifier of hemoglobin, as an adjunct to radiotherapy: preliminary studies with EMT6 cells and tumors and normal tissues in mice, Radiat Oncol Investig 6 (1998) 199–208.
- [220] J.H. Suh, B. Stea, A. Nabid, J.J. Kresl, A. Fortin, J.P. Mercier, N. Senzer, E.L. Chang, A.P. Boyd, P.J. Cagnoni, E. Shaw, Phase III study of efaproxiral as an adjunct to wholebrain radiation therapy for brain metastases, J Clin Oncol 24 (2006) 106–114.
- [221] M.W. Dewhirst, A potential solution for eliminating hypoxia as a cause for radioresistance, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115 (2018) 10548–10550.
- [222] V.E. Zannella, A. Dal Pra, H. Muaddi, T.D. McKee, S. Stapleton, J. Sykes, R. Glicksman, S. Chaib, P. Zamiara, M. Milosevic, B.G. Wouters, R.G. Bristow, M. Koritzinsky, Reprogramming metabolism with metformin improves tumor oxygenation and radiotherapy response, Clin Cancer Res 19 (2013) 6741–6750.
- [223] M. Benej, X. Hong, S. Vibhute, S. Scott, J. Wu, E. Graves, Q.T. Le, A.C. Koong, A.J. Giaccia, B. Yu, C.S. Chen, I. Papandreou, N.C. Denko, Papaverine and its derivatives radiosensitize solid tumors by inhibiting mitochondrial metabolism, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 115 (2018) 10756–10761.
- [224] J. Folkman, Tumor angiogenesis: therapeutic implications, N Engl J Med 285 (1971) 1182–1186.
- [225] D. Hanahan, J. Folkman, Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis, Cell 86 (1996) 353–364.
- [226] J. Holash, P.C. Maisonpierre, D. Compton, P. Boland, C.R. Alexander, D. Zagzag, G.D. Yancopoulos, S.J. Wiegand, Vessel cooption, regression, and growth in tumors mediated by angiopoietins and VEGF, Science 284 (1999) 1994–1998.
- [227] P. Carmeliet, V. Ferreira, G. Breier, S. Pollefeyt, L. Kieckens, M. Gertsenstein, M. Fahrig, A. Vandenhoeck, K. Harpal, C. Eberhardt, C. Declercq, J. Pawling, L. Moons, D. Collen, W. Risau, A. Nagy, Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele, Nature 380 (1996) 435–439.
- [228] N. Ferrara, H.P. Gerber, J. LeCouter, The biology of VEGF and its receptors, Nat Med 9 (2003) 669–676.
- [229] D. Hanahan, R.A. Weinberg, The hallmarks of cancer, Cell 100 (2000) 57-70.
- [230] R.K. Jain, Normalization of tumor vasculature: an emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy, Science 307 (2005) 58–62.
- [231] S. Goel, A.H. Wong, R.K. Jain, Vascular normalization as a therapeutic strategy for malignant and nonmalignant disease, Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2 (2012) a006486.
- [232] W. Li, Y.Y. Quan, Y. Li, L. Lu, M. Cui, Monitoring of tumor vascular normalization: the key points from basic research to clinical application, Cancer Manag Res 10 (2018) 4163–4172.
- [233] B.A. Teicher, S.A. Holden, G. Ara, N.P. Dupuis, F. Liu, J. Yuan, M. Ikebe, Y. Kakeji, Influence of an anti-angiogenic treatment on 9L gliosarcoma: oxygenation and response to cytotoxic therapy, Int J Cancer 61 (1995) 732–737.
- [234] C.G. Lee, M. Heijn, E. di Tomaso, G. Griffon-Etienne, M. Ancukiewicz, C. Koike, K.R. Park, N. Ferrara, R.K. Jain, H.D. Suit, Y. Boucher, Anti-Vascular endothelial growth factor treatment augments tumor radiation response under normoxic or hypoxic conditions, Cancer Res 60 (2000) 5565–5570.
- [235] J.C. Doloff, N. Khan, J. Ma, E. Demidenko, H.M. Swartz, Y. Jounaidi, Increased tumor oxygenation and drug uptake during anti-angiogenic weekly low dose cyclophosphamide enhances the anti-tumor effect of weekly tirapazamine, Curr Cancer Drug Targets 9 (2009) 777–788.
- [236] S. Kanamori, Y. Nishimura, Y. Okuno, N. Horii, T. Saga, M. Hiraoka, Induction of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) by hyperthermia and/or an angiogenesis inhibitor, Int J Hyperthermia 15 (1999) 267–278.
- [237] Y. Sawaji, T. Sato, A. Takeuchi, M. Hirata, A. Ito, Anti-angiogenic action of hyperthermia by suppressing gene expression and production of tumour-derived vascular endothelial growth factor in vivo and in vitro, Br J Cancer 86 (2002) 1597–1603.
- [238] E.J. Moon, P. Sonveaux, P.E. Porporato, P. Danhier, B. Gallez, I. Batinic-Haberle, Y.C. Nien, T. Schroeder, M.W. Dewhirst, NADPH oxidase-mediated reactive oxygen species production activates hypoxia-inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) via the ERK pathway after hyperthermia treatment, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107 (2010) 20477–20482.
- [239] A. Sen, M.L. Capitano, J.A. Spernyak, J.T. Schueckler, S. Thomas, A.K. Singh, S.S. Evans, B.L. Hylander, E.A. Repasky, Mild elevation of body temperature reduces tumor interstitial fluid pressure and hypoxia and enhances efficacy of radiother-apy in murine tumor models, Cancer Res 71 (2011) 3872–3880.
- [240] H.F. Lodish, Molecular cell biology, 4th ed. W.H. Freeman, New York, 2000.
- [241] O. Warburg, F. Wind, E. Negelein, The Metabolism of Tumors in the Body, J Gen Physiol 8 (1927) 519–530.
- [242] M.V. Liberti, J.W. Locasale, The Warburg Effect: How Does it Benefit Cancer Cells? Trends Biochem Sci 41 (2016) 211–218.
- [243] D. Hanahan, R.A. Weinberg, Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation, Cell 144 (2011) 646–674.

- [244] M.E. Phelps, S.C. Huang, E.J. Hoffman, C. Selin, L. Sokoloff, D.E. Kuhl, Tomographic measurement of local cerebral glucose metabolic rate in humans with (F-18)2fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose: validation of method. Ann Neurol 6 (1979) 371–388.
- [245] G. Helmlinger, F. Yuan, M. Dellian, R.K. Jain, Interstitial pH and pO2 gradients in solid tumors in vivo: high-resolution measurements reveal a lack of correlation, Nat Med 3 (1997) 177-182.
- [246] L.B. Gladden, Lactate metabolism: a new paradigm for the third millennium, J Physiol 558 (2004) 5–30.
- [247] S. Hui, J.M. Ghergurovich, R.J. Morscher, C. Jang, X. Teng, W. Lu, L.A. Esparza, T. Reya, Z. Le, J. Yanxiang Guo, E. White, J.D. Rabinowitz, Glucose feeds the TCA cycle via circulating lactate, Nature 551 (2017) 115–118.
- [248] B. Faubert, K.Y. Li, L. Cai, C.T. Hensley, J. Kim, L.G. Zacharias, C. Yang, Q.N. Do, S. Doucette, D. Burguete, H. Li, G. Huet, Q. Yuan, T. Wigal, Y. Butt, M. Ni, J. Torrealba, D. Oliver, R.E. Lenkinski, C.R. Malloy, J.W. Wachsmann, J.D. Young, K. Kernstine, R.J. DeBerardinis, Lactate Metabolism in Human Lung Tumors, Cell 171 (2017) 358–371e359.
- [249] R.J. Gillies, T. Ogino, R.G. Shulman, D.C. Ward, 31P nuclear magnetic resonance evidence for the regulation of intracellular pH by Ehrlich ascites tumor cells, J Cell Biol 95 (1982) 24–28.
- [250] R.D. Oberhaensli, D. Hilton-Jones, P.J. Bore, L.J. Hands, R.P. Rampling, G.K. Radda, Biochemical investigation of human tumours in vivo with phosphorus-31 magnetic resonance spectroscopy, Lancet 2 (1986) 8–11.
- [251] K.A. White, B.K. Grillo-Hill, D.L. Barber, Cancer cell behaviors mediated by dysregulated pH dynamics at a glance, J Cell Sci 130 (2017) 663–669.
- [252] R.A. Cardone, V. Casavola, S.J. Reshkin, The role of disturbed pH dynamics and the Na+/H+ exchanger in metastasis, Nat Rev Cancer 5 (2005) 786–795.
- [253] R.J. Gillies, N. Raghunand, G.S. Karczmar, Z.M. Bhujwalla, MRI of the tumor microenvironment, J Magn Reson Imaging 16 (2002) 430–450.
- [254] D.M. Prescott, H.C. Charles, J.M. Poulson, R.L. Page, D.E. Thrall, Z. Vujaskovic, M.W. Dewhirst, The relationship between intracellular and extracellular pH in spontaneous canine tumors, Clin Cancer Res 6 (2000) 2501–2505.
- [255] R.A. Gatenby, E.T. Gawlinski, A.F. Gmitro, B. Kaylor, R.J. Gillies, Acid-mediated tumor invasion: a multidisciplinary study, Cancer Res 66 (2006) 5216–5223.
- [256] V. Estrella, T. Chen, M. Lloyd, J. Wojtkowiak, H.H. Cornnell, A. Ibrahim-Hashim, K. Bailey, Y. Balagurunathan, J.M. Rothberg, B.F. Sloane, J. Johnson, R.A. Gatenby, R.J. Gillies, Acidity generated by the tumor microenvironment drives local invasion, Cancer Res 73 (2013) 1524–1535.
- [257] R.E. Moellering, K.C. Black, C. Krishnamurty, B.K. Baggett, P. Stafford, M. Rain, R.A. Gatenby, R.J. Gillies, Acid treatment of melanoma cells selects for invasive phenotypes, Clin Exp Metastasis 25 (2008) 411–425.
- [258] D. Verduzco, M. Lloyd, L. Xu, A. Ibrahim-Hashim, Y. Balagurunathan, R.A. Gatenby, R.J. Gillies, Intermittent hypoxia selects for genotypes and phenotypes that increase survival, invasion, and therapy resistance, PLoS One 10 (2015), e0120958.
- [259] M. Guarino, B. Rubino, G. Ballabio, The role of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer pathology, Pathology 39 (2007) 305–318.
- [260] A. Suzuki, T. Maeda, Y. Baba, K. Shimamura, Y. Kato, Acidic extracellular pH promotes epithelial mesenchymal transition in Lewis lung carcinoma model, Cancer Cell Int 14 (2014) 129.
- [261] M. Bellone, A. Calcinotto, P. Filipazzi, A. De Milito, S. Fais, L. Rivoltini, The acidity of the tumor microenvironment is a mechanism of immune escape that can be overcome by proton pump inhibitors, Oncoimmunology 2 (2013), e22058.
- [262] G.A. Rabinovich, D. Gabrilovich, E.M. Sotomayor, Immunosuppressive strategies that are mediated by tumor cells, Annu Rev Immunol 25 (2007) 267–296.
- [263] V. Vukovic, I.F. Tannock, Influence of low pH on cytotoxicity of paclitaxel, mitoxantrone and topotecan, Br J Cancer 75 (1997) 1167–1172.
- [264] L. Kleeberger, E.M. Rottinger, Effect of pH and moderate hyperthermia on doxorubicin, epirubicin and aclacinomycin A cytotoxicity for Chinese hamster ovary cells, Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 33 (1993) 144–148.
- [265] B.P. Mahoney, N. Raghunand, B. Baggett, R.J. Gillies, Tumor acidity, ion trapping and chemotherapeutics. I. Acid pH affects the distribution of chemotherapeutic agents in vitro, Biochem Pharmacol, 66 (2003) 1207-1218.
- [266] L.E. Gerweck, S. Vijayappa, S. Kozin, Tumor pH controls the in vivo efficacy of weak acid and base chemotherapeutics, Mol Cancer Ther 5 (2006) 1275–1279.
- [267] O. Thews, B. Gassner, D.K. Kelleher, G. Schwerdt, M. Gekle, Impact of extracellular acidity on the activity of P-glycoprotein and the cytotoxicity of chemotherapeutic drugs, Neoplasia 8 (2006) 143–152.
- [268] D. Waghray, Q. Zhang, Inhibit or Evade Multidrug Resistance P-Glycoprotein in Cancer Treatment, J Med Chem 61 (2018) 5108–5121.
- [269] J.L. Wike-Hooley, J. Haveman, H.S. Reinhold, The relevance of tumour pH to the treatment of malignant disease, Radiother Oncol 2 (1984) 343–366.
- [270] J. Haveman, The influence of pH on the survival after X-irradiation of cultured malignant cells. Effects of carbonylcyanide-3-chlorophenylhydrazone, Int J Radiat Biol Relat Stud Phys Chem Med 37 (1980) 201–205.
- [271] S. Pilon-Thomas, K.N. Kodumudi, A.E. El-Kenawi, S. Russell, A.M. Weber, K. Luddy, M. Damaghi, J.W. Wojtkowiak, J.J. Mule, A. Ibrahim-Hashim, R.J. Gillies, Neutralization of Tumor Acidity Improves Antitumor Responses to Immunotherapy, Cancer Res 76 (2016) 1381–1390.
- [272] I.F. Tannock, D. Rotin, Acid pH in tumors and its potential for therapeutic exploitation, Cancer Res 49 (1989) 4373–4384.
- [273] K.G. Hofer, N.F. Mivechi, Tumor cell sensitivity to hyperthermia as a function of extracellular and intracellular pH, J Natl Cancer Inst 65 (1980) 621–625.
- [274] R.A. Coss, C.W. Storck, C. Daskalakis, D. Berd, M.L. Wahl, Intracellular acidification abrogates the heat shock response and compromises survival of human melanoma cells, Mol Cancer Ther 2 (2003) 383–388.
- [275] G.L. Chu, W.C. Dewey, The role of low intracellular or extracellular pH in sensitization to hyperthermia, Radiat Res 114 (1988) 154–167.

- [276] E. Persi, M. Duran-Frigola, M. Damaghi, W.R. Roush, P. Aloy, J.L. Cleveland, R.J. Gillies, E. Ruppin, Systems analysis of intracellular pH vulnerabilities for cancer therapy, Nat Commun 9 (2018) 2997.
- [277] W.M. Spees, J.L. Evelhoch, P.A. Thompson, D.J. Sloop, J.J. Ackerman, Defining the pHi-hyperthermia sensitivity relationship for the RIF-1 tumor in vivo: a 31P MR spectroscopy study, Radiat Res 164 (2005) 86–99.
- [278] R. Gillies, I. Robey, B. Baggett, D. Roe, N. Raghunand, R. Gatenby, Bicarbonate increases tumor pH and inhibits spontaneous metastases in mice, Cancer Research 68 (2008) 1165.
- [279] I.F. Robey, B.K. Baggett, N.D. Kirkpatrick, D.J. Roe, J. Dosescu, B.F. Sloane, A.I. Hashim, D.L. Morse, N. Raghunand, R.A. Gatenby, R.J. Gillies, Bicarbonate increases tumor pH and inhibits spontaneous metastases, Cancer Res 69 (2009) 2260–2268.
- [280] P. Vaupel, W. Muller-Klieser, J. Otte, R. Manz, F. Kallinowski, Blood flow, tissue oxygenation, and pH-distribution in malignant tumors upon localized hyperthermia, Basic pathophysiological aspects and the role of various thermal doses, Strahlentherapie 159 (1983) 73–81.
- [281] M. von Ardenne, P.G. Reitnauer, Amplification of the selective tumor acidification by local hyperthermia, Naturwissenschaften 65 (1978) 159–160.
- [282] C. Streffer, Metabolic changes during and after hyperthermia, Int J Hyperthermia 1 (1985) 305–319.
- [283] R. Jayasundar, D. Honess, L.D. Hall, N.M. Bleehen, Simultaneous evaluation of the effects of RF hyperthermia on the intra- and extracellular tumor pH, Magn Reson Med 43 (2000) 1–8.
- [284] M. Lora-Michiels, D. Yu, L. Sanders, J.M. Poulson, C. Azuma, B. Case, Z. Vujaskovic, D.E. Thrall, H.C. Charles, M.W. Dewhirst, Extracellular pH and P-31 magnetic resonance spectroscopic variables are related to outcome in canine soft tissue sarcomas treated with thermoradiotherapy, Clin Cancer Res 12 (2006) 5733–5740.
- [285] H. Wiig, O. Tenstad, P.O. Iversen, R. Kalluri, R. Bjerkvig, Interstitial fluid: the overlooked component of the tumor microenvironment? Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair 3 (2010) 12.
- [286] C.H. Heldin, K. Rubin, K. Pietras, A. Ostman, High interstitial fluid pressure an obstacle in cancer therapy, Nat Rev Cancer 4 (2004) 806–813.
- [287] A. Dimou, K.N. Syrigos, M.W. Saif, Overcoming the stromal barrier: technologies to optimize drug delivery in pancreatic cancer, Ther Adv Med Oncol 4 (2012) 271–279.
- [288] H. Park, J.A. Cho, S.K. Kim, J.H. Kim, S.H. Lee, Hyperthermia on mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) can sensitize tumor cells to undergo cell death, Int J Hyperthermia 24 (2008) 638–648.
- [289] E.A. Repasky, S.S. Evans, M.W. Dewhirst, Temperature matters! And why it should matter to tumor immunologists, Cancer Immunol Res 1 (2013) 210–216.
- [290] S.K. Calderwood, J.R. Theriault, J. Gong, How is the immune response affected by hyperthermia and heat shock proteins? Int J Hyperthermia 21 (2005) 713–716.
- [291] E. Repasky, R. Issels, Physiological consequences of hyperthermia: heat, heat shock proteins and the immune response, Int J Hyperthermia 18 (2002) 486–489.
- [292] Scallan J, Huxley VH, K. RJ, Capillary Fluid Exchange: Regulation, Functions, and Pathology., in: Chapter 2, The Interstitium, Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences, San Rafael (CA), 2010.
- [293] O. Tredan, C.M. Galmarini, K. Patel, I.F. Tannock, Drug resistance and the solid tumor microenvironment, J Natl Cancer Inst 99 (2007) 1441–1454.
- [294] H.C. Han, Twisted blood vessels: symptoms, etiology and biomechanical mechanisms, J Vasc Res 49 (2012) 185–197.
- [295] T.G. Simonsen, J.V. Gaustad, M.N. Leinaas, E.K. Rofstad, High interstitial fluid pressure is associated with tumor-line specific vascular abnormalities in human melanoma xenografts, PLoS One 7 (2012), e40006.
- [296] Y. Boucher, R.K. Jain, Microvascular pressure is the principal driving force for interstitial hypertension in solid tumors: implications for vascular collapse, Cancer Res 52 (1992) 5110–5114.
- [297] M.F. Milosevic, A.W. Fyles, R. Wong, M. Pintilie, M.C. Kavanagh, W. Levin, L.A. Manchul, T.J. Keane, R.P. Hill, Interstitial fluid pressure in cervical carcinoma: within tumor heterogeneity, and relation to oxygen tension, Cancer 82 (1998) 2418–2426.
- [298] J.R. Less, M.C. Posner, Y. Boucher, D. Borochovitz, N. Wolmark, R.K. Jain, Interstitial hypertension in human breast and colorectal tumors, Cancer Res 52 (1992) 6371–6374.
- [299] Y. Boucher, J.M. Kirkwood, D. Opacic, M. Desantis, R.K. Jain, Interstitial hypertension in superficial metastatic melanomas in humans, Cancer Res 51 (1991) 6691–6694.
- [300] B.D. Curti, W.J. Urba, W.G. Alvord, J.E. Janik, J.W. Smith 2nd, K. Madara, D.L. Longo, Interstitial pressure of subcutaneous nodules in melanoma and lymphoma patients: changes during treatment, Cancer Res 53 (1993) 2204–2207.
- [301] S.D. Nathanson, R. Shah, K. Rosso, Sentinel lymph node metastases in cancer: causes, detection and their role in disease progression, Semin Cell Dev Biol 38 (2015) 106–116.
- [302] M.I. Harrell, B.M. Iritani, A. Ruddell, Tumor-induced sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis and increased lymph flow precede melanoma metastasis, Am J Pathol 170 (2007) 774–786.
- [303] H. Dafni, T. Israely, Z.M. Bhujwalla, L.E. Benjamin, M. Neeman, Overexpression of vascular endothelial growth factor 165 drives peritumor interstitial convection and induces lymphatic drain: magnetic resonance imaging, confocal microscopy, and histological tracking of triple-labeled albumin, Cancer Res 62 (2002) 6731–6739.
- [304] J.D. Shields, M.E. Fleury, C. Yong, A.A. Tomei, G.J. Randolph, M.A. Swartz, Autologous chemotaxis as a mechanism of tumor cell homing to lymphatics via interstitial flow and autocrine CCR7 signaling, Cancer Cell 11 (2007) 526–538.
- [305] J. Wu, Q. Long, S. Xu, A.R. Padhani, Study of tumor blood perfusion and its variation due to vascular normalization by anti-angiogenic therapy based on 3D angiogenic microvasculature, J Biomech 42 (2009) 712–721.

- [306] T. Hompland, C. Ellingsen, K.M. Ovrebo, E.K. Rofstad, Interstitial fluid pressure and associated lymph node metastasis revealed in tumors by dynamic contrastenhanced MRI, Cancer Res 72 (2012) 4899–4908.
- [307] A.C. Shieh, M.A. Swartz, Regulation of tumor invasion by interstitial fluid flow, Phys Biol 8 (2011), 015012.
- [308] M. Hofmann, M. Guschel, A. Bernd, J. Bereiter-Hahn, R. Kaufmann, C. Tandi, H. Wiig, S. Kippenberger, Lowering of tumor interstitial fluid pressure reduces tumor cell proliferation in a xenograft tumor model, Neoplasia 8 (2006) 89–95.
- [309] B. Keam, S.A. Im, K.H. Lee, S.W. Han, D.Y. Oh, J.H. Kim, S.H. Lee, W. Han, D.W. Kim, T.Y. Kim, I.A. Park, D.Y. Noh, D.S. Heo, Y.J. Bang, Ki-67 can be used for further classification of triple negative breast cancer into two subtypes with different response and prognosis, Breast Cancer Res 13 (2011) R22.
- [310] A.V. Mitra, C. Jameson, Y. Barbachano, N. Sodha, Z. Kote-Jarai, A. Javed, E. Bancroft, A. Fletcher, C. Cooper, S. Peock, Impact, E. Collaborators, D. Easton, R. Eeles, C.S. Foster, Elevated expression of Ki-67 identifies aggressive prostate cancers but does not distinguish BRCA1 or BRCA2 mutation carriers, Oncol Rep, 23 (2010) 299-305.
- [311] J.C. Forster, W.M. Harriss-Phillips, M.J. Douglass, E. Bezak, A review of the development of tumor vasculature and its effects on the tumor microenvironment, Hypoxia (Auckl) 5 (2017) 21–32.
- [312] T. Stylianopoulos, J.D. Martin, M. Snuderl, F. Mpekris, S.R. Jain, R.K. Jain, Coevolution of solid stress and interstitial fluid pressure in tumors during progression: implications for vascular collapse, Cancer Res 73 (2013) 3833–3841.
- [313] S.S. Nathan, A.G. Huvos, J.E. Casas-Ganem, R. Yang, I. Linkov, R. Sowers, G.R. DiResta, R. Gorlick, J.H. Healey, Tumor interstitial fluid pressure may regulate angiogenic factors in osteosarcoma, J Orthop Res 26 (2008) 1520–1525.
- [314] L. Eikenes, O.S. Bruland, C. Brekken, L. Davies Cde, Collagenase increases the transcapillary pressure gradient and improves the uptake and distribution of monoclonal antibodies in human osteosarcoma xenografts, Cancer Res 64 (2004) 4768–4773.
- [315] O.S. Bruland, O. Fodstad, A.E. Stenwig, A. Pihl, Expression and characteristics of a novel human osteosarcoma-associated cell surface antigen, Cancer Res 48 (1988) 5302–5309.
- [316] A. Hauge, C.S. Wegner, J.V. Gaustad, T.G. Simonsen, L.M.K. Andersen, E.K. Rofstad, Diffusion-weighted MRI-derived ADC values reflect collagen I content in PDX models of uterine cervical cancer, Oncotarget 8 (2017) 105682–105691.
- [317] P.A. Netti, L.M. Hamberg, J.W. Babich, D. Kierstead, W. Graham, G.J. Hunter, G.L. Wolf, A. Fischman, Y. Boucher, R.K. Jain, Enhancement of fluid filtration across tumor vessels: implication for delivery of macromolecules, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96 (1999) 3137–3142.
- [318] Y. Fan, W. Du, B. He, F. Fu, L. Yuan, H. Wu, W. Dai, H. Zhang, X. Wang, J. Wang, X. Zhang, Q. Zhang, The reduction of tumor interstitial fluid pressure by liposomal imatinib and its effect on combination therapy with liposomal doxorubicin, Biomaterials 34 (2013) 2277–2288.
- [319] J. Andrae, R. Gallini, C. Betsholtz, Role of platelet-derived growth factors in physiology and medicine, Genes Dev 22 (2008) 1276–1312.
- [320] K. Pietras, A. Ostman, M. Sjoquist, E. Buchdunger, R.K. Reed, C.H. Heldin, K. Rubin, Inhibition of platelet-derived growth factor receptors reduces interstitial hypertension and increases transcapillary transport in tumors, Cancer Res 61 (2001) 2929–2934.
- [321] K. Pietras, K. Rubin, T. Sjoblom, E. Buchdunger, M. Sjoquist, C.H. Heldin, A. Ostman, Inhibition of PDGF receptor signaling in tumor stroma enhances antitumor effect of chemotherapy, Cancer Res 62 (2002) 5476–5484.
- [322] F. Dosio, P. Brusa, P. Crosasso, S. Arpicco, L. Cattel, Preparation, characterization and properties in vitro and in vivo of a paclitaxel–albumin conjugate, Journal of Controlled Release 47 (1997) 293–304.
- [323] K. Paal, J. Muller, L. Hegedus, High affinity binding of paclitaxel to human serum albumin, Eur J Biochem 268 (2001) 2187–2191.
- [324] A.V. Salnikov, N.E. Heldin, L.B. Stuhr, H. Wiig, H. Gerber, R.K. Reed, K. Rubin, Inhibition of carcinoma cell-derived VEGF reduces inflammatory characteristics in xenograft carcinoma, Int J Cancer 119 (2006) 2795–2802.
- [325] A. Klosowska-Wardega, Y. Hasumi, M. Burmakin, A. Ahgren, L. Stuhr, I. Moen, R.K. Reed, K. Rubin, C. Hellberg, C.H. Heldin, Combined anti-angiogenic therapy targeting PDGF and VEGF receptors lowers the interstitial fluid pressure in a murine experimental carcinoma, PLoS One 4 (2009), e8149.
- [326] T.D. Tailor, G. Hanna, P.S. Yarmolenko, M.R. Dreher, A.S. Betof, A.B. Nixon, I. Spasojevic, M.W. Dewhirst, Effect of pazopanib on tumor microenvironment and liposome delivery, Mol Cancer Ther 9 (2010) 1798–1808.
- [327] G. Multhoff, P. Vaupel, Radiation-induced changes in microcirculation and interstitial fluid pressure affecting the delivery of macromolecules and nanotherapeutics to tumors, Front Oncol 2 (2012) 165.
- [328] M. Milosevic, A. Fyles, R. Hill, Interstitial fluid pressure in cervical cancer: guide to targeted therapy, Am J Clin Oncol 24 (2001) 516–521.
- [329] S.G. Yeo, J.S. Kim, M.J. Cho, K.H. Kim, J.S. Kim, Interstitial fluid pressure as a prognostic factor in cervical cancer following radiation therapy, Clin Cancer Res 15 (2009) 6201–6207.
- [330] E.K. Rofstad, J.V. Gaustad, K.G. Brurberg, B. Mathiesen, K. Galappathi, T.G. Simonsen, Radiocurability is associated with interstitial fluid pressure in human tumor xenografts, Neoplasia 11 (2009) 1243–1251.
- [331] E.K. Rofstad, E.B. Ruud, B. Mathiesen, K. Galappathi, Associations between radiocurability and interstitial fluid pressure in human tumor xenografts without hypoxic tissue, Clin Cancer Res 16 (2010) 936–945.
- [332] A.G. Taghian, R. Abi-Raad, S.I. Assaad, A. Casty, M. Ancukiewicz, E. Yeh, P. Molokhia, K. Attia, T. Sullivan, I. Kuter, Y. Boucher, S.N. Powell, Paclitaxel decreases the interstitial fluid pressure and improves oxygenation in breast cancers in patients treated with neoadjuvant chemotherapy: clinical implications, J Clin Oncol 23 (2005) 1951–1961.

- [333] G. Griffon-Etienne, Y. Boucher, C. Brekken, H.D. Suit, R.K. Jain, Taxane-induced apoptosis decompresses blood vessels and lowers interstitial fluid pressure in solid tumors: clinical implications, Cancer Res 59 (1999) 3776–3782.
- [334] J.V. Skliarenko, S.J. Lunt, M.L. Gordon, A. Vitkin, M. Milosevic, R.P. Hill, Effects of the vascular disrupting agent ZD6126 on interstitial fluid pressure and cell survival in tumors, Cancer Res 66 (2006) 2074–2080.
- [335] B. Podobnik, G. Sersa, D. Miklavcic, Effect of hydralazine on interstitial fluid pressure in experimental tumours and in normal tissue, In Vivo 15 (2001) 417–424.
- [336] C.A. Znati, M. Rosenstein, Y. Boucher, M.W. Epperly, W.D. Bloomer, R.K. Jain, Effect of radiation on interstitial fluid pressure and oxygenation in a human tumor xenograft, Cancer Res 56 (1996) 964–968.
- [337] S. Stapleton, M. Dunne, M. Milosevic, C.W. Tran, M.J. Gold, A. Vedadi, T.D. McKee, P.S. Ohashi, C. Allen, D.A. Jaffray, Radiation and Heat Improve the Delivery and Efficacy of Nanotherapeutics by Modulating Intratumoral Fluid Dynamics, ACS Nano 12 (2018) 7583–7600.
- [338] H.D. Roh, Y. Boucher, S. Kalnicki, R. Buchsbaum, W.D. Bloomer, R.K. Jain, Interstitial hypertension in carcinoma of uterine cervix in patients: possible correlation with tumor oxygenation and radiation response, Cancer Res 51 (1991) 6695–6698.
- [339] M. Leunig, A.E. Goetz, M. Dellian, G. Zetterer, F. Gamarra, R.K. Jain, K. Messmer, Interstitial fluid pressure in solid tumors following hyperthermia: possible correlation with therapeutic response, Cancer Res 52 (1992) 487–490.
- [340] Y. Li, L. An, J. Lin, Q. Tian, S. Yang, Smart nanomedicine agents for cancer, triggered by pH, glutathione, H2O2, or H2S, Int J Nanomedicine 14 (2019) 5729–5749.
- [341] T.L. Andresen, D.H. Thompson, T. Kaasgaard, Enzyme-triggered nanomedicine: drug release strategies in cancer therapy, Mol Membr Biol 27 (2010) 353–363.
- [342] M. Huo, Y. Chen, J. Shi, Triggered-release drug delivery nanosystems for cancer therapy by intravenous injection: where are we now? Expert Opin Drug Deliv 13 (2016) 1195–1198.
- [343] C. van Ballegooie, A. Man, M. Win, D.T. Yapp, Spatially Specific Liposomal Cancer Therapy Triggered by Clinical External Sources of Energy, Pharmaceutics, 11, 2019.
- [344] N. D, Bringing Research to Clinical Application: Lessons from Thermodox A Thermal Sensitive Liposome for Treatment of Cancer, in: A. HILLERY, S. J, K. PARK (Eds.) Drug Delivery and Targeting: Fundamentals, Applications and Future Directions, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2016, pp. 523-583.
- [345] B. Kneidl, M. Peller, G. Winter, L.H. Lindner, M. Hossann, Thermosensitive liposomal drug delivery systems: state of the art review, Int J Nanomedicine 9 (2014) 4387–4398.
- [346] A. Motamarry, D. Asemani, D. Haemmerich, Thermosensitive Liposomes, in: A. Catala (Ed.) Liposomes, IntechOpen, Available from: https://www.intechopen. com/books/liposomes/thermosensitive-liposomes, October 25th 2017.
- [347] S. Sarkar, N. Levi-Polyachenko, Conjugated polymer nano-systems for hyperthermia, imaging and drug delivery, Adv Drug Deliv Rev (2020)(In Press).
- [348] A.L.B. Seynhaeve, M. Amin, D. Haemmerich, G.C. van Rhoon, T.L.M. Ten Hagen, Hyperthermia and smart drug delivery systems for solid tumor therapy, Adv Drug Deliv Rev (2020)(In Press).
- [349] M.M. Paulides, H. Dobsicek Trefna, S. Curto, D.B. Rodrigues, Recent technological advancements in radiofrequency- andmicrowave-mediated hyperthermia for enhancing drug delivery, Adv Drug Deliv Rev (2020)(In Press).
- [350] M.A. Santos, D.E. Goertz, K. Hynynen, Unpublished, Adv Drug Deliv Rev (2020).
- [351] D. Papahadjopoulos, K. Jacobson, S. Nir, T. Isac, Phase transitions in phospholipid vesicles. Fluorescence polarization and permeability measurements concerning the effect of temperature and cholesterol, Biochim Biophys Acta 311 (1973) 330–348.
- [352] V.F. Antonov, V.V. Petrov, A.A. Molnar, D.A. Predvoditelev, A.S. Ivanov, The appearance of single-ion channels in unmodified lipid bilayer membranes at the phase transition temperature, Nature 283 (1980) 585–586.
- [353] R.L. Magin, M.R. Niesman, Temperature-dependent permeability of large unilamellar liposomes, Chem Phys Lipids 34 (1984) 245–256.
- [354] M. Wehbe, A. Malhotra, M. Anantha, J. Roosendaal, A.W.Y. Leung, D. Plackett, K. Edwards, R. Gilabert-Oriol, M.B. Bally, A simple passive equilibration method for loading carboplatin into pre-formed liposomes incubated with ethanol as a temperature dependent permeability enhancer, J Control Release 252 (2017) 50–61.
- [355] L. Salvioni, M.A. Rizzuto, J.A. Bertolini, L. Pandolfi, M. Colombo, D. Prosperi, Thirty Years of Cancer Nanomedicine: Success, Frustration, and Hope, Cancers (Basel), 11 2019
- [356] G. Gregoriadis, Drug entrapment in liposomes, FEBS Lett 36 (1973) 292-296.
- [357] G. Gregoriadis, E.J. Wills, C.P. Swain, A.S. Tavill, Drug-carrier potential of liposomes in cancer chemotherapy, Lancet 1 (1974) 1313–1316.
- [358] M.B. Yatvin, J.N. Weinstein, W.H. Dennis, R. Blumenthal, Design of liposomes for enhanced local release of drugs by hyperthermia, Science 202 (1978) 1290–1293.
- [359] T.M. Allen, C. Hansen, F. Martin, C. Redemann, A. Yau-Young, Liposomes containing synthetic lipid derivatives of poly(ethylene glycol) show prolonged circulation half-lives in vivo, Biochim Biophys Acta 1066 (1991) 29–36.
- [360] D. Papahadjopoulos, T.M. Allen, A. Gabizon, E. Mayhew, K. Matthay, S.K. Huang, K.D. Lee, M.C. Woodle, D.D. Lasic, C. Redemann, et al., Sterically stabilized liposomes: improvements in pharmacokinetics and antitumor therapeutic efficacy, Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88 (1991) 11460–11464.
- [361] D. Needham, G. Anyarambhatla, G. Kong, M.W. Dewhirst, A new temperaturesensitive liposome for use with mild hyperthermia: characterization and testing in a human tumor xenograft model, Cancer Res 60 (2000) 1197–1201.
- [362] D. Needham, J.Y. Park, A.M. Wright, J. Tong, Materials characterization of the low temperature sensitive liposome (LTSL): effects of the lipid composition (lysolipid and DSPE-PEG2000) on the thermal transition and release of doxorubicin, Faraday Discuss 161 (2013) 515–534discussion 563-589.
- [363] M. Hossann, M. Wiggenhorn, A. Schwerdt, K. Wachholz, N. Teichert, H. Eibl, R.D. Issels, L.H. Lindner, In vitro stability and content release properties of

phosphatidylglyceroglycerol containing thermosensitive liposomes, Biochim Biophys Acta 1768 (2007) 2491–2499.

- [364] L. Ho, M. Bokharaei, S.D. Li, Current update of a thermosensitive liposomes composed of DPPC and Brij78, J Drug Target 26 (2018) 407–419.
- [365] Y.N. Dou, J. Zheng, W.D. Foltz, R. Weersink, N. Chaudary, D.A. Jaffray, C. Allen, Heatactivated thermosensitive liposomal cisplatin (HTLC) results in effective growth delay of cervical carcinoma in mice, J Control Release 178 (2014) 69–78.
- [366] S. Limmer, J. Hahn, R. Schmidt, K. Wachholz, A. Zengerle, K. Lechner, H. Eibl, R.D. Issels, M. Hossann, L.H. Lindner, Gemcitabine treatment of rat soft tissue sarcoma with phosphatidyldiglycerol-based thermosensitive liposomes, Pharm Res 31 (2014) 2276–2286.
- [367] C. Al Sabbagh, N. Tsapis, A. Novell, P. Calleja-Gonzalez, J.M. Escoffre, A. Bouakaz, H. Chacun, S. Denis, J. Vergnaud, C. Gueutin, E. Fattal, Formulation and pharmacokinetics of thermosensitive stealth(R) liposomes encapsulating 5-Fluorouracil, Pharm Res 32 (2015) 1585–1603.
- [368] W.J. Lokerse, M. Bolkestein, T.L. Ten Hagen, M. de Jong, A.M. Eggermont, H. Grull, G.A. Koning, Investigation of Particle Accumulation, Chemosensitivity and Thermosensitivity for Effective Solid Tumor Therapy Using Thermosensitive Liposomes and Hyperthermia, Theranostics 6 (2016) 1717–1731.
- [369] M.A. Santos, S.K. Wu, Z. Li, D.E. Goertz, K. Hynynen, Microbubble-assisted MRIguided focused ultrasound for hyperthermia at reduced power levels, Int J Hyperthermia 35 (2018) 599–611.
- [370] A. Motamarry, A.H. Negussie, C. Rossmann, J. Small, A.M. Wolfe, B.J. Wood, D. Haemmerich, Real-time fluorescence imaging for visualization and drug uptake prediction during drug delivery by thermosensitive liposomes, Int J Hyperthermia 36 (2019) 817–826.
- [371] C. Burke, M.R. Dreher, A.H. Negussie, A.S. Mikhail, P. Yarmolenko, A. Patel, B. Skilskyj, B.J. Wood, D. Haemmerich, Drug release kinetics of temperature sensitive liposomes measured at high-temporal resolution with a millifluidic device, Int J Hyperthermia 34 (2018) 786–794.
- [372] A.A. Manzoor, L.H. Lindner, C.D. Landon, J.Y. Park, A.J. Simnick, M.R. Dreher, S. Das, G. Hanna, W. Park, A. Chilkoti, G.A. Koning, T.L. ten Hagen, D. Needham, M.W. Dewhirst, Overcoming limitations in nanoparticle drug delivery: triggered, intravascular release to improve drug penetration into tumors, Cancer Res 72 (2012) 5566–5575.
- [373] M. Dunne, B. Epp-Ducharme, A.M. Sofias, M. Regenold, D.N. Dubins, C. Allen, Heatactivated drug delivery increases tumor accumulation of synergistic chemotherapies, J Control Release 308 (2019) 197–208.
- [374] G. Kong, G. Anyarambhatla, W.P. Petros, R.D. Braun, O.M. Colvin, D. Needham, M.W. Dewhirst, Efficacy of liposomes and hyperthermia in a human tumor xenograft model: importance of triggered drug release, Cancer Res 60 (2000) 6950–6957.
- [375] M. Dunne, Y.N. Dou, D.M. Drake, T. Spence, S.M.L. Gontijo, P.G. Wells, C. Allen, Hyperthermia-mediated drug delivery induces biological effects at the tumor and molecular levels that improve cisplatin efficacy in triple negative breast cancer, J Control Release 282 (2018) 35–45.
- [376] Y. Mi, Z. Shao, J. Vang, O. Kaidar-Person, A.Z. Wang, Application of nanotechnology to cancer radiotherapy, Cancer Nanotechnol 7 (2016) 11.
- [377] R. Nallamothu, G.C. Wood, M.F. Kiani, B.M. Moore, F.P. Horton, L.A. Thoma, A targeted liposome delivery system for combretastatin A4: formulation optimization through drug loading and in vitro release studies, PDA J Pharm Sci Technol 60 (2006) 144–155.
- [378] N. Sadeghi, R.J. Kok, C. Bos, M. Zandvliet, W.J.C. Geerts, G. Storm, C.T.W. Moonen, T. Lammers, R. Deckers, Hyperthermia-triggered release of hypoxic cell radiosensitizers from temperature-sensitive liposomes improves radiotherapy efficacy in vitro, Nanotechnology 30 (2019) 264001.
- [379] H.C. Besse, C. Bos, M. Zandvliet, K. van der Wurff-Jacobs, C.T.W. Moonen, R. Deckers, Triggered radiosensitizer delivery using thermosensitive liposomes and hyperthermia improves efficacy of radiotherapy: An in vitro proof of concept study, PLoS One 13 (2018), e0204063.
- [380] S.Y. Wu, H.Y. Chou, C.H. Yuh, S.L. Mekuria, Y.C. Kao, H.C. Tsai, Radiation-Sensitive Dendrimer-Based Drug Delivery System, Adv Sci (Weinh) 5 (2018) 1700339.
- [381] W. Deng, W. Chen, S. Clement, A. Guller, Z. Zhao, A. Engel, E.M. Goldys, Controlled gene and drug release from a liposomal delivery platform triggered by X-ray radiation, Nat Commun 9 (2018) 2713.
- [382] R. Misra, K. Sarkar, J. Lee, V.J. Pizzuti, D.S. Lee, M.P. Currie, S.E. Torregrosa-Allen, D.E. Long, G.A. Durm, M.P. Langer, B.D. Elzey, Y.Y. Won, Radioluminescent nanoparticles for radiation-controlled release of drugs, J Control Release 303 (2019) 237–252.
- [383] M.B. Yatvin, W. Kreutz, B.A. Horwitz, M. Shinitzky, pH-sensitive liposomes: possible clinical implications, Science 210 (1980) 1253–1255.
- [384] V.P. Torchilin, F. Zhou, L. Huang, pH-Sensitive Liposomes, Journal of Liposome Research 3 (1993) 201–255.
- [385] M. Dominska, D.M. Dykxhoorn, Breaking down the barriers: siRNA delivery and endosome escape, J Cell Sci 123 (2010) 1183–1189.
- [386] T.D. Chugh, E. Babaa, G. Burns, H. Shuhaiber, Effect of sublethal concentration of antibiotics on the adherence of Staphylococcus epidermidis to eukaryotic cells, Chemotherapy 35 (1989) 113–118.
- [387] A. Mullard, FDA approves landmark RNAi drug, Nat Rev Drug Discov 17 (2018) 613.
- [388] M.C. Paoloni, C. Khanna, Comparative oncology today, Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract 37 (2007) 1023–1032v.
- [389] A.K. LeBlanc, C.N. Mazcko, C. Khanna, Defining the Value of a Comparative Approach to Cancer Drug Development, Clin Cancer Res 22 (2016) 2133–2138.
- [390] M.L. Hauck, S.M. LaRue, W.P. Petros, J.M. Poulson, D. Yu, I. Spasojevic, A.F. Pruitt, A. Klein, B. Case, D.E. Thrall, D. Needham, M.W. Dewhirst, Phase I trial of doxorubicincontaining low temperature sensitive liposomes in spontaneous canine tumors, Clin Cancer Res 12 (2006) 4004–4010.

- [391] M.L. Matteucci, G. Anyarambhatla, G. Rosner, C. Azuma, P.E. Fisher, M.W. Dewhirst, D. Needham, D.E. Thrall, Hyperthermia increases accumulation of technetium-99m-labeled liposomes in feline sarcomas, Clin Cancer Res 6 (2000) 3748–3755.
- [392] N. Frazier, H. Ghandehari, Hyperthermia approaches for enhanced delivery of nanomedicines to solid tumors, Biotechnol Bioeng 112 (2015) 1967–1983.
 [393] S.N. Ettinger, C.C. Poellmann, N.A. Wisniewski, A.A. Gaskin, J.S. Shoemaker, J.M.
- Pour John M. Dewhirst, B. Klitzman, Urea as a recovery marker for quantitative assessment of tumor interstitial solutes with microdialysis, Cancer Res 61 (2001) 7964–7970.
- [394] N. Farr, Y.N. Wang, S. D'Andrea, F. Starr, A. Partanen, K.M. Gravelle, J.S. McCune, L.J. Risler, S.G. Whang, A. Chang, S.R. Hingorani, D. Lee, J.H. Hwang, Hyperthermiaenhanced targeted drug delivery using magnetic resonance-guided focussed ultrasound: a pre-clinical study in a genetic model of pancreatic cancer, Int J Hyperthermia 34 (2018) 284–291.
- [395] S. Jenkins, K. Barnes, G. Shafirstein, R. Griffin, Mild hyperthermia enhances drug accumulation and photodynamic therapy efficacy, SPIE, 2019.
- [396] M.M. Kleiter, D. Yu, L.A. Mohammadian, N. Niehaus, I. Spasojevic, L. Sanders, B.L. Viglianti, P.S. Yarmolenko, M. Hauck, N.A. Petry, T.Z. Wong, M.W. Dewhirst, D.E. Thrall, A tracer dose of technetium-99m-labeled liposomes can estimate the effect of hyperthermia on intratumoral doxil extravasation, Clin Cancer Res 12 (2006) 6800–6807.
- [397] D.A. McRae, M.A. Esrick, S.C. Mueller, Changes in the noninvasive, in vivo electrical impedance of three xenografts during the necrotic cell-response sequence, Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 43 (1999) 849–857.
- [398] A. Krol, M.W. Dewhirst, F. Yuan, Effects of cell damage and glycosaminoglycan degradation on available extravascular space of different dextrans in a rat fibrosarcoma, Int J Hyperthermia 19 (2003) 154–164.
- [399] G. Kong, R.D. Braun, M.W. Dewhirst, Characterization of the effect of hyperthermia on nanoparticle extravasation from tumor vasculature, Cancer Res 61 (2001) 3027–3032.
- [400] N. Frazier, A. Payne, J. de Bever, C. Dillon, A. Panda, N. Subrahmanyam, H. Ghandehari, High intensity focused ultrasound hyperthermia for enhanced macromolecular delivery, J Control Release 241 (2016) 186–193.
- [401] J. Kopecek, P. Kopeckova, HPMA copolymers: origins, early developments, present, and future, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 62 (2010) 122–149.
- [402] K. Ulbrich, V. Subr, Structural and chemical aspects of HPMA copolymers as drug carriers, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 62 (2010) 150–166.
- [403] A.J. Gormley, N. Larson, A. Banisadr, R. Robinson, N. Frazier, A. Ray, H. Ghandehari, Plasmonic photothermal therapy increases the tumor mass penetration of HPMA copolymers, J Control Release 166 (2013) 130–138.
- [404] K. Iga, N. Hamaguchi, Y. Igari, Y. Ogawa, K. Gotoh, K. Ootsu, H. Toguchi, T. Shimamoto, Enhanced antitumor activity in mice after administration of thermosensitive liposome encapsulating cisplatin with hyperthermia, J Pharmacol Exp Ther 257 (1991) 1203–1207.
- [405] Y.Y. Zou, M. Ueno, M. Yamagishi, I. Horikoshi, I. Yamashita, K. Tazawa, X.Q. Gu, Targeting behavior of hepatic artery injected temperature sensitive liposomal adriamycin on tumor-bearing rats, Sel Cancer Ther 6 (1990) 119–127.
- [406] N. Hijnen, S. Langereis, H. Grull, Magnetic resonance guided high-intensity focused ultrasound for image-guided temperature-induced drug delivery, Adv Drug Deliv Rev 72 (2014) 65–81.

- [407] Q. Chen, S. Tong, M.W. Dewhirst, F. Yuan, Targeting tumor microvessels using doxorubicin encapsulated in a novel thermosensitive liposome, Mol Cancer Ther 3 (2004) 1311–1317.
- [408] I. Ben Aharon, H. Bar Joseph, M. Tzabari, B. Shenkman, N. Farzam, M. Levi, R. Shalgi, S.M. Stemmer, N. Savion, Doxorubicin-induced vascular toxicity-targeting potential pathways may reduce procoagulant activity, PLoS One 8 (2013), e75157.
- [409] S.N. Ekdawi, J.M. Stewart, M. Dunne, S. Stapleton, N. Mitsakakis, Y.N. Dou, D.A. Jaffray, C. Allen, Spatial and temporal mapping of heterogeneity in liposome uptake and microvascular distribution in an orthotopic tumor xenograft model, J Control Release 207 (2015) 101–111.
- [410] J.H. Baker, K.E. Lindquist, L.A. Huxham, A.H. Kyle, J.T. Sy, A.I. Minchinton, Direct visualization of heterogeneous extravascular distribution of trastuzumab in human epidermal growth factor receptor type 2 overexpressing xenografts, Clin Cancer Res 14 (2008) 2171–2179.
- [411] A.J. Primeau, A. Rendon, D. Hedley, L. Lilge, I.F. Tannock, The distribution of the anticancer drug Doxorubicin in relation to blood vessels in solid tumors, Clin Cancer Res 11 (2005) 8782–8788.
- [412] Y. Xu, J. Choi, B. Hylander, A. Sen, S.S. Evans, W.G. Kraybill, E.A. Repasky, Feverrange whole body hyperthermia increases the number of perfused tumor blood vessels and therapeutic efficacy of liposomally encapsulated doxorubicin, Int J Hyperthermia 23 (2007) 513–527.
- [413] P. Dogra, J.D. Butner, Y.L. Chuang, S. Caserta, S. Goel, C.J. Brinker, V. Cristini, Z. Wang, Mathematical modeling in cancer nanomedicine: a review, Biomed Microdevices 21 (2019) 40.
- [414] M. Nabil, P. Decuzzi, P. Zunino, Modelling mass and heat transfer in nano-based cancer hyperthermia, R Soc Open Sci 2 (2015) 150447.
- [415] J. Zheng, D. Jaffray, C. Allen, Quantitative CT imaging of the spatial and temporal distribution of liposomes in a rabbit tumor model, Mol Pharm 6 (2009) 571–580.
- [416] A. Ranjan, G.C. Jacobs, D.L. Woods, A.H. Negussie, A. Partanen, P.S. Yarmolenko, C.E. Gacchina, K.V. Sharma, V. Frenkel, B.J. Wood, M.R. Dreher, Image-guided drug delivery with magnetic resonance guided high intensity focused ultrasound and temperature sensitive liposomes in a rabbit Vx2 tumor model, J Control Release 158 (2012) 487–494.
- [417] R.M. Staruch, M. Ganguly, I.F. Tannock, K. Hynynen, R. Chopra, Enhanced drug delivery in rabbit VX2 tumours using thermosensitive liposomes and MRI-controlled focused ultrasound hyperthermia, Int J Hyperthermia 28 (2012) 776–787.
- [418] M. de Smet, N.M. Hijnen, S. Langereis, A. Elevelt, E. Heijman, L. Dubois, P. Lambin, H. Grull, Magnetic resonance guided high-intensity focused ultrasound mediated hyperthermia improves the intratumoral distribution of temperature-sensitive liposomal doxorubicin, Invest Radiol 48 (2013) 395–405.
- [419] J.R. Less, T.C. Skalak, E.M. Sevick, R.K. Jain, Microvascular architecture in a mammary carcinoma: branching patterns and vessel dimensions, Cancer Res 51 (1991) 265–273.
- [420] S.H. Jang, M.G. Wientjes, J.L. Au, Determinants of paclitaxel uptake, accumulation and retention in solid tumors, Invest New Drugs 19 (2001) 113–123.
- [421] T. Tippayamontri, R. Kotb, B. Paquette, L. Sanche, Efficacy of cisplatin and Lipoplatin in combined treatment with radiation of a colorectal tumor in nude mouse, Anticancer Res 33 (2013) 3005–3014.
- [422] J.C. Peeken, P. Vaupel, S.E. Combs, Integrating Hyperthermia into Modern Radiation Oncology: What Evidence Is Necessary? Front Oncol 7 (2017) 132.